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PART I
ITEM 1. BUSINESS
Overview

ADTRAN, Inc. designs, manufactures, markets andiises network access solutions for communicatioatvarks. Oul
solutions are widely deployed by providers of cominations services (serviced by our Carrier Netwdhkvision), and sma
and midsized businesses (SMBs) and enterprises (servicedibEnterprise Networks Division), and enablecegidata, vide:
and Internet communications across wireline anelhess networks. Many of these solutions are cuyrémtuse by every maijc
United States and many global service providersyedsas by many public, private and governmentghaizations worldwide.

We were incorporated under the laws of Delawar®avember 1985, and commenced operations in Jaie®§. We ar
headquartered in Cummings Research Park in Hulgswilabama. The mailing address at our headquaiseP01 Explore
Boulevard, Huntsville, Alabama, 35806. The teleghaomber at that location is (256) 963-8000.

Products and Service

We maintain two operating divisions based on owdpct and service offerings: the Carrier Networkisid€bon and the
Enterprise Networks Division. These divisions sewe distinct markets and support sales globalperating as two reportak
segments. In 2009, sales of Carrier Networks prisdaccounted for 76.7% of total revenue, while safeEnterprise Network
products accounted for 23.3%. Sales to countri¢sidriof the United States are included in theggeagte divisional figure:
but when accounted for separately, comprise 5.7%taf revenue. For more financial information abthese divisions an
geographic areas, see Note 9 to the Consolidateth€ial Statements included in this report.

Our Carrier Networks Division provides productsdisy service providers to deliver voice, data aittke services from the
equipment, whether it is located in a central effiar remote terminal location, to a custoraepremises. Our Enterpri
Networks Division provides products used by enisgicustomers to construct voice, data and videwarks within the
customers site or among distributed sites. Our combinediypecb portfolio for both divisions consists of apgimately 1,70C
high-speed network access and communication devicégtinservice provider and enterprise networks,ghpeeducts are use
primarily, but not exclusively, in the “last milegr local loop, of a service providsrhetwork, and in local area networks ¢
customer’s premises. The last mile is the segménihe network that connects end-user subscribes service provides
closest facility by either copper or fiber. Locata networks include connecting routers, switch€3s, printers, phones, fax
and other communications devices within a giverdding or campus. Our products typically connect ®vals of a circuit an
serve to transmit, route, and/or switch the dat@ce; and/or video traffic traveling across thatcgit. The bandwidtl
requirements of the circuit, along with the typdexfhnology being used, determine the type of enaig needed.

Both of our divisions are positioned with produgtdaservice offerings that compete in many segmeifitshe globa
telecommunications industry and, specifically, lie areas of Ethernet and Internet Protocol (IPgdbamtworks. As networl
migrate to IP-based architectures to deliver aflizeithigher bandwidth services, ADTRARhas strengthened its technolog
in its primary growth areas: Broadband Access, @pt#ccess and Internetworking.

For a discussion of risks associated with our prtdusee‘Risk Factors —We must continue to update and improve
products and develop new products in order to cdmpd to keep pace with improvements in telecorivations
technology”, and “Risk Factors — If our products dot interoperate with our customersetworks, installations may |
delayed or cancelled, which could harm our busihid@adtem 1A of this report.

Network Access Infrastructure for Advanced Servic

Networks are continuing to undergo a fundamentét $fom voice-centric technologies to datentric technologies, ar
converged networks are being implemented to addrefs voice and data requirements in the businessank. When voic
was the dominant type of traffic in the networkiwerks were engineered to carry voice, integratiata into the architecture
necessary. Today, data is becoming the dominafficttgpe, and networks are evolving to increasadwidth and transpo
data, voice and video in an integrated architectdeenetworks migrate toward integrated communicetiand entertainme
services, carriers and businesses alike are ti@msig their networks to packésed technologies, such as Ethernet and IF
are well positioned to support both existing sexgiand newer advanced services.

We develop, market, and support higfeed network access solutions for use acrosssymchronous Transfer Mode (ATN
and Time Division Multiplexed (TDM) architectures both wireline and wireless network applicatioBsir solutions are use
to deploy new broadband networks and to upgradees|ocestablished networks using copper, fiber, wirdless technologie
both in the United States and abroad.
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Our three major product categories are Carrieredyst Business Networking and Loop Access.

Carrier Systems products are used by communications service provitteprovide last mile access in support of datéce
and video services to consumers and enterprises. Gdrrier Systems category includes our broadbamesa produc
comprised of Total Acces55000 multi-service access and aggregation platfimoducts, Total Access 1100/1200 Series Fiber-
To-TheNode (FTTN) products, and Digital Subscriber LinecAss Multiplexer (DSLAM) products. Our broadbarutes
products are used by service providers to delivgi-bpeed Internet access, Voice over Internet ProidaP), IP Televisio
(IPTV), and/or Ethernet services from the centffite or remote terminal locations to customer pis&s. The Carrier Syste
category also includes our optical access proditisse products consist of optical access multgteincluding our family «
OPTI products. Optical access products are useatkliver higher bandwidth services, or to aggredatge numbers of lo
bandwidth services for transportation across fitygtic infrastructure. Total Access 1500 product3 8oncentrator produc
M13 multiplexer products, and mobile backhaul picidiare also included in the Carrier Systems priocategory.

Business Networkingproducts provide access to telecommunication sesvi@cilitating the delivery of converged servieegs
Unified Communications to the SMB and Enterpriserkats. The Business Networking category includesriretworking
products, Optical Network Terminals (ONTSs), ancefgrated Access Devices (IADs). Internetworking picid consist of ol
Total Access IP Business Gateways and NetVantauptdéhes. NetVanta products include mudérvice routers, manag
Ethernet switches, IP Private Branch Exchange (RB®jlucts, IP phone products, Unified Communicatisolutions, ar
Carrier Ethernet Network Terminating Equipment.

Loop Accessproducts are used by carrier and enterprise custofoe access to coppbased telecommunications netwo
The Loop Access category includes products suctDagtal Data Service (DDS) and Integrated Servigagital Network
(Total Reach) products, High bitte Digital Subscriber Line (HDSL) products indlugl Total Access 3000 HDSL and Ti
Division Multiplexed-Symmetrical HDSL (TDMBHDSL) products, T1/E1/T3, Channel Service UnitséD@&ervice Units, ar
TRACER fixed wireless products.

In addition, we identify suloategories of product revenues, which we divide itowth products, representing our primn
growth areas, and traditional products. Our groprbducts consist of Broadband Access and Opticakse products (includ
in Carrier Systems) and Internetworking produatsl(ided in Business Networking) and our traditiomaducts include HDS
products (included in Loop Access) and other prtsluc

Carrier Networks

Carrier services continue to evolve to next gemamatetworks, and carrier service providers areegating additional reven
by connecting greater numbers of customers to th&astructure by offering broadband digital sees. Our Carrier Networ
Division supplies the network access productstiieede service providers require to connect thetazners to core transmiss
and switching networks. Specifically, we delivebefi and coppebased solutions that enable these types of servigel
customer base includes all of the major UnitedeStaticumbent Local Exchange Carriers (ILECs), madgpendent operati
companies, Competitive Local Exchange Carriers (C): Utilities, Municipalities, Cable MSOs, majartérnational carrie
and wireless service providers. We have focusedpportunities in North America, with increasing drapis on expanding ir
the Asia-Pacific region, Caribbean, Latin AmeriEayope, the Middle East and Africa.

Services enabled using our systems include trawitivoice services, VoIP, IPTV, RF Video, higheed Internet access .
data services based upon Ethernet, frame relay, , Tdodl ATM networks, connecting the network withrusemponents such
switches, routers, gateways, I1ADs, PBX, and telephkey systems. ADTRAN devices, deployed at thdnless site, a
enabling carriers to provide Ethernet servicesNBS and distributed enterprises. Our solutions jgl®a complete end-tenc
solution for carriers by supporting both new fillesed infrastructure and also allowing them to eetheir existing copp
infrastructure, lowering their overall costs to iigpadvanced Ethernet services to SMBs and digiibenterprises.

Service Provider Network

Telecommunications networks are transitioning froaglitional TDM and circuit-switched technology[#® and Ethernebase:
packet networks that offer services such as kjgged Internet access, VolP, and IPTV. We desigiitigios that allow servic
providers to leverage existing network assets,rbyiging a migration path to new broadband techgiel® and services.

Continued competition from cable and wireless piexs is forcing traditional wireline service prosid to react with pric
incentives, service bundling, and network investim@md modifications. ADTRAN products enable wineliproviders to offt
higher Internet access speeds as well as VolPRIRd.|Our multiservice access and aggregation platforms are osgavide
multi-Gigabit Ethernet capability, increasing rates witthe access network. Our optical technologies lensibscriber acce
solutions for Fiber-To-Th&remises and FTTN architectures. To offer higheredpDSL services in support of delivel
Internet access and IPTV, carriers are “shortenaggper loop lengths in order to increase bandwaditth gain a competiti
advantage. Our mulBervice access and aggregation platform and théNFSEFies of outside plant DSLAM products are us
shorten copper loop lengths so that wireline prerdccan deliver higher-speed network services.
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Our products marketed under the Total Acébsand fit the decentralized networking model thaistrcarriers are using toc
both in the United States and abroad. Currentlgséhproducts comprise the flagship product linetlier Carrier Networ}
Division and offer service providers a single patfi that can accommodate demand for a varietygif-$peed Internet, voic
data and video services from businesses and residenstomers. These modular, scalable, and gebgally distribute:
products offer advantages such as lower siartosts, more flexible service deployment, greattwork interface optior
increased bandwidth, grow-as-ygo-modularity, and centralized network managemefa.provide Total Access products i
connect to fiber optic and copper network backbpneaking them suitable for installation in many tpasf the network ar
enabling deployment of a wide range of voice anth darvices around the world. The Total AccBgwroducts and oth
ADTRAN products are accepted by the USDA Rural itigg Service (RUS) as suitable for use in Riifancec
telecommunications systems. Deployed in centracedf remote terminals, or muténant units, the system encompa
carrier-class solutions for fiber and copper br@aabmultiservice access, DSL access, Carrier Ethernet aaessarrowbar
multi-service access.

Advanced IP Service

For wireline service providers, our broadband asgsducts provide the ability to increase bandwatid improve the quali
of services to customers. These products are usekigh-density central office applications, along with Ewdensit
applications that include remote terminals andidatplant deployments. Also, these products aréabla in models that a
temperature hardened for use in harsh, outsidet environments and provide support for Ethedwdivery of advanced
services over fiber or copper as well as legacy T&d ATM networks.

High-speed Residential Services

Gigabit Passive Optical Network (GPON) technologs tbeen added to the Total Accé&sgplatform. Our GPON modu
provides 2.5 Gbps to each optical line terminalt,penabling the delivery of advanced, very highdwaidth services such
high definition television (HDTV). The multi-sendccapabilities of the Total Acce&§s5000 allow for the support of nati
Ethernet services like GPON from the same platfosed to support POTS, DSL, Bonded Copper, TDM, AHBNd legac
copper services. Service providers of all sized@oking to fiber access technologies, like GPQdt, dltrabandwidth deliver
to residential customers as well as to provide dsigled Ethernet and voice services to businesses ADTRAN optica
network terminals work in conjunction with the Tiofeccess® 5000 to support a wide range of applications fahbresidentic
and business applications, ranging from POTS antl 0SGigabit Ethernet. The ADTRAN Total Acce®8$000 also provide
fully integrated voice options, including suppast both TDM trunk interfaces and VolP.

Very-high-data-rate Digital Subscriber Line (VDSL#s been added to our leading Total Ac&BSLAMS. These DSLAM
allow service providers to realize ultbmeadband speeds over their existing copper imfrestre, economically securing
broadband connection to the home and enabling ¢figedy of advanced communications and entertairinservices. Tot:
Access® 1100 Series broadband access products provide ravative approach to the successful deployment ToFN
architectures. Recognizing the technological anshemic barriers of traditional cabinb&sed DSL deployments, ADTR/
designed this product series to eliminate the rieedxpensive cabinet enclosures, heat exchangersite construction, whi
account for a large portion of the total cost opldgment. In many cases, Total Accé&s8100 Series DSLAMs can deli
FTTN-based services for significantly less tharditianal cabinetbased systems. This allows carriers to more ecaraily
utilize the capacity of the existing copper netwovler the last mile.

Metro Ethernet Service

Metro Ethernet is growing with the proliferation p&cketbased infrastructure in both enterprise and cam@&works. Th
implementation of Ethernet throughout the commuiooas network provides benefits in equipment andrafional saving
Gigabit speeds are increasingly becoming availétieughout the access network, but they are fanfleing widesprea
Ethernets increasing presence throughout the network igindyi costs down, further increasing availability basines
customers. We provide Metro Ethernet Forum (MERhglant products that enable the delivery of themwices.

As demand grows for mid-rate @ Mbps) Ethernet services worldwide, the serviaipers have seen a need to deliver t
Ethernet services over copper in addition to fifer.enable this, enhancements in SHDSL technole@HDSL) have bet
developed to increase the rate delivered per copgieto more than 5 Mbps and to bond pairs toggi@ebond) to offer rats
not attainable over a single pair. Ethernet oveppggo (EoCu) technology uses eSHDSL and G.bond lieetlehese mid-ate
Ethernet services over several (typically one gh®i“bonded”pairs. ADTRAN has EoCu solutions that enable ouriex
customers to deploy higtpeed Ethernet services in places where fiber gemats are not currently available and
construction is not cost effective.
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ADTRAN has also developed solutions that allow mervproviders to deliver Ethernet services overrtlegisting TDV
(EoTDM) infrastructure. ADTRANS dominant position in DS1 delivery technology (HD&llows us to have a uniq
advantage in our ability to integrate Ethernet dvierer, Copper, and TDM into a comprehensive Etbieatcess solution 1
service providers.

Optical Access

We also offer a set of solutions that provide tpams over fiber facilities for mobile backhaul netks. These products
designed to optimize network performance and perfoandwidth management functions. Our OPproduct family includes
multi-service provisioning platform, the OPTI-61@0, delivering high speed Ethernet (addressing DS1[E33/E3, OC-
3/STM-1, OC-12/STM-4, O@38, and 10/100/1000Mb) connectivity and transportdllular sites using a variety of fiber oj
ring architectures. Our OPTI-8 fiber multiplexer provides OG- capacity in terminal mode and DS3 range extel
applications. The OPTI-6100MX (medium) chassis consolidates discrete optical multiplexer network elements into ¢
small chassis that addresses DS1/E1, DS3/E3, SO&R/STM1 bandwidths, and Ethernet services delivery tosthescribe
Our OPTI-610® LMX (large) chassis provides high density termioatbptions and utilizes many common modules froe
other OPTI® chassis. The OPTI-6100SMX (small) chassis provides a very compact chdssikow-density applications, wi
a variety of mounting options to meet unique custorequirements. Our solutions provide for optitcahsport in very compe
enclosures for cell site traffic backhaul and featsingle fiber operation for maximum facility igétion and integration wi
the ADTRAN Total Acces® family of products and associated multiplexers.

All of these products enable wireless and wirebrevice providers to more efficiently handle netwtaffic by consolidatin
multiple circuits into a single facility, to upgradheir networks to support negéneration services, and to improve back
efficiency. These devices provide a migration fabim TDM systems to Ethernet/IP networks and alggpsrt techniques f
‘bonding’ multiple physical circuits into a singlértual circuit.

Busines:-class Services

HDSL is a common technique for delivering bandwidthates of 1.544 Mbps (known as the DS1 or T&)ratr infrastructur
support, business customer services, and wirelesgork mobile backhaul services. The T1 interfac@niversally accept
throughout the United States, and HDSL is the mosimon method of delivering the T1 interface inriyeavery applicatior
ADTRAN HDSL products are manufactured in a varietyconfigurations for use in every major DS1 dephent platform fo
voice and data services.

SHDSL products were developed to provide symmétsgohlutions for the transport of high-speed bussreass services. T
International Telecommunications Union (ITU), AHige for Telecommunications Industry Solutions (AT1&d the Europe:
Telecommunications Standards Institute (ETSI) restablished standards for 2-wire and 4-wire SHD&ut®nNs.

We contributed significantly to ITU, ATIS, and ETSHDSL standards. Because of this involvement, whkvered th
industry’s first SHDSL customer device. Our SHDSlogucts, like many of our products, are standéased, which ensul
interoperability with other standards-based prosluct

Network Managemen

As networks become more complex, the need for eractiss management systems becomes apparent to epmregion:
efficiencies. We develop and support systems tdrakze the configuration, provisioning, and managat of our netwol
access products. These systems are used to canfigonitor, and control ADTRAN equipment installedl local loop circuit:
The systems ensure communication with the serviceigier’'s central management system to reduce technicigratthes ar
operating costs. Our Total Acce§sElement Management System is anJall-a application that provides configurat
performance, network assurance, and provisioningtfons for ADTRAN Total Acces8 products.

Enterprise Networks

Our Enterprise Networks Division encompasses a cehgmsive internetworking solutions portfolio tltlivers converge
services and Unified Communications to the SMB &mderprise. SMB and geographically dispersed erisap use the
products for their voice and data service requirameOur carrier customers bundle our solutions their service offerings f
their SMB and enterprise customers. These prodaretgypically installed in equipment rooms and mgriclosets, to conne
headquarters, branch offices, and telecommutetbeacorporate voice and data infrastructure. A bnaamedium busine:
generally refers to an organization with fewer tls80 employees. These businesses can be a siegl®mlo or geographical
dispersed with many locations, including home eficThese businesses and service providers useteuretworking produc
to implement a high performance, reliable netwankdonverged services and Unified Communications.

Marketed under the brand names Total Ac&asd NetVant® , our solutions are known for their high performanediability
and high availability making them the preferredusions for the delivery of converged IP servicebe Tsolutions portfoli
includes multiservice routers, managed Layer 2/3 switches, IHnBas Gateways, FTTx ONTs, Wireless Access PoiR
PBXs, IP phones and Unified Communications solidrhe Enterprise Network solutions portfolio paes the infrastructu
required for a SMB or Enterprise to utilize convetgP services and Unified Communications. Furtber,solutions enable t



SMB and Enterprise end user to migrate their engsinfrastructure —thus preserving their investment; or to replacer
legacy system with an IP-based solution.
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We view the development and continued evolutionwfoperating system as critical to our successiimging to market featu
rich, highly reliable, high performance solutiomss such, the ADTRAN Operating System (AOS) is comnazross ol
internetworking products, optimizing our producidi®pment resources and minimizing time to marketrfew products al
features. It also ensures common configurationtipes, policies, protection schemes, and manageimenfaces for our carri
customers providing a Total Cost of Ownership (T@@Yantage.

Our solutions and their roadmaps are closely atign#h our customes strategic service offerings. Our solutions enaiol
customers to offer high performance, feature ricdnaged and unmanaged converged IP services (dsat, \and unifie
communications) to the SMB and Enterprise. Ourtgmig offer a wide range of LAN and WAN connectviptions, rangin
from analog to fiber, supporting different geogriaplocations in their enterprise and wide area oekw, as well as their loc
area networks requiring switching, routing and eodapabilities. Many of the products available frdma Enterprise Networ
Division reach the SMB and Enterprise end useruinotheir service provider as these products gdily installed by th
service provider at the customer premises as parbandled service package.

Data Solutions

ADTRAN multi-service routers move data between networked comgpater public or private IP, Frame Relay, Multifeao|
Label Switching leaseline infrastructures or carrier supplied Etherratvices. These devices include features to roaféid
between multiple destinations, secure the netwgsirest cyber attacks, ensure the privacy of dafaiagransported across
Internet, and restore communications in the evérdéquipment or network failure. ADTRAN mulgervice routers provis
Internet access and interconnect corporate locatod when deployed in the workgroup environmett wiir managed layel
and layer 3 (L2/L3) Ethernet switches provide cantivey from the WAN to the end user’desktop computer and IP Phe
ADTRAN'’s managed L2/L3 switches range in speedsoupulti-Gigabit and include Power over Ethernetians.

Our NetVanta multi-service router products inclugeth modular and fixedenfiguration solutions. The NetVanta rol
portfolio offers a wide range of business classtuiess including: Quality of Service (QoS), FirewalfPN, Networl
Performance Monitoring, Cable Diagnostics and Vdlity Monitoring. These features enable carriersffer the highe
quality of service with a TCO advantage.

The ADTRAN NetVanta portfolio also includes wiredesolutions for the SMB and Enterprise. With 802ViHi capabilities
the NetVanta 1335 mulervice access router with integrated WiFi and Metd 150 wireless access device addres
increasing demands for wireless solutions and abmwinesses to streamline and improve operaticffiziemcies, expan
customer service offerings, and increase flexipfiitr employees.

The NetVanta router portfolio supports 3G dataises: The NetVanta 3G Network Interface Module (Nidfovides a wirele:
WAN capability for our NetVanta line of multi-sepé routers and provides a rapid, secure and eftesttive connectivit
option when used in conjunction with one of our wlad routers. A 3G data service allows customertake advantage
flexible deployment options at broadband speeds) feosingle platform. The solution is ideal for anher of applicatior
including use as a primary data service and/ortaark failover option for SMBs and Enterprises.

Voice Solutions

The network infrastructure for voice services, @tant years, has undergone a rapid evolution tPdased infrastructur
including the accelerated adoption of SIP trunkiAg.a result, VolP as a part of a converged sesvaféering represents
important revenue opportunity for service provideeeking to add new features, such as cloud apiplisaand unifie
communications in order to retain and expand tiseibscriber base. ADTRAN Total Access and NetVamaBusines
Gateways (IPBG) support this strategic directiom] @re deployed by the service provider at the deatian point on th
customer premises. An ADTRAN IPBG combines the fiamality of a voice gateway with a muliervice router and secul
features. Our products offer a highly integratedsteffective platform for delivering converged serdc® the SMB ar
Enterprise customer.

Our Enterprise solutions are widely regarded fairtiinnovation, most notably our ability to intetgathe functionality c
multiple network elements into a single platfornhisall-in-one” strategy for the delivery of converged voice anthdzrvice
enables a service provider to offer a SMB or Emteepcustomer converged services without the exp@figeplacing the
current infrastructure, enabling the customer tagrate to a Hosted PBX service based on their tmeefor investmen
Supporting a SMB or Enterpriseimigration with a single platform provides thevées provider with operational efficienci
such as network management, and a TCO advantage.
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The Enterprise Division portfolio of voice produgisovides an industrieading TCO advantage. Our voice products con
the highest level of feature integration, with penfiance and reliability. This level of product imation combined with ol
industry leading warranty and product support ezmihe service provider an extended life cycledor platforms in the
customer’s network.

Unified Communications and IP Telephony

Unified Communications (UC) solutions were addedthe portfolio of ADTRAN Enterprise solutions in @8 with the
acquisition of Objectworld Communications Corparati a Canadiabased company. Marketed under the name Net'
Unified Communications, these solutions enable nasses with 75 to 2,000 employees to realize theefiie of UC
ADTRAN'’s NetVanta UC products deliver end-¢md unified communications that bridge the gap betwtelephony, deskt
communications productivity and business procedReterred to as CommunicatioBsrabled Business Processes (CEBP;
ADTRAN NetVanta UC solutions enable businesses Wiibrosoft Windows platforms to drive workforce jictivity anc
improve customer service. ADTRAN'’s awandaning NetVanta UC Server enables CEBP while piimg simplicity and valu
to businesses that want to make a smooth transitam simple telephony to a unified communicatiswution withou
sacrificing their PBX and Microsoft business sysseimvestments. There are four platforms in the NMet’ UC solutior
portfolio: NetVanta UC Server, NetVanta Businessplgation Server, NetVanta Enterprise Communicai@erver, ar
NetVanta Business Communications Syst

The addition of UC solutions is a logical extensmfnour Enterprise portfolio enabling our customtrscontinue to look 1
ADTRAN as a total solution provider. Additionallthe NetVanta UC solutions provide the flexibility be customized a
optimized to address the unique CEBP and customeice needs of a range of vertical markets suchaaging, hospitalit
education, healthcare, retail, and real estate.

ADTRAN’s NetVanta 7000 Series is an innovative IP PBX tamluwith integration that results in a single bexution fo
small business communications needs. Scaling uf@users the 7000 Series combines the featuras ¢ PBX with th
functionality of an Ethernet switch, a multi-seeviuter, security features and WAN connectivity.

Configuration and Network Management

We develop and support network productivity toofed ssystems to centralize the configuration and mement of oL
internetworking products. These tools aid in thenaggement of networks powered by ADTRAN internetvirmgkproducts ar
includes the nCommand MSP (Managed Service Providemagement platform. nCommand MSP streamlinesraice
provider’s product life cycle management efforts includiagnote monitoring and management of ADTRAN NetVamtdota
Access solutions. A webased platform, nCommand MSP simplifies new dedeployment and enables Managed Se
Providers, service providers and enterprise IT migdions to deliver on Service Level Agreementgrove customer servi
response times, reduce network downtimes and pvedctmonitor and report network performance, alhil reducin
operational costs.

Service and Suppol

In addition to our product portfolio, we offer tedbal support services to help ensure that we @gpansive to our custom
who have deployed networking and infrastructureitsmhs. We provide pre- and pasles technical support and a variet
training options. We offer installation and mairdane services designed to protect customeesivorks from unnecessi
downtime. ADTRAN professional services, “ADTRAN Gas Extended Services”, branded as “ACE&larantees priori
access to technical support engineers and on+sittpt replacement on a fohour or next business day basis, dependir
the service plan selected. Our service and supyierings are available to customers in both ouri€aNetworks Division an
Enterprise Networks Division.

Customers

We have a diverse customer base, which we segrasetlton the markets served, and typically withthez our two distinc
divisions.

Customers of ou€arrier Networks Division in the United States include all of the major ILEGsge and small independ
telephone companies, competitive service providergrnet service providers, Utilities, Municipad$, Cable MSOs, a
wireless service providers. Internationally, thigsiglon also serves incumbent carriers and conipetiservice providers
selected regions.

ILECs and most other service providers require peodpproval prior to adopting a vendopgroducts for use in their networ
We are involved in a constant process of submittiegy and succeeding generations of products forozppand ADTRARM
products are widely deployed in these service pi@vinetworks. However, we cannot be certain thatwileobtain thes
approvals in the future, or that sales of theselypets will continue to occur. Further, any atteroptan ILEC or other servi
provider to seek out additional or alternative digop, or to undertake, as permitted under appléecadgulations, the producti
of these products internally, could have a matexilverse effect on our operating rest
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Customers of ouEnterprise Networks Division solutions in the United States include all of thgjon ILECs, large and sme
independent telephone companies and competitiwéceeproviders. Additionally SMB and enterprise anigations purchas
our solutions through a two-tier distribution chehnThe twotier distribution channel is comprised of seveeabk distributo
partners and an extensive network of value-addeellezs (VARS) as described in “Distribution, Saéewl Marketing"below.
Additionally, ADTRAN Enterprise solutions are depdal globally in the EMEA, APAC and the Americas icets. Vertical
markets where our solutions are used include rdtald service, healthcare, finance, governmentcation, manufacturing
military, transportation, hospitality, and enerdility.

Our major customers include the following:

AT&T Inc. Qwest Communications International, |
CenturyLink, Inc. Verizon Communications, In

Ingram Micro, Inc. Walker and Associates, In

KGP Logistics Windstream Corporatio

Single customers comprising more than 10% of owemae in 2009 include AT&T Inc. at 22%, Qwest Conmications
International, Inc. at 19%, and Verizon Communimagi, Inc. at 11%. The revenues from all of thes#arners are reported
both the Carrier Networks and Enterprise Networgnsents. No other customer accounted for 10% oembour sales i
20009.

For a discussion of risks associated with custormsgsvice providers and approval processes,“Risk Factors —We depen:
heavily on sales to certain customers; the losamf of these customers would significantly reduge revenues and ni
income”, “Risk Factors —Consolidation and deterioration in the competitiservice provider market could result in
significant decrease in our revenue”, and “Risk Eas —The lengthy approval process required by ILECs atigbr service
providers for new products could result in flucioas in our revent”, in Iltem 1A of this report.

Distribution, Sales and Marketing

We sell ourCarrier Networks products in the United States through a combinatbra direct sales organization ant
distribution network. Our direct sales organizatsupports major accounts and has offices locatedigihout the United State
Sales to most competitive service providers aneépeddent telephone companies are fulfilled thraagiombination of direc
sales and major technology distribution companies s KGP Logistics, Walker and Associates, andePé. Tel.

Prior to placing any orders, service providers meglengthy product qualification and standardizatprocesses that can exte
for several months or years. Orders, if any, apéclly placed under single or muitear supply agreements that are gene
not subject to minimum volume commitments. Servizeviders generally prefer having two or more sigypl for mos
products, so individual orders are usually subjectompetition based on some combination of totle, service, price
delivery, and other terms.

The majority ofEnterprise Networks products are sold in the United States throughraaxalusive distribution network th
consists, at the top level, of several major tetdmo distributors, such as Walker and AssociateghData, Ingram Micrc
Jenne Distributors, Synnex Corporation, Interlinkn@nunications Systems and Catalyst Telecom. Theg@nizations the
distribute products to an extensive network of \éaldded Resellers (VARS), system integrators, andice providers.

VARs and system integrators may be affiliated VAIDTRAN as channel partners, or they may purchas fa distributor in a
unaffiliated fashion. Affiliated partners partictgawith us at various program levels based on salksne and other factors
receive benefits such as product discountspg@dvertising funds, technical support, and trajniWe maintain field office
nationwide to support distributors, VARs and sysfategrators. The Enterprise Networks Division nt@iims a channdbasec
sales organization to manage our partners.

A growing portion of our Enterprise Networks prothi@are being sold to service providers for provigig of hosted Volf
service offerings for SMB and enterprise branclcefénd users.

Outside of the United States, both Carrier and pnise products are sold through distribution ageaments customized fi
each region. Each region is supported by an ADTHigN office that offers sales and support funcsioand in some case
warehousing and manufacturing support. In someonsgi Carrier products are sold to carriers throogh direct sale
organization.

Our field sales organizations, distributors, andrise provider customers receive support from headgrsbased marketing
sales, and customer support groups. Under cerignnestances, other headquarters personnel maymeeaovolved in sale
and other activities.
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Research and Developme

Rapidly changing technologies, evolving industgnstards, changing customer requirements, and congrdevelopments i
communications service offerings characterize thekets for our products. Our continuing abilityatbapt to these changes ¢
to develop new and enhanced products that meattiwigate market demand is a significant factotuefcing our competitiv
position and our prospects for growth.

During 2009, 2008, and 2007, product developmemerditures totaled $83.3 million, $81.8 million, da®75.4 million,
respectively. Our product development activities an important part of our strategy. Because afilpghanging technolog
and evolving industry standards, we expect to suyséad possibly increase, product developmentidezach year.

We strive to deliver innovative network access sohs that lower the total cost of deploying seegicincrease the level
performance achievable with established infrastmest, reduce operating and capital expense forcastomers, increas
network bandwidth and functionality, and extendaark reach. Our development process is conductetddénrdance with 1St
9001, TL 9000, and ISO 14001, which are internaiatandards for quality and environmental managesystems.

We develop most of our products internally, althouge sometimes license intellectual property rigiuts use in certail
products. Internal development gives us more cbwotrer design and manufacturing issues relatedutopooducts and clos:
control over product costs. Our ability to contitpaeduce product costs is an important part af @eerall business stratec
Our product development efforts are often centeyedentering a market with improved technology, wif@ us to offel
products at a price point lower than establishedkatgprices. We then compete for market share. Wrgirtually reengineel
successive generations of the product to improveymss margin.

Product development activities focus on productsuggport both existing and emerging technologigiéntelecommunicatior
industry in segments of our markets that we comsiggble revenue opportunities. We are activelyagmggl in developing ar
refining technologies to support data, voice, amb® transport primarily over IP/Ethernet networkhitectures. Our wor
involves Ethernet transport, fiber optic transp®@&L transport (VDSL2, ADSL2+, ADSL, SHDSL, and HDS§, acces:
routing, Ethernet switching, integrated accessyeayed services, VolP, network management, ancgsadnal services.

A centralized research function supports productetipment efforts companyide. This group provides guidance to
various product design and engineering teams iitatligignal processing technologies, computer satoth and modeling
CAD/CAM tool sets, custom semiconductor designustdy standards, and technological forecasting.

Many telecommunications issues, processes, antdtagies are governed by Standards Developmentrizations (SDOs)
These SDOs consist of representatives from varioasufacturers, service providers, and testing ktooes working tc
establish specifications and compliance guidelfioeemerging telecommunications technologies. Weeaar active participal
in several SDOs, and have assisted with the demedapof worldwide standards in many technologies.

We continue to be involved in the evolution of Etiet technology by participating in the InstitufeEbectrical and Electronic
Engineers 802 LAN/MAN standards committee, the IT@nd the MEF, which are standardizing technologigsh as Carrie
Ethernet traffic management, Ethernet Ring PrataectSwitching (ERPS), provider networking, Etherr@perations
Administration and Management (OAM), and Connettifiault Management. In the past year, we have &ik the SDOs t
bring more interoperability between GPON equipm@&hese efforts have included helping ATIS estabdistew subcommitte
focusing on optical access networks (NIPP-OAN) imedeasing our participation in GPON work in theoBdband Forum.

We are also involved in other standards developregatts related to maximizing the bandwidth poi@nof the copper pair t
enable new applications. We contributed to the ldgweent of the VDSL2 ITU-Telecommunications (ITQ-standard. Upo
completion of the various wireline telecommunicaticstandards, the industwide interoperability and performance test
requirements become the responsibility of the Boaad Forum (formerly DSL Forum). We have continoed contributions
toward VDSL2 and ADSL2+ development through our kviorthe Broadband Forum.

For a discussion of risks associated with our reskaand development activities, s‘Risk Factors —We must continue !
update and improve our products and develop newdysts in order to compete and to keep pace withrargments it
telecommunications technology” and “Risk Factors We engage in research and development activitiesnfrove the
application of developed technologies, and as aseqonence may miss certain market opportunitiesyedjoby large!
companies with substantially greater research amdetbpment efforts who may focus on more leadigg elévelopment’in
Item 1A of this repor
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Manufacturing and Operations

The principal steps in our manufacturing procesduife the purchase and management of materialemédg, testing, fina
inspection, packing, and shipping. We purchasesgartl components for the assembly of some proéiactsa large number ¢
suppliers through a worldwide sourcing programadigition, we manage a process that identifies tmeponents that are be
purchased directly by contract manufacturers far usthe assembly of our products to achieve matufimg efficiency.,
quality, and cost objectives. Certain key composi@ised in our products are currently available feosingle source, and ott
key components are available from only a limitednber of sources. In the past, we have experiene&yslin the receipt «
certain key components, which has resulted in delayrelated product deliveries. We attempt to ngenthese risks throug
developing alternative sources, by staging invéesoat strategic locations, through engineeringreffdesigned to obviate t
necessity of certain components, and by maintaigioge contact and building long-term relationshiith our suppliers.

We rely on subcontractors in Asia for assembly tasting of certain printed circuit board assemblg®assemblies, chass
enclosures and equipment shelves, and to purcbase af the raw materials used in such assembliestypically manufactur
our low-volume, highmix, or complex product assemblies at our manufawjusite in Huntsville, Alabama. We continue
build and test all new product prototypes and ahiproduction units for our products in Huntsvillend later transfer tr
production of high-volume, lownix assemblies to our subcontractors. Subcontsssrably operations can lengthen fulfillm:
cycle times, but we believe we can respond morédisapio uncertainties in incomingrder rates by selecting assem
subcontractors having significant reserve capaaity flexibility. We have consolidated our produntim two subcontractol
who have proven to be flexible and able to meetquality requirements. We conduct the majority btransactions with ou
foreign suppliers in United States currency.

Most shipments of products to customers occur foomfacilities in Huntsville, Alabama. Our faciks are certified pursuant
the most current releases of ISO9001, TL9000, 19014and are Custonigade Partnership Against Terrorism certified. |
products are also certified to certain other teteyghcompany standards, including those relatingmssion of electromagnet
energy and safety specifications.

For a discussion of risks associated with manufiéictuactivities, se¢‘Risk Factors —Our strategy of outsourcing a portion
our manufacturing requirements to subcontractoxsated in Asia may result in us not meeting our,apsality or performanc
standards” and “Risk Factors -©ur dependence on a limited number of suppliers pmayent us from delivering our produr
on a timely basis, which could have a material aslweeffect on customer relations and operating lte5uin Item 1A of this
report.

Competition

We compete in markets for networking and commuitoat equipment for service providers and businesgegernmen
agencies, and other organizations worldwide. Oodpects and services support the transfer of datevand video acro:
service providersfiber, copper, and wireless infrastructures, antbs wide area networks, local area networks, &
Internet.

The markets for our products are intensely competiNumerous competitors exist in each of our poddsegments. Inten:
competitive conditions and recent declines in eauinoactivity have resulted in competitor consolidas, bankruptcies ar
liquidations. Consumer acceptance of alternativarnanications technologies such as coaxial cablecatdlarbased service
that compete with our products has grown in regeatrs. Competition might further increase if neshtelogies emerge, ne
companies enter the market, or existing competégpand their product lines.

For ourCarrier Networks Division , factors influencing the markets in which we cathg compete or may compete in t
future include the ability to:

e Help the customer solve networking problems withia confines of restrained capital budg
-  Offer globally competitive solutions against a diffnt set of competitors than in the United Stz
«  Deliver solutions that fit the distributed netwargimodel being deployed by most service provic

»  Deliver solutions for service provider networksthsy increasingly focus on network transformatioonvergenct
and integration of service

«  Deliver solutions at attractive price poin

e Deliver reliability and redundancy, especially fagher bandwidth product
e Adapt to new network technologies as they evc

*  Compete effectively against large firms with greagsources

e Deliver products when needed by the custor



»  Deliver responsive customer service, technical sttppnd training; an
e Assist customers requiring j-assembled, turnkey syster
Competitors of our Carrier Networks Division inckuthrge, established firms such as Alcatetent, Cisco Systems, Fuji

Limited, Huawei, Ericsson, Tellabs, and Siemengr&lare also a number of smaller, specialized fisitls which we compet
such as ADC Telecommunications, Zhone Technolo@esam Networks, Calix Networks, and other privatedld firms.
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For ourEnterprise Networks Division, factors influencing the markets in which we cathe compete or may compete in 1
future include the ability to:

«  Satisfy the custom’s need for a cc-efficient alternative to established internetwotdksuppliers

e  Satisfy the customer’s need to utilize the mastteffective combination of transmission technologiesconnec
geographically dispersed locatiol

* Increase network performance and lower the cust’s cost for communications services and equipn

e Add capacity and migrate to new or different tedbgi®s without a major system upgra

e Continue to develop and support established plati¢

«  Offer products to address new networking technel®gi a timely manne

«  Deliver reliability and system backup, especiadly iigher bandwidth product

* Adapt to new network technologies as they evc

e Deliver products when needed by the custol

< Deliver responsive customer service, technical sttppnd training; an

e Assist customers requiring hai-on installation and maintenanc
Competitors of our Enterprise Networks Divisionlite Cisco Systems, Juniper Networks, Avaya, Hévidatkard, Enteras
Networks, Extreme Networks, Allied Telesyn, andestlsmaller companies. Some of these companies ¢enipe single
product segment, while others compete across nripimduct lines.
For further discussion of risks associated with eompetition, se“Risk Factors —We must continue to update and impr
our products and develop new products in order empete and to keep pace with improvements in telezmication:

technology” and “Risk Factors —We compete in markets that have become increasoughpetitive, which may result
reduced gross profit margins and market share”ltém 1A of this report.

Backlog and Inventory

A substantial portion of our shipments in any flspariod relate to orders received and shippedhat fiscal period fo
customers under agreements containing lmiading purchase commitments. Further, a signifiggercentage of orders requ
delivery within a few days. These factors resulvémy little order backlog or order flow visibilityWe believe that because
fill a substantial portion of customer orders witlihe fiscal quarter of receipt, backlog is not @eamingful indicator of actui
sales for any succeeding period.

To meet this type of demand, we have implementecrated supply chain management systems to managprdiuctior
process. We maintain a substantial finished goaodsritory. Our practice of maintaining sufficienvémtory levels to assu
prompt delivery of our products increases the arhofimventory that may become obsolete. The olseellece of this inventol
may require us to write down the value of the oboinventory, which may have an adverse effedwroperating results.

Government Regulation

In the United States, our products must comply wahous regulations and standards defined by #defal Communicatior
Commission and Underwriters Laboratories. Prodsctisl internationally may be required to comply witbgulations o
standards established by telecommunications atifem various countries, as well as those ofateiinternational bodies. F
instance, environmental legislation within the Epgan Union (EU) may increase our cost of doingrmss internationally ¢
we amend our products to comply with these requéres1 The EU issued a Directive on the restrictibrertain hazardot
substances in electronic and electrical equipmdRdHS), enacted the Waste Electrical and ElectroBguipment
(WEEE) Directive to mandate the funding, collectitnreatment, recycling and recovery of WEEE by piexts of electrical ¢
electronic equipment into Europe, and enacted aladgn concerning the Registration, Evaluation,thuization anc
Restriction of Chemicals (REACH). We continue toplement measures to comply with the RoHS Directie, WEEE
Directive and the REACH Regulation as individualietries issue their implementation guidance.

For further discussion of risks associated with ggovnent regulation, se“Risk Factors —Our products may not continue
comply with the regulations governing their saléjek may harm our business” and “Risk FactorsRegulatory and potenti
physical impacts of climate change may affect augt@mers and our production operations, resultingéverse affects on o
operating results”, in Item 1A of this report.
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Employees

As of December 31, 2009, we had 1,571 full-time kyges in the United States and 53 tirthe employees in our internatior
subsidiaries, located in Canada, Mexico, the A%aaific region and Europe. Of our total employe2®2 were in sale:
marketing and service; 482 were in research andldpment; 738 were in manufacturing operationsumlity assurance; ar
122 were in administration. None of our employess represented by a collective bargaining agregnrent have we eve
experienced any work stoppage. We believe thatedationship with our employees is good.

Intellectual Property

The ADTRAN corporate logo is a registered trademafkADTRAN. The name “ADTRAN”is a registered trademark
ADTRAN. A number of our product identifiers and nesmalso are registered. We also claim rights taraber of unregistere
trademarks.

We have ownership of at least 252 patents relategut products and have approximately 88 additiguaént application
pending, of which at least 5 have been approvedaamih the process of being issued by the U.S&rPaind Trademark Offic
The average remaining duration of our patents d@3eaember 31, 2009 was approximately 11 years. Weantinue to seel
additional patents from time to time related to mgearch and development activities. We do navel@ny material amount 1
revenue from the licensing of our patents.

We protect our intellectual property and proprigteghts in accordance with good legal and busin@sstices. We believ:
however, that our competitive success will not deben the ownership of intellectual property, bostead will depen
primarily on the innovative skills, technical contgece, and marketing abilities of our personnel.

The communications industry is characterized byekistence of an evencreasing volume of patent litigation and licemg
activities. From time to time we receive and mawytoole to receive notices of claims alleging tha are infringing upol
patents or other intellectual property. We cannadjct whether we will prevail in any claims oridiation over allege
infringements, or whether we will be able to licenany valid and infringed patents, or other inttll@l property, ol
commercially reasonable terms. It is possible litigation may result in significant legal costsdajudgments. Any intellectu
property infringement claims, or related litigatiagainst or by us, could have a material adverfeztebn our business al
operating results.

For a discussion of risks associated with our iletlial and proprietary rights, se‘Risk Factors —Our failure to maintair
rights to intellectual property used in our busiseould adversely affect the development, funclilgnand commercial valu
of our products”, in Item 1A of this report.

Available Information

A copy of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, as waslour Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Repm Form & and
any amendments to these reports, are availableofredarge on the Internet at our web site, wwwadtom, as soon a
reasonably practicable (generally, within one da&y®r we electronically file these reports with,formnish these reports to, t
Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). The ewfer to our web site address does not constituterporation by
reference of the information contained on the wigdy svhich information should not be consideredt pérthis document. Yo
may also read and copy any materials we file wita SEC at the SE€’Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, |
Washington, D.C. 20549. The public may obtain infation on the operation of the Public ReferencerRby calling the SE(
at 1-800-SE@330. The SEC maintains an Internet site (www.s®).ghat contains our reports, proxy and informa
statements, and other information that we have glectronically with the SEC.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

The Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 89%ovides a safe harbor for forwatdeking statements made by or
behalf of ADTRAN. ADTRAN and its representativeg fram time to time make written or oral forwalabking statement:
including statements contained in this report angr @ther filings with the SEC and other communimasi with ou
stockholders. Generally, the words, “believe,” “@qt,” “intend,” “estimate,” “anticipate,” “will, may,” “could” and
similar expressions identify forward-looking statarts. We caution you that any forwdoibking statements made by or on
behalf are subject to uncertainties and other fexthat could cause these statements to be wrange®f these uncertainti
and other factors are listed below. Though we hattempted to list comprehensively these importantofs, we cautiol
investors that other factors may prove to be imguatrin the future in affecting our operating resulNew factors emerge frc
time to time, and it is not possible for us to peedll of these factors, nor can we assess thegohpach factor or combinatic
of factors may have on our business.

You are further cautioned not to place undue red@mon those forwartboking statements because they speak only ofiews
as of the date the statements were made. We uRkdentia obligation to publicly update or revise amywardooking
statements, whether as a result of new informafigye events or otherwise, except as requirethy
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The following are some of the risks that couldcftaur financial performance or could cause actredults to differ materiall
from those expressed or implied in our forw-looking statements:

Our operating results may fluctuate in future perds, which may adversely affect our stock price.

Our operating results have been and will contirudé subject to quarterly and annual fluctuatiogsaaesult of numerot
factors. These factors include, but are not limited

*  Fluctuations in demand for our products and sesyiespecially with respect to significant netwoxka@nsion projec
undertaken by telecommunications service provic

e Continued growth of communications network trafiied the adoption of communication services andiegipins b
enterprise and consumer end us

e Changes in sales and implementation cycles fopmducts and reduced visibility into our custogiepending plar
and associated revent

« Reductions in demand for our traditional produstsi@w technologies gain acceptar
e Our ability to maintain appropriate inventory lev@nd purchase commitmer

e Price and product competition in the communicatiand networking industries, which can change rapitile tc
technological innovatior

*  The overall movement toward industry consolidaBomong both our competitors and our custorr

e Our dependence on sales of our products by charamtiers, the timing of their replenishment ordéns, potentie
for conflicts and competition involving our channghrtners and large end use customers and the tiabtéor
consolidation among our channel partn

e Variations in sales channels, product cost or mproducts sold

« Delays in receiving product acceptance from certaistomers as defined under contract, for shipmesds the er
of a reporting perioc

e Our ability to maintain high levels of product sopf

e Manufacturing and customer order lead tin

*  Fluctuations in our gross margin, and the factoas$ tontribute to this as described bel

«  Our ability to achieve cost reductiot

e The ability of our customers, channel partners, suppliers to obtain financing or to fund capitependitures
e Our ability to execute on our strategy and opegapilans;

- Benefits anticipated from our investments in engiiray, sales and marketing activiti

*  The effects of climate change; a

*  The effects of political or economic conditionsrréeist attacks, acts of war, or other unrest irtaie internation:
markets.

As a result, operating results for a particulaufatperiod are difficult to predict, and prior réslware not necessarily indicati
of results to be expected in future periods. Anythef above mentioned factors, or other factorsudised elsewhere in tt
document, could have a material adverse effectuoiosiness, results of operations and financiatitmn that could adverse
affect our stock price.

Our revenue for a particular period can be difficuto predict, and a shortfall in revenue may harnmuiooperating
results.

As a result of the many factors discussed in thiort, our revenue for a particular quarter isidift to predict and wil
fluctuate from quarter to quarter. Our typical pattof customer orders requests product delivethima short period followin
receipt of an order. Consequently, we do not carsignificant order backlog, and are dependent uuaining orders an
completing delivery in accordance with shippingrsrwithin each quarter to achieve our targetedmees. Our net sales m
grow at a slower rate than in previous quartennay decline. Our ability to meet financial expeictas could also be affected



the variable sales patterns seen in prior quaremsr in future quarters. We have experienced geriaf time during whic
manufacturing issues have delayed shipments, Igdadimariable shipping patterns. In addition, te &xtent that manufacturi
issues and any related component shortages rasdélayed shipments in the future, and particularlguarters in which w
and our subcontractors are operating at higheldesecapacity, it is possible that revenue forumnter could be advers:
affected, and we may not be able to remediatedhditons within the same quarter.
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In the past, long manufacturing lead times havesedwur customers to place the same order muliiples. This multiple
ordering, along with other factors, may cause dlififiy in predicting our sales and, as a resultJetaupair our ability to manag
parts inventory effectively.

We plan our operating expense levels based priynamilforecasted revenue levels. These expensethanchpact of longerm
commitments are relatively fixed in the short ter&.shortfall in revenue could lead to operatinguitss being belov
expectations because we may not be able to quiekliyce these fixed expenses in response to shortigsiness changes.

General economic conditions may reduce our revenaes harm our operating results.

Economic conditions in the latter part of 2008 andch of 2009 contributed to a slowdown in telecominations industn
spending, including specific market segments inclwhwe operate. The potential reoccurrence of tiresels and their duratic
and depth are difficult to predict. Capital spemgdfar network infrastructure projects of our largesstomers could be delay
or cancelled in response to reduced consumer apgntitjht capital markets or declining liquidityetrds. Sustained trends
this nature could have a material adverse affectuwmevenues, results of operations and finardadition.

Our exposure to the credit risks of our customensdadistributors may make it difficult to collect @ounts receivabli
and could adversely affect our operating resultscafinancial condition.

Most of our sales are on an open credit basisuéetly with payment terms of 30 to 45 days in thetéd States and typical
longer in many geographic markets outside the drfiates. As our business in international regemands, ADTRANS total
accounts receivable balance will likely increaser @ays sales outstanding could also increaserasudt of greater mix ¢
international sales. Additionally, internationalvie may not provide the same degree of protecti@inagdefaults on accour
receivable as provided under United States lawgigning domestic transactions; therefore, as oeriiattional business grow
we may be subject to higher bad debt expense cedparhistorical trends. Overall, we monitor indival customer payme
capability in granting such open credit arrangemseseek to limit such open credit to amounts webelthe customers can pi
and maintain reserves we believe are adequatevir exposure for doubtful accounts. In the courfseun sales to customel
we may encounter difficulty collecting accountseaigable and could be exposed to risks associatddumicollectible accoun
receivable. We may be exposed to similar credksriglating to collections from distributors of gouroducts, and we app
similar processes to monitor and reserve for amposures. The recent turmoil in the financial maskeduld impact certain «
our customersability to maintain adequate credit facilities withancial institutions, thereby potentially impig their ability
to pay their debts. While we attempt to monitorstheituations carefully and attempt to take appatgmeasures to colle
accounts receivable balances, there are no asssrave can avoid accounts receivable write downsrige off of doubtful
accounts. Such write-downs or writéfs could negatively affect our operating restitts the period in which they occur, a
could potentially have a material adverse effecoonresults of operations and financial condition.

We expect gross margin to vary over time, and awdl of product gross margin may not be sustainable

Our level of product gross margins may not be sugbde and may continue to be adversely affectedhdoyperous factor:
including:

*  Changes in customer, geographic, or product metuding the mix of configurations within each pratigroup;
« Introduction of new products by competitors, inéhgiproducts with pric-performance advantage

e Our ability to reduce product co:

* Increases in material or labor cc

*  Expediting costs incurred to meet customer deliveguirements

«  Excess inventory and inventory holding char¢

e Obsolescence charge

e Changes in shipment volurr

* Loss of cost savings due to changes in componé@ihgror charges incurred due to inventory holdiggiods if part
ordering does not correctly anticipate product deah
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e Lower than expected benefits from value enginee

« Increased price competition, including competifoosn Asia, especially Chin:
e Changes in distribution channe

* Increased warranty cos

» Liquidated damages costs relating to customer aotual terms; an

*  Our ability to manage the impact of foreign curnelegchange rate fluctuations relating to pricingptw internation:
customers

We must continue to update and improve our produatsl develop new products in order to compete amdeep pac
with improvements in telecommunications technology.

The markets for our products are characterizedapydly changing technology, evolving industry stamt$, and continuin
improvements in the telecommunications serviceroffis of common service providers. If technologiestandards applicab
to our products, or common service provider offgsirbased on our products, become obsolete ordaijain widesprea
commercial acceptance, our existing products odyxets under development may become obsolete ornketasle.

Moreover, the introduction of products embodyingvrtechnologies, the emergence of new industry stats] or changes

common service provider offerings could adversélgch our ability to sell our products. For instaneve offer a large numb
of products that apply primarily to the delivery lifjhspeed digital communications over the local lodpzing copper wire
We compete favorably with our competitors by depilg a highperformance line of these products. We market prtsdihat
apply to fiber optic transport in the local loopeWXxpect, however, that use of coaxial cable anbilmwireless access in pla
of local loop access will increase. Also, ntoaditional providers, such as cable television panies, are increasing th
presence in the local loop. To meet the requiresnehthese new delivery systems and to maintaimmanket position, we me
have to develop new products or modify existingdpias.

Our sales and profitability in the past have, sigmificant extent, resulted from our ability totiaipate changes in technolog
industry standards and common service providerriaffs, and to develop and introduce new and entitapceducts. Ou
continued ability to adapt will be a significantfar in maintaining or improving our competitivegion and our prospects f
growth. We cannot assure that we will be able 8poed effectively to changes in technology, industandards, commc
service provider offerings or new product announeei® by our competitors. We also cannot assurewbawvill be able tc
successfully develop and market new products odyrbenhancements, or that these products or eetramts will achiev
market acceptance. Should the rate of decline lessaf certain traditional TDM based products exictiee rate of marke
acceptance and growth in sales of our newdrd&ed products, our revenues may be adverselytedfe&ny failure by us t
continue to anticipate or respond in a cefféctive and timely manner to changes in technglagdustry standards, comm
service provider offerings, or new product annoameets by our competitors, or any significant deliyproduct developmei
or introduction, could have a material adversectften our ability to competitively market our pradisi and on our revenue
results of operations and financial condition.

Our products may not continue to comply with thegrdations governing their sale, which may harm obusiness.

As discussed above under “Business — GovernmentlRion”, in the United States, our products must comply wihous
regulations and standards defined by the Federain@mications Commission and Underwriters LaboratorProducts sol
internationally may be required to comply with ridions or standards established by telecommuitsitauthorities in variot
countries, as well as those of certain internatitroaies. Although we believe our products are exntly in compliance witl
domestic and international standards and regukifiorcountries in which we currently sell, there ¢g no assurance that:
will be able to design our products to comply weéholving standards and regulations in the futunertier, the cost ¢
complying with the evolving standards and regulaioor the failure to obtain timely domestic oreign regulatory approva
or certification such that we may not be able {b@@ products where these standards or regulat@mply, may adversely affe
our results of operations and financial condition.
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Our failure or the failure of our contract manufaatrers to comply with applicable environmental regtions could
adversely impact our results of operations.

The manufacture, assembly and testing of our pitsdutay require the use of hazardous materials dhatsubject ti
environmental, health and safety regulations. @ilurfe or the failure of our contract manufactutersomply with any of thes
applicable requirements could result in regulatoepalties, legal claims or disruption of productitmaddition, our failure ¢
the failure of our contract manufacturers to properanage the use, transportation, emission, digehatorage, recycling
disposal of hazardous materials could subject usd@ased costs or liabilities. Existing and fetenvironmental regulatio!
may restrict our use of certain materials to maciufe, assemble and test products. Any of thessetpuences could advers
impact our results of operations by increasingesyrenses and/or requiring us to alter our manufiacfyrocesses.

If our products do not interoperate with our custa@rs’ networks, installations may be delayed or cancelethich could
harm our business.

Our products must interface with existing networkach of which may have different specificatiorntdjze multiple protoco
standards and incorporate products from other wsnddany of our customergietworks contain multiple generations
products that have been added over time as theseonks have grown and evolved. Our products mayrdsired tc
interoperate with many or all of the products wittihese networks as well as future products inror@eneet our customers’
requirements. If we find errors in the existingtaafre or defects in the hardware used in our custsmetworks, we may hav
to modify our software or hardware to fix or ovamo® these errors so that our products will interagemwith the existin
software and hardware. Such issues may affecthilityeo obtain product acceptance from other oostrs. Implementation «
product corrections involving interoperability igsucould increase our costs and adversely affeaiesults of operations.

The lengthy approval process required by ILECs amther service providers for new products could r#sin
fluctuations in our revenue.

In the industry in which we compete, a supplier tiust obtain product approval from an ILEC or etlservice provider to se
its products to them. This process can last fromail8 months, or longer, depending on the tedgglthe service provide
and the demand for the product from the serviceiger’'s subscribers. Consequently, we are involved iarstant process i
submitting for approval succeeding generationsrotipcts, as well as products that deploy new telcigryoor respond to ne'
technology demands from an ILEC or other serviaviger. We have been successful in the past iniribtathese approval
However, we cannot be certain that we will obtdiese approvals in the future or that sales of tpesducts will continue t
occur. Furthermore, the delay in sales until thmgletion of the approval process, the length ofclhis difficult to predict
could result in fluctuations of revenue and unewperating results from quarter to quarter or yearear.

We engage in research and development activitiesniprove the application of developed technologiesid as &
consequence may miss certain market opportunitiapged by larger companies with substantially greatesearch anc
development efforts who may focus on more leadidge development.

A portion of our research and development actisiiee focused on the refinement and redefinitioaazess technologies tt
are currently accepted and commonly practiced, vhiay include emerging technologies not yet widbstributed across a
networks. These research and development effostdtrin improved applications of technologies fohigh demand alreac
exists or is latent. We rarely engage in researofegts that represent a vast departure from thecubusiness practices of ¢
key customers. This includes pioneering new sesvazel participating in leading edge field trialsdemonstration projects fi
new technologies. While we believe our strategwiges a higher likelihood of producing nearer temwenue streams, tt
strategy could reduce our ability to influence istly standards and share in the establishmentteliéotual property right
associated with new technologies, and could reaulbst revenue opportunities should a new techyplachieve rapid an
widespread market acceptance.
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We depend heavily on sales to certain customerg kbss of any of these customers would significgntéduce oul
revenues and net income.

Historically, a large percentage of our sales Haaen made to ILECs and major independent telecormations companies. |
2009, these customers continued to comprise oviéroaur revenue. As long as the ILECs and othervise provider:
represent such a substantial percentage of ourstles, our future success will significantly degeipon certain factors whic
are not within our control, including:

e the timing and size of future purchase ordersnyf, from these customer
e the product requirements of these custon

« the financial and operational success of thesemes;

e the impact of legislative and regulatory changesh@se customer

e the success of these custon’ services deployed using our products;

e the impact of work stoppages at these custor

Sales to our large customers have, in the pastutited and may fluctuate significantly from quattequarter and year to ye
The loss of, or a significant reduction or delaydales to any such customer or the occurrencele$ ductuations could have
material adverse effect on our business and resfibperations. Further, any attempt by an ILEGtirer service provider 1
seek out additional or alternative suppliers ounalertake, as permitted under applicable regulgtitme production of the:
products internally, could have a material adveff§&ct on our operating results.

There has been a trend toward industry consolidatioour markets for several years. We expect tt@ed to continue &
companies attempt to strengthen or hold their napksitions and as companies are acquired or aablerto continu
operations. This could lead to variability in oysepating results and could have a material adveffeet on our busines
operating results, and financial condition. In diddi, particularly in the service provider marketpid consolidation will lead t
fewer customers, with the effect that a loss ofaomcustomer could have a material impact on esults that we would ni
have anticipated in a marketplace composed of momgerous participants.

Our strategy of outsourcing a portion of our manudéuring requirements to subcontractors located irsid may resul
in us not meeting our cost, quality or performanséndards.

We are heavily dependent on two subcontractorstferassembly and testing of certain printed cirtgiard assemblie
subassemblies, chassis, enclosures and equipmelreshand the purchase of raw materials used éh sgsemblies. Th
reliance involves several risks, including the waikbility of, or interruptions in, access to cémtgrocess technologies a
reduced control over product quality, delivery shiles, transportation, manufacturing yields andscd&’/e may not be able
provide product volumes to our subcontractors #rathigh enough to achieve sufficient cost savitfgshipments fall belov
forecasted levels, we may incur increased costeaequired to take ownership of excess inventioryaddition, a significar
component of maintaining cost competitiveness ésahility of our subcontractors to adjust their ogasts to compensate 1
possible adverse exchange rate movements. To teatetkat the subcontractors are unable to do s, vwee are unable 1
procure alternative product supplies, then our campetitiveness and results of operations coulddsersely impaired. The:
risks may be exacerbated by economic or politicalentainties, terrorist actions, the effects ofnelie change, natural disast
or pandemics in the foreign countries in which sulbcontractors are located.

To date, we believe that we have successfully mesh#tge risks of our dependence on these subcomtsatirough a variety ¢
efforts, which include seeking and developing aki¢ive subcontractors while maintaining existingtienships; however, w
cannot assure you that delays in product deliveridisnot occur in the future because of shortagEsulting from this limitec
number of subcontractors or from the financial ¢heo difficulties of these parties. Our inabilitp develop alternativ
subcontractors if and as required in the futurether need to undertake required retraining andraticévities related t
establishing and developing a new subcontractatiogiship, could result in delays or reductiongiriaduct shipments which,
turn, could have a negative effect on our custamlationships and operating results.

Our dependence on a limited number of suppliers n@gvent us from delivering our products on a timdbasis, whict
could have a material adverse effect on customdatiens and operating results.

Certain raw materials and key components used inpoaducts are currently available from only oneirse, and others a
available from only a limited number of sourcese®vailability of these raw materials and suppiesubject to market forct
beyond our control. From time to time, there may® sufficient quantities of raw materials and@igs in the marketplace
meet customer demand. Many companies utilize theesaw materials and supplies that we do in thelyetion of theil
products. Companies with more resources than our may have a competitive advantage in obtaining maaterials ani
supplies due to greater buying power. These fac@msresult in reduced supply, higher prices of naaterials, and delays in t
receipt of certain of our key components, whichtim may generate increased costs, lower margims,dalays in produc



delivery, with a corresponding adverse effect otessacustomer relationships, and revenue. Furthermdue to gener
economic conditions in the United States and glghalr suppliers may experience financial diffioes, which could result
increased delays, additional costs, or loss ofoplger. We attempt to manage these risks througeldping alternative sourci
by staging inventories at strategic locations, Wlgtoengineering efforts designed to obviate theessty of certain componer
and by building longerm relationships and close contact with eachunfsoippliers; however, we cannot assure you thaise
in or failures of deliveries of key componentsheitto us or to our contract manufacturers, ancdeguent delays in prodi
deliveries, will not occur in the future.
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We compete in markets that have become increasirggignpetitive, which may result in reduced gross firanargins
and market share.

The markets for our products are intensely competitAdditional manufacturers have entered the m®iarkn recent years
offer products in competition with us. Additionallgertain companies have, in recent years, develtipe ability to delive
coaxial cable and cellular transmission, especiallyigh-density metropolitan areas. Competition would fartimcrease if ne\
companies enter the market or existing competiésggand their product lines. Some of these potentabpetitors may hav
greater financial, technological, manufacturindesand marketing, and personnel resources thahawe. As a result, the:
competitors may be able to respond more rapidleféectively to new or emerging technologies andngjes in custome
requirements, withstand significant price decreasesevote greater resources to the developmentgtion, and sale of the
products than we can.

In addition, our present and future competitors fnayable to enter our existing or future marketh wroducts or technologi
comparable or superior to those that we offer. #aréase in competition could cause us to redu@egrdecrease our marl
share, require increased spending by us on pratkwalopment and sales and marketing, or cause slelagancellations i
customer orders, any one of which could reduce gross profit margins and adversely affect our bessnand results
operations.

Our estimates regarding future warranty obligatiomaay change due to product failure rates, shipmeatumes, fielc
service obligations and other rework costs incurrgdcorrecting product failures. If our estimateshange, the liability
for warranty obligations may be increased or decsed, impacting future cost of goods sold.

Our products are highly complex, and we cannot rassou that our extensive product development, fauring anc
integration testing will be adequate to detecdalfiects, errors, failures and quality issues. Quali performance problems f
products covered under warranty could adversehaohpur reputation and negatively affect our opegatesults and financii
position. The development and production of newdpots with high complexity often involves problemdth software,
components and manufacturing methods. If signifieeerranty obligations arise due to reliability qurality issues arising froi
defects in software, faulty components, or manuf@ng methods, our operating results and finanpiasition could be
negatively impacted by:

»  costs associated with fixing software or hardwasteds;

*  high service and warranty expens

* high inventory obsolescence exper

» delays in collecting accounts receival

*  payment of liquidated damages for performance fadlyanc

» adecline in sales to existing custom:

Managing our inventory is complex and may includeite-downs of excess or obsolete inventory.

Managing our inventory of components and finisheddpcts is complicated by a number of factors,udiig the need t
maintain a significant inventory of certain compotsethat are in short supply, that must be purahasebulk to obtair
favorable pricing or that require long lead timébese issues may result in our purchasing and eiaing significant amount
of inventory, which if not used or expected to Isedi based on anticipated production requiremendy, Il|ecome excess

obsolete. Any excess or obsolete inventory cowdd egsult in sales price reductions and/or invegmiaite-downs, which couls
adversely affect our business and results of ojpaisat

17




Table of Contents

We may pursue acquisitions, which may expose us toumber of risks. If we are unable to mitigate the risks, oul
business may be negatively impacted.

We may acquire or invest in other businesses arento joint ventures to expand our product pdidfoacquire intellectue
property, or extend our presence in certain marléatyg such acquisition may require the use of cttghjssue or assumption
debt, or the issue of equity, and may result imificantly increased financing costs or result e tdilution of existing
shareholder interests. The acquisition processsahdequent integration of new investments may timanagemens’ attentior
from normal daily operations of the business andseaharm to our existing operations. These invesisnmay result il
impairment charges and other cost amortizations. dAtenot assure that revenues from acquired invessmeill offset
additional costs incurred. If we are unable to sgstully address the potential risks associatel thi#¢se transactions, they
result in a negative impact on our business, resiflbperations and financial condition.

Increased sales volume in international markets ¢dwesult in increased costs or loss of revenue dodactors inheren
in these markets.

We are in the process of expanding into internafionarkets, which represented 5.7% of our net s@e®009, and w
anticipate increased sales from these markets. Werdly maintain regional sales offices in eachhef following locations
Melbourne and Sydney, Australia; Montreal, Ottawad Toronto, Canada; Mexico, D.F., Mexico; Hong B@and Beijing
China; Singapore; and Bramley, United Kingdom. Anter of factors inherent to these markets expoge significantly more
risk than domestic business, including:

* local economic and market conditiol

e exposure to unknown customs and practi

*  potential economic or political unrest, terroristians, the effects of climate change, naturalstesa or pandemic
-  foreign currency exchange rate expos

e unexpected changes in, or impositions of, legiaatir regulatory requirement

* less regulation of patents or other safeguardstefléctual property; an

« difficulties in collecting accounts receivable dadal governmer's inability to enforce lawful business practic

Any of these factors, or others of which we are aatrently aware, could result in increased cos$teperation or loss ¢
revenue.

We may be adversely affected by fluctuations inreuncy exchange rates.

Historically our sales to international customend gurchases from international suppliers have egsacted in United Stat
currency; therefore, we have not entered into fprecurrency forward contracts or other hedgingrimeents. As ou
international sales increase or as utilizationnéérinational suppliers expands, we may transadtiadal business in currenci
other than United States currency. As a result,wile be subject to the possibility of greater etfeof foreign currenc
exchange translation on our financial statemerakesScontract commitments and accounts receivatiémbes based on forei
currency expose us to potential risk of loss asvelae of the United States dollar fluctuates awee. In addition, for thos
countries outside the United States where we hiavefisant sales or significant purchases of sugmplidevaluation in the loc
currency could make our products more expensivetdigtomers to purchase or increase our operatisig,cinereby adverse
affecting our competitiveness. In the future, weyreater into foreign currency forward contractsotrer hedging instrumen
to protect against reductions in value and thetilityaof future cash flows caused by changes irefgn currency exchang
rates. If used, the contracts and other hedginguiments will be intended to reduce, but not el the impact of foreig
currency exchange rate movements; therefore, wergky would not anticipate hedging all outstandfogeign currency risk
There can be no assurance that exchange ratedtigeis in the future will not have a material adeeceffect on our reveni
from international sales, manufacturing costs, ltesf operations and financial condition.

Our success depends on our ability to reduce thiérgeprices of succeeding generations of our procia.

Our strategy is to attempt to increase unit sadames and market share each year by introducingesding generations
products having lower selling prices and increafsedtionality as compared to prior generations afdoicts. To maintain ¢
increase our revenues and margins while continthigy strategy, we mustontinue, in some combination, to increase <
volumes of existing products, introduce and sell peoducts, or reduce our per unit costs at ratéficent to compensate ft
the reduced revenue effect of continuing reductionthe average sales prices of our products. Wieataassure you that v
will be able to maintain or increase revenues orgina by increasing unit sales volumes of our potsiuintroducing and sellir
new products, or reducing unit costs of our prosluct
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Our failure to maintain rights to intellectual proprty used in our business could adversely affect tthevelopmen
functionality, and commercial value of our products

Our future success depends in part upon our prapyié¢echnology. Although we attempt to protect puoprietary technolog
by contract, trademark, copyright and patent regfistn, and internal security, these protectionsy mat be adequat
Furthermore, our competitors can develop similahtelogy independently without violating our pragtary rights. From tim
to time we receive and may continue to receivecestdf claims alleging that we are infringing upatents or other intellectu
property. Any of these claims, whether with or witlh merit, could result in significant legal feelyert our managemerst’
time, attention and resources; delay our produginsénts; or require us to enter into royalty oetising agreements. We can
predict whether we will prevail in any claims didation over alleged infringements, or whetherwitt be able to license ar
valid and infringed patents, or other intellectpedperty, on commercially reasonable terms. Ifanclof intellectual propert
infringement against us is successful and we faibbtain a license or develop or license ndninging technology, ou
business, financial condition, and operating restdiuld be affected adversely.

Software under license from third parties for use certain of our products may not continue to beabable to us or
commercially reasonable terms.

We integrate thirgsarty software into certain of our products. Licengor this technology may not be available or icora to
be available to us on commercially reasonable teBifBculties with third party technology licensocould result in terminatic
of such licenses, which may result in increasedscos require us to purchase or develop a sulssttethnology. Difficulty
obtaining and maintaining thindarty technology licenses may disrupt developménbw products and increase our co
which could harm our business.

We may incur liabilities or become subject to ligition that would have a material effect on our busiss.

In the ordinary course of business, we accept @mselorders, and enter into sales and other retatgdacts, for the marketin
sale, manufacture, distribution, or use of our patsl and services. We may incur liabilities relgtio our performance und
such agreements, or which result from damage clainssng from certain events as outlined within fieaticular contrac
While we attempt to structure all agreements tduithe normal protection clauses, such agreementsno@glways contain, ¢
be subject to, maximum loss clauses, and liaksliigsing from them may result in significant acdeechanges to our results
operations and financial condition.

In the ordinary course of business, we may be subgevarious legal proceedings and claims, ineigdtmployment dispute
patent claims, disputes over contract agreement®trer commercial disputes. In some cases, clagsmek damages, or otl
relief, such as royalty payments related to patemisch, if granted, could require significant erdéures. Any such disputi
may be resolved before trial, or if litigated, mag resolved in our favor; however, the cost ofmkasustained in litigation, at
costs associated with the litigation process, matybe covered by our insurance. Such costs, anddhe@nds on managem
time during such an event, could harm our busiaesshave a material adverse effect on our liqujdégults of operations ai
financial condition.

Consolidation and deterioration in the competitiwervice provider market could result in a signifisadecrease in ou
revenue.

We sell a moderate volume of products directlynalirectly to competitive service providers who catgwith the establishe
ILECs. The competitive service provider market xperiencing a process of consolidation. Many of campetitive servic
provider customers do not have a strong finanaisitn and have limited ability to access the mulhancial markets fo
additional funding for growth and operations. Ifeoor more of these competitive service provideilsige could face a loss |
revenue and an increased bad debt expense, dieitartability to pay outstanding invoices, as wa#l the correspondir
decrease in customer base and future revenue.efumthe, significant portions of our sales to coritpvet service providers ai
made through independent distributors. The faibfrene or more competitive service providers calib negatively affect tr
financial position of a distributor to the pointaththe distributor could also experience businedlsire and/or default o
payments to us.
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We depend on distributors who maintain inventoriesour products. If the distributors reduce theinventories of thes
products, our sales could be adversely affected.

We work closely with our distributors to monitorasinel inventory levels and ensure that appropitatels of product ar
available to resellers and end users. If our dhigtars reduce their levels of inventory of our protd, our sales would t
negatively impacted during the period of change.

If we are unable to successfully develop relationshwith system integrators, service providers, atterprise value
added resellers, our sales may be negatively affé.ct

As part of our sales strategy, we are targetingegsysntegrators (SIs), service providers (SPs), emrprise value add:
resellers (VARs). In addition to specialized tedahiexpertise, Sls, SPs and VARs typically offeptasticated servic
capabilities that are frequently desired by entsepcustomers. In order to expand our distributibannel to include reselle
with such capabilities, we must be able to providtective support to these resellers. If our salaayketing or servic
capabilities are not sufficient to provide effeetisupport to such Sls, SPs and VARS, our saleshmayegatively affected, ai
current SI, SP and VAR partners may terminate tfedationships with us, which would adversely impaiwr sales and over:
results of operations.

If we fail to manage our exposure to worldwide fineial and securities markets successfully, our oatng results anc
financial statements could be materially impacted.

We are exposed to financial market risks, includihgnges in interest rates and prices of marketdpléity and fixedhcome
securities. The primary objective of the large migjoof our investment activities is to preservénpipal while at the same tin
achieving appropriate yields without significanilycreasing risk. To achieve this objective, a mnigjoof our marketabl
securities are investment grade municipal fixat bonds, municipal variable rate demand notdsnamicipal money marki
instruments denominated in United States dollars.Hae held no municipal auction rate securitiesesFebruary 7, 2008.

We have significant investments in municipal fixede bonds and municipal variable rate demand n®tesugh December 3
2009, we have not been required to impair any e$¢hinvestments; however, we may experience atiedun value or loss ¢
liquidity in these investments, which may have dwuegise effect on our results of operations, ligyidind financial conditior
Fixed rate interest securities may have their ¥aiue adversely impacted due to a rise in interats, while variable ra
securities may produce less income than expectideifest rates fall. Our investments are subjeadneral credit, liquidity
market, and interest rate risks, which may be exated by conditions in the financial markets aathted credit liquidity
issues. Consequently, our future investment incamg fall short of expectation due to changes iereggt rates, or we mi
suffer losses in principal if we are forced to selturities that decline in fair value due to ctemniy interest rates.

Our longterm investments include $33.5 million of marke¢akljuity securities. Because of the strained creditkets an
deteriorating equity market conditions that congiduduring the first quarter of 2009, we recordeteptthan temporar
impairment charges of $2.0 million related to ouamrketable equity securities, $0.4 million relatedttie fixed income bon
fund, and $0.5 million related to the deferred cemgation plan assets during the year ended Dece3tbe2009. Al
December 31, 2009, our total marketable equity s, which included more than 375 individual séites, had ne
unrealized gains of $23.7 million, which includes anrealized gain of $21.7 million related to ag&nsecurity. If marke
conditions deteriorate in 2010, we may be requitedecord additional impairment charges relate@uo marketable equit
securities.

See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of FirmnCondition and Results of OperationsLigquidity and Capita
Resources” in Item 7, Part Il of this report andu&@titative and Qualitative Disclosures about MaR&sk” in Item 7A, Part II
of this report for more information about our intraents.

Changes in our effective tax rate or assessmentsiag from tax audits may have an adverse impactaur results.

We are subject to taxation in various jurisdictiob®th domestically and internationally, in whiche veonduct busines
Significant judgment is required in the determioatiof our provision for income taxes and this defaation requires th
interpretation and application of complex and somes$ uncertain tax laws and regulations. Our eiffectax rate may b
adversely impacted by changes in the mix of eambetween jurisdictions with different statutory tates, in the valuation 1
our deferred tax assets, and by changes in tas ard regulations. For instance, the availabilitg #iming of lapses in th
United States research and development tax credit,implications of the Stock Compensation Topic tbé Financia
Accounting Standards Board Accounting Standardsfication (FASB ASC), the accounting of uncertaéx ositions and th
amount of our estimated tax deduction for manufacts domestic production activities under Internal &me Codi
Section 199 may add more variability to our futafiective tax rates. We currently receive corpomteme tax credits under a

20






Table of Contents

program administered by the Alabama State IndusD&elopment Authority in connection with revenbends issued t
provide funding for expansion of our corporate liies. We cannot be certain that the state of Atah will continue to mak
these corporate income tax credits available; fbhezewe may not realize the full benefit of théseentives, which woul
increase our effective tax rate. In addition, we smbject to examination of our income tax retlipsthe Internal Revent
Service and various other jurisdictions in which eanduct business. We regularly assess the likatitaf adverse outcom:
resulting from these examinations to determineaitiequacy of our provision for income taxes. Thene loe no assurance tl
the outcomes from these continuous examinationsnaeil have an adverse affect on our results of aifmers and financie
condition.

Our success depends on attracting and retaining keysonnel.

Our business has grown significantly since its jitics. Our success is dependent in large part ercdimtinued employment
our executive officers, including Thomas R. Stantoar Chief Executive Officer, and other key mamagat personnel. TF
unplanned departure of one or more of these indal&l could adversely affect our business. In aaiditfor ADTRAN to
continue as a successful entity we must also ke takdttract and retain key engineers and techmgcighose expertise helps
maintain competitive advantages. We do not havd@myent contracts or nocempete agreements with any of our employ
We believe that our future success will dependaige part, upon our ability to continue to attraetain, train, and motiva
highly-skilled employees who are in great demartdclS option grants are designed to reward emplojeetheir longterm
contributions and to provide incentives for themrémain with us. The provisions of the Stock Congagion Topic of th
FASB ASC require us to record significantly increéicompensation costs as compared to prior acemuniies, which ma
cause us to restrict the availability and amourgafity incentives provided to employees. Changesit overall compensatic
program, including our stock option incentive praogr may also adversely affect our ability to retedy employees. Proper
managing our continued growth, avoiding the prolslesften resulting from such growth and expansiom eontinuing tc
operate in the manner which has proven successfid to date will be critical to the future successur business.

Regulatory and potential physical impacts of clirmathange may affect our customers and our productigperations,
resulting in adverse affects on our operating retul

There is a growing political and scientific conagnthat emissions of greenhouse gases continugetdtae composition of th
atmosphere, affecting largesale weather patterns and the global climateppears that some form of U.S. federal regula
related to greenhouse gas emissions may occuraanaguch regulation could result in the creatioradditional costs in th
form of taxes or emission allowances. The impadrof future legislation, regulations or product@feation requirements ¢
our products and business operations is dependethteodesign of the final mandate or standard, s@me unable to predict |
significance at this time.

The potential physical impacts of climate changeoan customers, suppliers, and on our operatioashahly uncertain, an
will be particular to the circumstances developingvarious geographical regions. These may inclodanges in weath:
patterns (including drought and rainfall levelshter availability, storm patterns and intensitiesean levels and temperat
levels. These potential physical effects may addgraffect our revenues, costs, production andveegji schedules, and cat
harm to our results of operations and financialditon.

While we believe our internal control over finandiaeporting is adequate, a failure to maintain efféve internal control
over financial reporting as our business expandsuta result in a loss of investor confidence in odinancial reports
and have an adverse effect on our stock price.

Section 404 of the Sarban@sdey Act of 2002 requires that we assess the &ffwess of our internal control over financ
reporting as of the end of our fiscal year, andigsa report that states whether or not such inteotrol is effective
Compliance with these requirements requires sicgmifi cost and the commitment of time and staffusses. Expansion of ol
business, particularly in international geographiedl necessitate ongoing changes to our integmatrol systems, process
and information systems. We cannot be certain #isathis expansion occurs, our current design ftermal control ove
financial reporting will be sufficient to enable nagement or our independent registered public adowufirm to determin
that our internal control is effective for any metj or on an ongoing basis. If we or our indepehdegistered public accountir
firm are unable to assert that our internal contradr financial reporting is effective, we coulddoinvestor confidence in tl
accuracy and completeness of our financial statesnetnich could have an adverse effect on our spoite.

The price of our common stock has been volatile andy continue to fluctuate significantly.
Our common stock is traded on the NASDAQ Globak8eMarket under the symbol ADTN. Since our inifiablic offering in

August 1994, there has been, and may continue tgigrificant volatility in the market for our conam stock, based on
variety of factors, including factors listed ingtgection, some of which are beyond our control.

21






Table of Contents

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.
ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our headquarters and principal administrative, megiing and manufacturing facilities are locatedaon80acre campus
Cummings Research Park in Huntsville, Alabama. Bffice buildings contain 440,000 and 600,000 sqdeet, respectivel
and serve both our Carrier Networks and EnterpNst¢works Divisions. These facilities can accommedap to 3,00
employees. We lease a 17,800 square foot engigefardility in Phoenix, Arizona and a 13,400 squia@ engineering facilit
in Mountain View, California that are used to deyeproducts sold by our Carrier Networks Division.

In addition to our facilities listed above, we leasdditional office space in the United States alpiebad, providing sales &
service support for both of our divisions. The Emheffices in the United States are located in @nfisld, MO; Kansas Cit
MO; Littleton, CO; and Milford, MI. We also lease@ office in each of the following locations: Melbboe and Sydne
Australia; Montreal, Ottawa, and Toronto, Canada&xMo, D.F., Mexico; Hong Kong and Beijing, Chir@ingapore; ar
Bramley, United Kingdom. These cancelable and camcelable leases expire at various times througftB.2For mor
information, see Note 10 of the Notes to Consodiddtinancial Statements included in this report.

We also have numerous sales and support staff toippriom homebased offices serving both our Carrier Networks
Enterprise Networks Divisions, which are locatethi the United States and abroad.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We have been involved from time to time in litigetiin the normal course of our business. We areawate of any pending
threatened litigation matters that could have eenwtadverse effect on us.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDER

No matter was submitted by ADTRAN to a vote of géglholders during the fiscal quarter ended Decengi, 2009

ITEM 4A. EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

Set forth below, in accordance with General IndtamcG (3) of Form 10-K and Instruction 3 of Iter@4b) of Regulation %,

is certain information regarding the executive adfs of ADTRAN. Unless otherwise indicated, theoiniation set forth is as
December 31, 2009.

Thomas R. Stanton Age 45
2007 to preser Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Bo
2005- 2007 Chief Executive Officer and Direct
2001- 2005 Senior Vice President and General Manager, Caxigworks
1999- 2001 Vice President and General Manager, Carrier Nets
1995- 1999 Vice President, Carrier Networks Marketi
1995 Vice President, Marketing & Engineeri— Transcrypt International, In
1994- 1995 Senior Director, Marketin— E.F. Johnson Compal
1993- 1994 Director, Marketinc— E.F. Johnson Compat
James E. Matthews Age 53
2007 to preser Senior Vice Presidel— Finance, Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer, Seagetind Directo
2001- 2007 Senior Vice Presidei— Finance, Chief Financial Officer and Treast
1999- 2001 Chief Financial Office— Home Wireless Networks, In
1998- 1999 Chief Executive Office— Miltope Group, Inc
1995- 1998 Vice President, Finance and Chief Financial Off— Miltope Group, Inc
1992- 1995 Controller— Hughes Training, Inc
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Michael K. Foliano Age 49
2006 to preser Senior Vice Presidel— Global Operation
2005- 2006 Senior Vice President, Sales, Services and Suppdyn— Somera Communications Ir
2004- 2005 Senior Vice President, Global Operati— Somera Communications, Ir
2002- 2004 Senior Director, Global Logistics and Customer @iens— Lucent Technologie
2001- 2002 Executive General Manager, Mobility Supply Ch— Lucent Technologie
2000- 2001 Stanford University Sloan Fello— Lucent Technologie
1997- 2000 Vice President, Global Provisioning Cen— Lucent Technologie
1995- 1997 Manufacturing Operations Plant Mana— Lucent Technologies/AT&T Network Syster
Raymond R. Schansmat Age 53
2006 to preser Senior Vice President and General Manager, Entarpetworks
2001- 2006 Vice President, Carrier Networks Engineer

1998- 2001 Engineering Director, Carrier Networks Syste

1996- 1998 Engineering Manager, Enterprise Networks Syst

1989- 1996 Program Manage— SCI Systems, Inc

1986- 1989 Vice President, System and Product Enginee— General Digital Industrie
1983- 1986 Senior Design Engine— General Digital Industrie

James D. Wilson, Jr.
2006 to preser

Age 39
Senior Vice President and General Manager, Caxatworks

2005- 2006 Vice President, Product Marketing, Carrier Netwc

2002- 2005 Director, Product Management, Carrier Netwc

1998- 2002 Director, Product Management, Loop Technologiesri@aNetworks
1996- 1998 Manager, Engineering Operatic— Wyle Laboratories, Inc

1992- 1996 Manager, Program Developme— Wyle Laboratories, Inc

Robert A. Fredrickson
1996 to preser

1996
1991- 1996

. Steven Locke
2005 to preser

Age 59

Vice Presiden— Carrier Networks Sale

Vice President, Broadband Business Developr— DSC Communications Corporatit
Senior Director, Access Produ— DSC Communications Corporatit

Age 61
Vice Presiden— Service Provider Sale

2000- 2005 Vice President, Marketing, Carrier Netwol

1999- 2000 Vice Presiden— Sprint Local Division Sales for Lucent Technolog

1997- 1999 Senior Director of Sale— ADTRAN, Inc.

1993- 1997 Vice President and General Manager, Business Nkt@ooup, Sprint North Suppl
Kevin W. Schneider Age 46

2003 to preser Vice Presiden— Chief Technology Office

1999- 2003 Vice Presiden— Technology

1996- 1999 Chief Scientis

1992- 1996 Staff Scientis

There are no family relationships among our dinecty executive officers. All officers are electthually by, and serve at
discretion of, the Board of Directors of ADTRAN.
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PART Il

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANTS COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

ADTRAN'’s common stock is traded on the NASDAQ Global Seléarket under the symbol ADTN. As of February 51Q
ADTRAN had 273 stockholders of record and approxétya32,348 beneficial owners of shares held ieedtmame. Tt
following table shows the high and low closing pa@er share for our common stock as reported b$IXQ for the perioc

indicated.
Common Stock Prices
High Low
2009
First Quartel $ 16.71 $ 13.8¢
Second Quarte $ 21.4¢ $ 16.7C
Third Quartel $ 25.0¢ $ 20.7¢
Fourth Quarte $ 25.71 $ 20.4¢
2008
First Quarte! $ 21.17 $ 17.3:2
Second Quarte $ 25.6¢ $ 18.8¢
Third Quartel $ 26.0¢ $ 19.04
Fourth Quarte $ 19.5¢ $ 12.31

The following table shows the dividends paid infegoarter of 2009 and 2008. The Board of Direcpresently anticipates tt
it will declare a regular quarterly dividend so dpas the present tax treatment of dividends eaistisadequate levels of liquid
are maintained.

Dividends per Common Share

2009 2008
First Quarte! $ 0.0¢ $ 0.0¢
Second Quarte $ 0.0¢ $ 0.0¢
Third Quartel $ 0.0¢ $ 0.0¢
Fourth Quarte $ 0.0¢ $ 0.0¢

Stock Repurchases
The following table sets forth ADTRAN's repurchasdsts common stock for the months indicated.

Total Number of Maximum Number

Total Shares Purchased ¢ of Shares that May
Number of Part of Publicly Yet Be Purchasec
Shares Average Price Pait Announced Plans o Under the Plans ot
Period Purchasec per Share Programs (1) Programs
October 1, 200~ October 31, 200 — — — 3,294,69:
November 1, 200— November 30, 200 596,11! $ 22.0( 596,11! 2,698,57
December 1, 200- December 31, 200 — — — 2,698,571
Total 596,11! $ 22.0( 596,11!

(1) On April 14, 2008, ADTRANS Board of Directors approved the repurchase dbuy000,000 shares of its common st
This plan is being implemented through open mapkiethases from time to time as conditions wart
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

Income Statement Data (I
(In thousands, except per share amoun

Year Ended December 3 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
Sales
Carrier Networks Divisiol $ 371,34¢ $ 392,21¢ $ 358,020 $ 356,60t $ 386,05
Enterprise Networks Divisio 112,83¢ 108,45 118,75! 116,10: 127,16:
Total sales 484,18! 500,67t 476,77¢ 472,70t 513,21!
Cost of sale: 197,22: 201,77 193,79: 193,74’ 209,89!
Gross profit 286,96 298,90! 282,98t 278,96 303,32(
Selling, general, and administrative
expense: 99,44¢ 103,28t 103,32¢ 102,64¢ 96,41
Research and development exper 83,28¢ 81,81¢ 75,36 70,70( 62,65¢
Operating income 104,23: 113,80( 104,29( 105,61! 144,25!
Interest and dividend incon 6,93: 8,70¢ 11,521 13,49: 10,00:
Interest expens (2,430 (2,519 (2,5072) (2,539 (2,53%)
Net realized investment gain (los (1,299 (2,409 49¢ 1,37¢ 1,712
Other income (expense), r 131 68¢ 764 57C (59)
Life insurance proceec — — 1,00C — —
Income before provision for
income taxes 107,56¢ 118,27: 115,57: 118,52! 153,37:
Provision for income taxe 33,347 39,69: 39,23¢ 40,19: 52,22¢
Net income $ 7422 $§ 7858 $ 76,33% $ 78,33t $ 101,15
Year Ended December 3 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
Weighted average shares outstanding -
basic 62,45¢ 63,54¢ 67,84¢ 73,45 75,77¢
Weighted average shares outstanding —
assuming dilution 2) 63,35¢ 64,40¢ 69,21: 75,197 77,96¢
Earnings per common she— basic $ 1.1¢ $ 1242  $ 1.1: % 1.07 $ 1.3¢
Earnings per common share — assuming
dilution (2) $ 117 % 1.2z % 1.1 % 104 % 1.3C
Dividends declared and paid per comm
share $ 03 $ 03¢ $ 03 $ 03 $ 0.34
Balance Sheet Data (In thousand
At December 3;, 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
Working capital (3’ $ 278,04¢ $ 212,74 $ 251,260 $ 219,63t $ 344,30
Total asset $ 564,46 $ 47361 $ 479,22( $ 539,65 $ 651,72
Total debt $ 4825( $ 48,75( $ 49,00 $ 49,50 $ 50,00(
Stockholder' equity $ 45251 $ 37581¢ $ 37843 $ 43595t $ 542,17

(1) Net income for 2009, 2008, 2007 and 2006 includesk-based compensation expense under the Stock Contipe
Topic of the Financial Accounting Standards Boardcdunting Standards Codification of $6.4 millior. B million
$7.1 million and $7.2 million, respectively, net tafx, related to stock option awards. See Note 2Nofes to th
Consolidated Financial Statemen

(2) Assumes exercise of dilutive stock options caledlainder the treasury method. See Notes 1 and 1Notds t
Consolidated Financial Statemen

(3) ADTRANSs working capital consists of current assets legsent liabilities.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

Overview

ADTRAN, Inc. designs, manufactures, markets andises network access solutions for communicatioasvarks. Ou
solutions are widely deployed by providers of telemunications services (serviced by our Carriemidets Division), an
small and midsized businesses (SMBs) and enterprises (servicedibEnterprise Networks Division), and enablecegidate
video and Internet communications across wirelime &ireless networks. Many of these solutions areently in use by eve
major United States service provider and many dlohas, as well as by many public, private and govental organizatiol
worldwide.

Our success depends upon our ability to increagevalume and market share through the introductbmew products ar
succeeding generations of products having lowdingeprices and increased functionality as compa@doth the pric
generation of a product and to the products of editgyrs. An important part of our strategy is taluee the cost of ea
succeeding product generation and then lower thdyat's selling price based on the cost savings achiavexder to gai
market share and/or improve gross margins. As bgddhis strategy, we seek in most instances ta béh-quality, loweos
provider of products in our markets. Our succesdatie is attributable in large measure to our gbit design our produc
initially with a view to their subsequent redesighipwing both increased functionality and reducsghufacturing costs in ec
succeeding product generation. This strategy esaldeto sell succeeding generations of producexisting customers, whi
increasing our market share by selling these erdthpoducts to new customers.

Our three major product categories are Carrieredyst Business Networking and Loop Access.

Carrier Systems products are used by communications service provitbeprovide last mile access in support of datéce
and video services to consumers and enterprises. Qdrrier Systems category includes our broadbamesa produc
comprised of Total Acces55000 multi-service access and aggregation platfimoducts, Total Access 1100/1200 Series Fiber-
To-TheNode (FTTN) products, and Digital Subscriber LinecAss Multiplexer (DSLAM) products. Our broadbarutes
products are used by service providers to deliigdn-Bpeed Internet access, Voice over Internet ProtdaaP), IP Televisio
(IPTV), and/or Ethernet services from the centféite or remote terminal locations to customer pis&s. The Carrier Syste
category also includes our optical access proditisse products consist of optical access multgteincluding our family «
OPTI products. Optical access products are usatbliver higher bandwidth services, or to aggredatge numbers of lo
bandwidth services for transportation across filygtic infrastructure. Total Access 1500 producf3 8oncentrator produc
M13 multiplexer products, and mobile backhaul picidare also included in the Carrier Systems priocategory.

Business Networkingproducts provide access to telecommunication sesyiacilitating the delivery of converged serviees
Unified Communications to the SMB and Enterpriserkats. The Business Networking category includesriretworking
products, Optical Network Terminals (ONTSs), anceggrated Access Devices (IADs). Internetworking picid consist of ol
Total Access IP Business Gateways and NetVantauptdihes. NetVanta products include mudérvice routers, manag
Ethernet switches, IP Private Branch Exchange (RB¥glucts, IP phone products, Unified Communicatisplutions, ar
Carrier Ethernet Network Terminating Equipment.

Loop Accessproducts are used by carrier and enterprise cusffoe access to coppéased telecommunications netwo
The Loop Access category includes products suctDagtal Data Service (DDS) and Integrated Servifagital Network
(Total Reach) products, High bitte Digital Subscriber Line (HDSL) products indlugl Total Access 3000 HDSL and Ti
Division Multiplexed-Symmetrical HDSL (TDMsHDSL) products, T1/E1/T3, Channel Service UnitséD3ervice Units, ar
TRACER fixed wireless products.

In addition, we identify suloategories of product revenues, which we divide itowth products, representing our primn
growth areas, and traditional products. Our groprdducts consist of Broadband Access and Opticakse products (includ
in Carrier Systems) and Internetworking produatsl(ided in Business Networking) and our traditigmaducts include HDS
products (included in Loop Access) and other pregludlany of our customers are migrating their neksdo deliver highe
bandwidth services by utilizing newer technologi& believe that products in our primary growthaar@osition us well fi
this migration. We anticipate that revenues of mafyur traditional products, including HDSL, altigh declining, ma
continue for years because of the time requiredfiorcustomers to transition to newer technologies.

Sales were $484.2 million in 2009 compared to $60dillion in 2008 and $476.8 million in 2007. Salesreased in each
our primary growth areas, Broadband Access, Op#Aicakss and Internetworking. Total sales of proglictthese three grow
areas increased 13.5% in 2009 compared to 20023986 in 2008 compared to 2007. Our gross profitgmadecreased
2009 to 59.3% from 59.7% in 2008 and 59.4% in 2@ our operating income margin decreased to 2ih52609 compare
to 22.7% in 2008 and 21.9% in 2007. Net income W@4.2 million in 2009 compared to $78.6 million #08 an
$76.3 million in 2007. Earnings per share, assundihgion, were $1.17 in 2009 compared to $1.22008 and $1.10 in 20(
Earnings per share in 2009, 2008 and 2007 reftectépurchase of 0.8 million, 3.1 million and 5.Blion shares of our stoc
respectively
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Our operating results have fluctuated on a quartealsis in the past, and may vary significantlyfuture periods due to
number of factors. We normally operate with vemyldi order backlog. A majority of our sales in eaglarter result fro
customer orders received in that quarter undereageats containing nopminding purchase commitments. Many of
customers require prompt delivery of products. Thiults in a limited backlog of orders and requine to maintain sufficie
inventory levels to satisfy anticipated customemeead. If neaterm demand for our products declines, or if posrsales il
any quarter do not occur as anticipated, our firdmesults could be adversely affected. Operatixigenses are relatively fix
in the short term; therefore, a shortfall in qudyteevenues could significantly impact our finaadaiesults in a given quarter.

Our operating results may also fluctuate as a refuh number of other factors, including a declinggeneral economic a
market conditions, increased competition, custooreder patterns, changes in product mix, timingeddéhces between pr
decreases and product cost reductions, producantgrreturns, expediting costs and announcememgwfproducts by us
our competitors. Additionally, maintaining sufficieinventory levels to assure prompt delivery of puoducts increases
amount of inventory that may become obsolete awcdeases the risk that the obsolescence of thisntoxe may have ¢
adverse effect on our business and operating seAMKo, not maintaining sufficient inventory lesab assure prompt delive
of our products may cause us to incur expeditirgiscto meet customer delivery requirements, whialy megatively impact o
operating results in a given quarter.

Accordingly, our historical financial performancg mot necessarily a meaningful indicator of futuesults, and, in gener
management expects that our financial results naay from period to period. See Note 12 of Note€tmsolidated Financi
Statementd-or a discussion of risks associated with our opiegaresults, see Item 1A of this report.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

An accounting policy is deemed to be critical ifrétquires an accounting estimate to be made baseabsumptions abc
matters that are highly uncertain at the time thtar&ate is made, if different estimates reasonablyld have been used, o
changes in the accounting estimate that are reblolileely to occur could materially impact the véts of financial operation
We believe the following critical accounting poésiaffect our more significant judgments and esésased in the preparat
of our consolidated financial statements. Thesécigsl have been consistently applied across ourrieportable segmen
(1) Carrier Networks Division and (2) Enterprisetierks Division.

*  We review customer contracts to determine if althef requirements for revenue recognition have eenprior t
recording revenues from sales transactions. Werglyneecord sales revenue upon shipment of oudyxts, net ¢
any rebates or discounts, since: (i) we generallnat have significant postelivery obligations, (ii) the product pri
is fixed or determinable, (iii) collection of thesulting receivable is probable, and (iv) prodettims are reasonal
estimable. We generally ship products upon rea#ipt purchase order from a customer. We evaluappisty term:
and we record revenue on products shipped in aanocedwith the terms of each respective contractevapplicable
or under our standard shipping terms for purchaders accepted without a contract, generally FOBpsing point
In the case of consigned inventory, revenue isgeized when the customer assumes ownership ofrtduigt. Whe
contracts contain multiple elements, contract prigtation is sometimes required to determine thpraxpiate
accounting, including whether the deliverables 8pgetin a multiple element contract should be tieglaas separe
units of accounting for revenue recognition purgesed, if so, how the price should be allocatedragrthe elemen
and when to recognize revenue for each elementrattard revenue associated with installation sesvighen th
installation and all contractual obligations arengbete. When contracts include both installatiod gnoduct sale
the installation is considered as a separate dalie item. Either the purchaser, ADTRAN, or adhparty ca
perform installation of our products. Revenuestegldo maintenance services are recognized oraglstiine basi
over the contract tern

e Sales returns are accrued based on historical sstles experience, which we believe provides aopable estima
of future returns. A significant portion of Enteige Networks products are sold in the United Stdtesugh a non-
exclusive distribution network of major technolodigtributors. These organizations then distributean extensiv
network of value-added resellers and system integga Valueadded resellers and system integrators me
affiliated with us as a channel partner, or they mparchase from the distributor on an unaffiliabesis. Additionally
with certain limitations, our distributors may retwnused and unopened product for stbalkancing purposes wh
these returns are accompanied by offsetting ofdeggroducts of equal or greater val
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We participate in cooperative advertising and miadevelopment programs with certain customers. &k thes
programs to reimburse customers for certain forfredeertising, and in general, to allow our custosneredits up t
a specified percentage of their net purchases.cOstis associated with these programs are estinaagéccrued
the time of sale and are included in selling, gahand administrative expenses in our consolidatatements «
income. We also participate in rebate programsréwige sales incentives for certain products. Qasts associat
with these programs are estimated and accruedeatirtte of sale and are recorded as a reductiorales sn ou
consolidated statements of income.

Prior to issuing payment terms to a new customerperform a detailed credit review of the custon@edit limits
and payment terms are established for each newornestbased on the results of this credit reviewlleCtion
experience is reviewed periodically in order toedetine if the customes’payment terms and credit limits need t
revised. We maintain allowances for doubtful acdsdor losses resulting from the inability of owstomers to mal
required payments. If the financial condition of @ustomers deteriorates, resulting in an impaiteoénheir ability
to make payments, we may be required to make additiallowances. If circumstances change with ikge
individual receivable balances that have previolsgn determined to be uncollectible (and for whackpecifis
reserve has been established), a reduction inltmuwamce for doubtful accounts may be required. Gllowance fao
doubtful accounts was $0.1 million at December229 and $38 thousand at December 31, 2008.

e We carry our inventory at the lower of cost orrked, with cost being determined using the firstfirst-out methoc
We use standard costs for material, labor, and faaturing overhead to value our inventory. Our dtad costs a
updated on at least a quarterly basis and anyn@agare expensed in the current period; theretanejnventor
costs approximate actual costs at the end of eepbrting period. We write down our inventory fortiestec
obsolescence or unmarketable inventory by an amequil to the difference between the cost of inmgnand th
estimated fair value based upon assumptions albtwrtef demand and market conditions. If actual fidemand ¢
market conditions are less favorable than thosgegied by management, we may be required to madgi@thl
inventory writedowns. Our reserve for excess and obsolete inwemas $7.8 million and $7.7 million
December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively. Inventerije-downs charged to the reserve were $1.7 mi
$1.0 million and $1.6 million for the years endeddember 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respecti

e« The objective of our shoterm investment policy is to preserve principal andintain adequate liquidity wi
appropriate diversification, while emphasizing nerketurns. The objective of our lomgrm investment policy
principal preservation and total return; that & figgregate return from capital appreciation,dgint income, ar
interest income. These objectives are achievedugfirdnvestments with appropriate diversificationfixed anc
variable rate income securities, public equity, aridate equity portfolios. We have experiencedigant volatility
in the market prices of our publicly traded equityestments. These investments are recorded onahgolidate
balance sheets at fair value with unrealized gaind losses reported as a component of accumuldtes
comprehensive income, net @iX. The ultimate realized value on these equitegtiments is subject to market p
volatility.

In accordance with the Fair Value Measurementsindlosures Topic of the FASB ASC, we have catematiou
cash equivalents held in money market funds andimwestments held at fair value into a thfeeel fair valu
hierarchy based on the priority of the inputs te #aluation technique for the cash equivalents iamdstments ¢
follows: Level 1 —Values based on unadjusted quoted prices for icEngissets or liabilities in an active mar
Level 2 —Values based on quoted prices in markets that aetrective or model inputs that are observable e
directly or indirectly for substantially the fuletm of the asset or liability; Level 3 ~Yalues based on prices
valuation techniques that require inputs that aoth bunobservable and significant to the overalr faalue
measurement. These inputs include information segly investees. At December 31, 2009, we categor$246.
million and $38.1 million of our available-faale investments as Level 2 and Level 1, respdgtigad $18.4 milliol
of our cash equivalents as Leve

We review our investment portfolio for potahtother-than-temporarytieclines in value on an individual investrn
basis. We assess, on a quarterly basis, signifidadines in value which may be considered othantbmporar
and, if necessary, recognize and record the appteprharge to writelown the carrying value of such investment
making this assessment, we take into consideragfimtitative and quantitative information, includibgt not limitec
to the following: the magnitude and duration oftbiial declines in market prices, credit ratingh\aty, assessmer
of liquidity, public filings, and statements madgthe issuer. We generally begin our identificatafrpotential other-
thantemporary impairments by reviewing any securityhvatfair value that has declined from its origioakdjuste
cost basis by 25% or more for six or more conseeutionths. We then evaluate the individual securétyed on tt
previously identified factors to determine the amioof the writedown, if any. As a result of our review, we did
record any other-thatemporary impairment charge during the fourth cgrardf 2009. For the years en
December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, we recorded eharfg$2.9 million, $2.4 million and $0.1 milliorespectively
related to the other-thaemporary impairment of certain publicly traded iggsecurities, a fixed income bond fu
and deferred compensation assets. Actual lossasyifcould ultimately differ from these estimatEature adver:
changes in market conditions or poor operatingltesii underlying investments could result in aubdial losses th



may not be reflected in an investmeanturrent carrying value, thereby possibly reqgidm impairment charge in 1
future. See Note 3 of Notes to the Consolidatediféial Statements in this report for more informatabout oL
investments
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We also invest in privately held entities and ptévaquity funds and record these investments &t s review thes
investments periodically in order to determineiitaemstances (both financial and nfimancial) exist that indica
that we will not recover our initial investment. pairment charges are recorded on investments havicast bas
that is greater than the value that we would realsigrexpect to receive in an asrlength sale of the investment.
have not been required to record any impairmesel®selating to these investments in 2009, 20007 .

*  For purposes of determining the estimated fair ealfiour stock option awards on the date of grawten the Stoc
Compensation Topic of the FASB ASC, we use the IBlacholes Model. This model requires the input otais
assumptions that require subjective judgment. Tlhssamptions include, but are not limited to, expestock pric
volatility over the term of the awards and actuad @rojected employee stock option exercise behsviRecause o
stock option awards have characteristics signiflgadifferent from those of traded options, and dugse changes
the input assumptions can materially affect thevfalue estimate, the existing model may not preadeliable sing
measure of the fair value of our stock option awarfebr purposes of determining the estimated faluers of ou
performancesased restricted stock unit awards on the dateraritgwe use the Monte Carlo Simulation value
method. The restricted stock units are subject moagket condition based on the relative total dhalcer return ¢
ADTRAN against a peer group of companies and viesteaend of a thregear performance period. Management
continue to assess the assumptions and methodelogied to calculate the estimated fair value otksbase!
compensation. Circumstances may change and adalitilaia may become available over time, which coesdlt ir
changes to these assumptions and methodologietharedby materially impact our fair value determioat If factore
change and we use different assumptions in thdcapipin of the Stock Compensation Topic of the FASBC ir
future periods, the compensation expense that e@demay differ significantly from what we have oeded in th
current period

*  We estimate our income tax provision or benefigéich of the jurisdictions in which we operate, ulgiithg estimatin
exposures related to examinations by taxing authsriwe also make judgments regarding the re@izaif deferre
tax assets, and establish reserves where we béliégvanore likely than not that future taxable dnee in certai
jurisdictions will be insufficient to realize thedeferred tax assets in accordance with the Incbaxes Topic of th
FASB ASC. Our estimates regarding future taxabtmime and income tax provision or benefit may vang ¢
changes in market conditions, changes in tax lawspther factors. If our assumptions, and consettyieyur
estimates, change in the future, the valuationwalles we have established may be increased oeadec
impacting future income tax expense. For 2009 &@B2espectively, the valuation allowance was $&ilBon anc
$1.6 million. As of December 31, 2009, we haveestasearch tax credit carfgrwards of $1.8 million, which wi
expire between 2015 and 2024. These ctoryards were caused by tax credits in excess ohoaual tax liabilitie
to an individual state where we no longer genesaféicient state income. In addition, as of Decenitie 2009, w
have net operating loss carry-forwards of $3.8 ianllwhich will expire between 2014 and 2029. Thesery-
forwards are the result of a foreign acquisitior2@09. The acquired net operating losses are iassxaf the amou
of estimated earnings. In accordance with the Iredisxes Topic of the FASB ASC, we believe it is entikely thar
not that we will not realize the benefits of oufateed tax asset arising from these credits andpetating losses, a
accordingly, have provided a valuation allowanceifgf them. This valuation allowance is includechon-curren
deferred tax liabilities in the accompanying batasheets

e Our products generally include warranties of onéetoyears for product defects. We accrue for vmyraeturns ¢
the time revenue is recognized based on our egtinfahe cost to repair or replace the defectiwelpcts. We enga
in extensive product quality programs and processebiding actively monitoring and evaluating theality of ou
component suppliers. Our products continue to becorare complex in both size and functionality aswynaf oul
product offerings migrate from line card applicagao systems products. The increasing compleXityuo product
will cause warranty incidences, when they arise,b& more costly. Our estimates regarding future rawvey
obligations may change due to product failure ratesterial usage, and other rework costs incumecboirecting
product failure. In addition, from time to time,egjific warranty accruals may be recorded if unfeegsproblen
arise. Should our actual experience relative tedHactors be worse than our estimates, we witeheired to recol
additional warranty expense. Alternatively, if weyide for more reserves than we require, we ellerse a portic
of such provisions in future periods. The liabilfty warranty returns totaled $2.8 million at Ded®m31, 2009 ar
2008, respectively. These liabilities are includadaccrued expenses in the accompanying consaticladééanc
sheets
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Results of Operations

The following table presents selected financiabinfation derived from our consolidated statemehtisicbme expressed a
percentage of sales for the years indicated.

Year Ended December ¢, 2009 2008 2007
Sales
Carrier Networks Divisiol 76.7% 78.2% 75.1%
Enterprise Networks Divisio 23.2 21.7 24.¢
Total sales 100.% 100.(% 100.%
Cost of sale: 40.7 40.3 40.¢
Gross profit 59.5 59.7 59.Z
Selling, general and administrative exper 20.t 20.€ 21
Research and development exper 17.2 16.4 15.¢
Operating income 21.¢ 221 21.¢
Interest and dividend incon 1.4 1.7 2.4
Interest expens (0.5) (0.5 (0.5
Net realized investment gain (los (0.3 (0.5 0.1
Other income, ne — 0.2 0.1
Life insurance proceec — — 0.2
Income before provision for income taxe: 22.2 23.€ 24.%
Provision for income taxe 6.8 7.6 8.2
Net income 15.2% 15.7% 16.(%

2009 Compared to 2008
Sales

ADTRAN's sales decreased 3.3% from $500.7 million in 2008484.2 million in 2009. This decrease in sakeprimarily
attributable to a $46.6 million decrease in safdd@SL and other traditional products, partiallysat by a $9.1 million increa
in sales of our Broadband Access products, a $8l®mincrease in sales of our Optical Access piid, and a $14.2 millic
increase in sales of our Internetworking products.

Carrier Networks sales decreased 5.3% from $392ldmin 2008 to $371.3 million in 2009. The dease is primaril
attributable to decreases in HDSL, DDS, and ottaatitional TDM products sales, partially offset &y increase in Broadba
Access and Optical Access product sales.

Enterprise Networks sales increased 4.0% from $L0@lion in 2008 to $112.8 million in 2009. Theciease is primari
attributable to an increase in sales of Internelimgyr products, partially offset by declines in satd traditional IAD product
and Enterprise T1 products. Internetworking prodsaies were 67.4% of Enterprise Network sales id92€mpared wil
58.3% in 2008. Traditional products primarily comsprthe remainder of Enterprise Networks saleserfprise Networks sal
as a percentage of total sales increased from 2ih 2908 to 23.3% in 2009.

International sales, which are included in the @ametworks and Enterprise Networks amounts disedsabove, decrea:s
7.7% from $30.1 million in 2008 to $27.8 million 2D09. International sales, as a percentage dfdalas, decreased from 6.
in 2008 to 5.7% in 2009. International sales in2@8creased primarily due to a decline in macroeeoo conditions.

Carrier Systems product sales increased $9.5 miiiin2009 compared to 2008 primarily due to a $8illion increase i
Broadband Access product sales and a $6.8 milliorease in Optical Access product sales. Thesedses were primar
attributable to increased shipments of our Totakess® 5000 products, our OPTI family of products and guarihg
deployments of FTTN products, resulting from markleare gains across all major market segmentsaladffsetting thes
increases were decreases in TDM and other traditjproduct sales as customers shifted emphasiswemtechnologies. Ma
of these newer technologies are integral to oua@band Access and Optical Access product areas.

Business Networking product sales increased $10l@min 2009 compared to 2008 due to a $14.2 iotillincrease i
Internetworking product sales, primarily as a resil market share gains in SMB and distributed gmise application
Partially offsetting this increase in Internetwargiproduct sales was a decline in sales of traditibAD products as custom:
shifted emphasis to newer technologies. Many cfalreewer technologies are integral to our Interagting product area.
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Loop Access product sales decreased $36.9 miti@®09 compared to 2008 primarily due to declimedDSL, Enterprise T
and DDS product sales.

Cost of Sales

Cost of sales increased from 40.3% of sales in 2008).7% of sales in 2009. The increase in costatds as a percentage
sales is primarily related to costs incurred toeslife delivery of materials and costs related twew product release, whi
were partially offset by cost reductions generatedugh improved manufacturing efficiencies.

Carrier Networks cost of sales increased from 39d3%ales in 2008 to 40.8% of sales in 2009. Tieeimse was primatri
related to costs incurred to expedite delivery atemals and costs related to a new product release

Enterprise Networks cost of sales decreased fro2042f sales in 2008 to 40.4% of sales in 2009. démrease was primatr
related to lower freight costs and other cost rédaos generated through improved manufacturingiefficies.

An important part of our strategy is to reduce gimeduct cost of each succeeding product generatnohthen to lower tl
products price based on the cost savings achieved. This aaase variations in our gross profit percentage tb timing
differences between the recognition of cost redustiand the lowering of product selling prices.

Selling, General, and Administrative Expenses

Selling, general, and administrative expenses dsexk3.7% from $103.3 million, or 20.6% of sale2®®8, to $99.4 millior
or 20.5% of sales in 2009. Selling, general, anchiaidtrative expenses include personnel costs donimistration, financ
information systems, human resources, sales and#tetitey, and general management, as well as reifitiest legal an
accounting expenses, bad debt expense, advertjgiomotional material, trade show expenses, arate@ltravel costs. T
decrease in selling, general, and administrativeeeses was primarily related to a reduction inrdisenary expenditur
including temporary labor, travel, and various potimnal expenses.

Selling, general and administrative expenses asraept of sales will generally fluctuate whenevieeré is significat
fluctuation in revenues for the periods being coraga

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses increased B8%6&1.8 million, or 16.3% of sales, in 2008 to $3&iillion, or 17.2% ¢
sales, in 2009. The increase in research and dawelat expenses was a result of increased sta#imgineering and testi
expense primarily related to customer specific pobddevelopment activities as well as costs relategroduct approval
primarily for one or more of the top three U.S.rimas. Research and development expenses as anfageeof sales w
fluctuate whenever there are incremental produceld@ment activities or a significant fluctuatiam ievenues for the peric
being compared.

ADTRAN expects to continue to incur research angetijpment expenses in connection with its new austiag products ar
its expansion into international markets. ADTRANhtioually evaluates new product opportunities andages in intensi
research and product development efforts whichigesvfor new product development, enhancement istieg products ar
product cost reductions. ADTRAN may incur signifitaesearch and development expenses prior toetteipt of revenut
from a major new product group or market expansion.

Interest and Dividend Income

Interest and dividend income decreased 20.4% fr®@m &iillion in 2008 to $6.9 million in 2009. Thigdrease was the resul
a 39.6% reduction in the average rate of returowrinvestments due to lower interest rates.

Interest Expense

Interest expense decreased from $2.5 million irB20052.4 million in 2009. The decrease was due lmwer principal balan
in 2009 as compared to 2008. See “Liquidity anditahResources” below for additional information.
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Net Realized Investment Gain (Loss)

Net realized investment gain (loss) changed frd.4 million loss in 2008 to a $1.3 million loss2009. The change is a re!
of fewer other-thartemporary impairments of certain securities in eguity portfolio during 2009 as compared to 2008 e
sales of certain securities for a gain. See “Inmgsfctivities” in “Liquidity and Capital Resourceésbelow for addition:
information.

Other Income, net

Other income, net, comprised primarily of misceflans income, gains and losses on foreign curreaagdctions, investme
account management fees, and gains or losses dlisti@sal of property, plant, and equipment ocogrin the normal cour
of business, decreased from $0.7 million in 2008ad. million in 2009.

Income Taxes

Our effective tax rate decreased from 33.6% in 2@081.0% in 2009, primarily due to increased bi#seklating to th
deduction for manufacturexr’domestic production activities under Internal &ae Code Section 199 and an increase i
federal research and development credits, partidifet by an increase in state income tax expense.

Net Income

As a result of the above factors, net income deegdrom $78.6 million in 2008 to $74.2 million 2009. As a percentage
sales, net income decreased from 15.7% in 2008.8%d.in 2009.

2008 Compared to 2007
Sales

ADTRAN'’s sales increased 5.0% from $476.8 million in 269%500.7 million in 2008. This increase in salgesprimarily
attributable to an $18.4 million increase in sadéour Broadband Access products, a $10.7 milliecreéase in sales of ¢
Optical Access products and a $12.4 million incegiassales of our Internetworking products. HDSbdurct revenues increas
3.6% or $6.3 million and other traditional produetenues decreased 19.5% or $23.9 million.

Carrier Networks sales increased 9.6% from $358lbm in 2007 to $392.2 million in 2008. The ine®e is primaril
attributable to increases in Broadband Access apiic&® Access products sales, and to a lesser eateincrease in HDS
product sales.

Enterprise Networks sales decreased 8.7% from 8Xfilion in 2007 to $108.5 million in 2008. The atease is primari
attributable to declines in sales of traditionaDI4roducts, Enterprise T1 products and DDS produmastially offset by a
increase in sales of Internetworking products. rimevorking product sales were 58.3% of EnterpNséwork sales in 20(
compared with 44.5% in 2007. Traditional produatsnarily comprise the remainder of Enterprise Netwosales. Enterpri
Networks sales as a percentage of total salesaksmdrom 24.9% in 2007 to 21.7% in 20

International sales, which are included in the @ametworks and Enterprise Networks amounts disedisabove, decrea:s
24.0% from $39.6 million in 2007 to $30.1 million R008. International sales, as a percentage af $ales, decreased fr
8.3% in 2007 to 6.0% in 2008. International sale®007 reflected increased activity relating toimitial deployment of ot
products by a large Latin American carrier. Inté¢iorzal sales in 2008 decreased primarily due tedike in sales to this La
American carrier as well as a decline in salegheoregions.

Carrier Systems product sales increased $26.50milhi 2008 compared to 2007 primarily due to an.4h8illion increase i
Broadband Access product sales, primarily attribetéo increased shipments of our 1100 series-fili¢henode products ai
our Total Acces® 5000 products, and a $10.7 million increase in €bthccess product sales, resulting from continunagke
share gains across numerous customers includingphtaree U.S. carriers. Partially offsetting thé@screases in Carrier Syst
product sales were decreases in TDM and othertivadl product sales as customers shifted emphasiewer technologie
Many of these newer technologies are integral toBvaadband Access and Optical Access product areas

Business Networking product sales increased $1llmiin 2008 compared to 2007 due to a $12.4 orillincrease i
Internetworking product sales, primarily as a resfiimarket share gains due to our efforts to improur focus on address
traditional enterprise channels and leveraging oarrier distribution channels. Largely offsettindist increase |
Internetworking product sales was a decline in ssak traditional IAD products as customers shifesdphasis to new
technologies. Many of these newer technologiesnéegral to our Internetworking product area.
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Loop Access product sales decreased $3.8 millid2008 compared to 2007 primarily due to declineEnterprise T1 produ
sales and DDS product sales, partially offset By6& or $6.3 million increase in HDSL product reves.

Cost of Sales

As a percentage of sales, cost of sales decreased40.6% in 2007 to 40.3% in 2008. The decreaseost of sales as
percentage of sales is primarily related to lowedpct costs.

Carrier Networks cost of sales, as a percent d$idin sales, decreased from 40.6% in 2007 to 3%B82008. The decrease v
primarily related to lower product costs noted ahand the impact of higher sales volume on alestabst of sales element:
the division. Enterprise Networks cost of salesagmercent of division sales, increased from 40i9%007 to 42.2% in 200
The increase was primarily related to a higher pestiuct mix plus the impact of allocated manufentcosts to the division.

An important part of our strategy is to reduce pimeduct cost of each succeeding product generatnshthen to lower tl
products price based on the cost savings achieved. THaiegy sometimes results in variations in our gpeéit margin due t
timing differences between the recognition of aestuctions and the lowering of product selling gsicin view of the rap
pace of new product introductions by our compahig strategy may result in variations in gross ipnwfargins that, for ar
particular financial period, can be difficult toeglict.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Selling, general and administrative expenses w2@8.8 million in 2008 and 2007, and represente6%f sales for 2008 a
21.7% of sales for 2007. Selling, general and adthtmative expenses include personnel costs for midimation, finance
information systems, human resources, sales an#etiay, and general management, as well as reilitjest legal an
accounting expenses, bad debt expense, adveriBimmotional material, trade show expenses, armdaglravel costs.

Selling, general and administrative expenses asraept of sales will generally fluctuate whenevieré is significar
fluctuation in revenues for the periods being coraga

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses increased 8d#0 $75.4 million, or 15.8% as a percentage of sales2007 t
$81.8 million, or 16.3% as a percentage of sale008. The increase in research and developmgenses primarily reflec
increased staffing expense related to customerifapgeoduct development activities, as well astsoselated to produ
approvals, primarily for one or more of the topel.S. carriers. Research and development expassepercentage of se
will fluctuate whenever there is a significant fluation in revenues for the periods being compared.

ADTRAN expects to continue to incur research angetijpment expenses in connection with its new austiag products ar
its expansion into international markets. ADTRANhtioually evaluates new product opportunities andages in intensi
research and product development efforts whichigesvfor new product development, enhancement istieg products ar
product cost reductions. ADTRAN may incur signifitaesearch and development expenses prior toetteipt of revenut
from a major new product group or market expansion.

Interest and Dividend Income

Interest and dividend income decreased 24.3% fromSmillion in 2007 to $8.7 million in 2008. Thitecrease is due to a 1
reduction in our average investment balances i3 2@0compared to 2007, primarily as a result ofstiare repurchase activ
and a 25% reduction in the average rate of retarthese investments, due to lower interest rates.

Interest Expense

Interest expense remained constant at $2.5 miiln2008 and 2007, as we had no substantial chamgeui fixed rat
borrowing. See “Liquidity and Capital Resourceslopefor additional information.

Net Realized Investment Gain (Loss)

Net realized investment gain (loss) decreased fao$0.5 million gain in 2007 to a $2.4 million loss2008. The change
primarily a result of the other-than-temporary innpeent of certain securities in our equity portfolSee “Investing Activities”
in “Liquidity and Capital Resources” below for atidnal information.
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Other Income, net

Other income, net, comprised primarily of misceflans income, gains and losses on foreign curreaagdctions, investme
account management fees, gains or losses on thesdisof property, plant, and equipment occurrimghie normal course
business, decreased from $0.8 million in 2007 t@ $@illion in 2008.

Life Insurance Proceeds

We realized a gain on life insurance proceeds di #iillion during the first quarter of 2007 as auk of the death of our co-
founder and then Chairman of the Board, Mark Smith.

Income Taxes

Our effective tax rate decreased from 34.0% in 2@0B3.6% in 2008, primarily due to increased biseklating to th
deduction for manufacturexr’domestic production activities under Internal &ae Code Section 199 and an increase i
federal research and development credits.

Net Income

As a result of the above factors, net income irsgddrom $76.3 million in 2007 to $78.6 million 2008. As a percentage
sales, net income decreased from 16.0% in 2003.#%94.in 2008.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Liquidity

At December 31, 2009, cash on hand was $24.1 midlimd short-term investments were $172.5 milliohiclv placed our short-
term liquidity at $196.6 million. At December 3108, our cash on hand of $41.9 million and shemt investments
$96.3 million placed our shotérm liquidity at $138.2 million. The increase iquidity from 2008 to 2009 is primarily the res
of positive cash flow generated from operatingwtitis and the purchase of fewer shares of our comstock in the first thre
quarters of 2009 due to the uncertainty in the eggnduring that period. Purchases of our commockstotaled $15.9 millio
in 2009 compared to $63.6 million in 2008.

Operating Activities

Our working capital, which consists of current @sskess current liabilities, increased 30.7% fro21Z7 million as ¢
December 31, 2008 to $278.0 million as of Decen®ier2009. The quick ratio, defined as cash, caslivakgnts, shortermr
investments, and net accounts receivable, divigedubrent liabilities, increased from 4.76 as ofcBeaber 31, 2008 to 5.54
of December 31, 2009. The current ratio, definecc@sent assets divided by current liabilities,reased from 6.30 as
December 31, 2008 to 6.82 as of December 31, 200®working capital, the quick ratio, and the catreatio increased fro
2008 to 2009 mainly due to a $76.2 million incre@seshortterm investments as we generated positive cash fiom
operations while purchasing fewer shares of ourrmomstock in 2009.

Net accounts receivable increased 29.0% from $5@libn at December 31, 2008 to $68.0 million atc@mber 31, 2009. O
allowance for doubtful accounts increased from ##8usand at December 31, 2008 to $0.1 million ateleber 31, 200
Quarterly accounts receivable days sales outstgn@SO) increased from 43 days as of December 308 20 50 days as
December 31, 2009. Net accounts receivable and D&@ased for the year ended December 31, 2009ghndue to th
timing of shipments during the fourth quarter 0620

Quarterly inventory turnover increased from 3.&suas of December 31, 2008 to 4.5 turns as of Deeefi, 2009. Invento
decreased 3.7% from December 31, 2008 to Decenbhe2@9. We expect inventory levels to fluctuatewas attempt t
maintain sufficient inventory to ensure competitigad times while managing the risk of inventongalescence that may oc
due to rapidly changing technology and customeratam

Accounts payable increased 26.9% from $20.3 milibDecember 31, 2008 to $25.8 million at Decen®ier2009. Generall
the change in accounts payable is due to variatiorthe timing of the receipt of supplies, invegtand services and ¢
subsequent payments for these purchases.
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Investing Activitie:

Capital expenditures totaled approximately $8.7iom] $9.5 million and $6.5 million for the yearsaded December 31, 20!
2008 and 2007, respectively. These expenditurese weimarily used to purchase computer hardwaretwsoé an
manufacturing and test equipment.

Our combined short-term and lotgrm investments increased $97.1 million from $23fillion at December 31, 2008
$334.6 million at December 31, 2009. This increatects the impact of net funds available for istweent provided by o
operating activities, reduced by our cash needsefpripment acquisitions, stock repurchases andietinds, as well as r
realized and unrealized losses and amortizatiorebpremiums on our combined investments.

We invest all available cash not required for imratgluse in operations primarily in securities tvatbelieve bear minimal ri
of loss. At December 31, 2009, these investmertiidied municipal variable rate demand notes of 4&4illion, municipa
fixed-rate bonds of $141.3 million and corporate bondsranteed by the FDIC of $20.4 million. At DecemBgr 2008, thes
investments included municipal variable rate demaotes of $52.6 million, municipal fixedte bonds of $116.9 million an
government agency security of $2.0 million.

Our municipal variable rate demand notes are dladsas available-for-sale shdgrm investments. At December 31, 2(
98% had a credit rating of VMIG-1 or A-1+ with themaining 2% rated A-and all contained put options of seven days. ;
despite the longerm nature of their stated contractual maturities,believe that we have the ability to quicklyllidate thes
securities. Our investments in these securitiesererded at fair value, and the interest ratestregery seven days. We h
the ability to sell our variable rate demand ndtegshe remarketing agent, tender agent, or issu@agavalue plus accru
interest in the event we decide to liquidate owegiment in a particular variable rate demand nispgroximately 22% of ot
variable rate demand notes are supported by latfersedit from banks that we believe to be in gdiedncial condition. Th
remaining 78% of our variable rate demand notessapported by standby purchase agreements. Asult oésall of thes
factors, we had no cumulative gross unrealizedihgldains (losses) or gross realized gains (lodsas) these investments
December 31, 2009. All income generated from tligestments was recorded as interest income. We ihatvbeen required
record any losses relating to municipal variable demand notes or auction rate securities, antiave held no auction r:
securities since February 7, 2008.

At December 31, 2009, approximately 49% of our roipail fixed+ate bond portfolio had a credit rating of AAA, 458&d
credit rating of AA, and the remaining 6% had adireating of A. These bonds are classified aslakéé-forsale investmen
and had an average duration of 1.04 years at DemeBih 2009. Because our bond portfolio has a ljghlity rating an
contractual maturities of a short duration, we avke to obtain prices for these bonds derived fotnservable market inputs,
for similar securities traded in an active marketa daily basis.

Our longterm investments increased 15% from $141.2 miliomecember 31, 2008 to $162.2 million at Decenier200¢
Municipal fixed-rate bonds classified as lolgm investments decreased $22.1 million from $n&lBon at December 3
2008 to $53.2 million at December 31, 2009. Thenpry reason for the decrease in our lomgr municipal fixed rate bon
was the investment in corporate bonds to increaseield of our long-term portfolio. Longgrm investments at December
2009 and 2008 include an investment in a certéicdtdeposit of $48.3 million and $48.8 millionspectively, which serves
collateral for our revenue bonds, as discussedibelong-term investments at December 31, 2009 also incha@e4 million o
FDIC guaranteed corporate bonds. All of our corplond investments had a credit rating of AAA acBmber 31, 2009. V
have various equity investments included in le@gn investments at a cost of $9.8 million and @1gillion, and with a fa
value of $33.5 million and $11.6 million, at Decesnl31, 2009 and 2008, respectively. Included in marketable equi
securities is a single equity security, of which ald 2.1 million shares and 2.5 million sharesried at $22.4 million ar
$2.5 million of fair value, at December 31, 2009 @008, respectively. The single security tradegraximately 395 thousal
shares per day in 2009, in an active market on @g&an stock exchange. This single security carg2d.7 million an
$1.6 million of the gross unrealized gains incluitethe fair value of our marketable securitie®atember 31, 2009 and 20
respectively. The remaining $2.2 million of grossealized gains and $0.2 million in gross unreali@sses at December
2009 were spread amongst more than 375 equity ifesur.ongterm investments at December 31, 2009 and 200¢
included $3.4 million and $2.5 million, respectiyetelated to our deferred compensation plan; $ilon of other investmen
carried at cost, consisting of interests in twovaé equity funds and an investment in a privatedyd telecommunicatio
equipment manufacturer; and $1.2 million and $0ilian, respectively, of a fixed income bond furithis bond fund he
unrealized gains of $0.3 million and unrealizeds&ss$0.4 million at December 31, 2009 and 200®ectively.
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We review our investment portfolio for potentiattier-than-temporaryfieclines in value on an individual investment hadis
assess, on a quarterly basis, significant declinegalue which may be considered other-thamporary and, if necesse
recognize and record the appropriate charge te@watvn the carrying value of such investments. Inimgkhis assessment,
take into consideration qualitative and quantitinformation, including but not limited to the lfmling: the magnitude al
duration of historical declines in market pricesgdit rating activity, assessments of liquidity,bpa filings, and statemer
made by the issuer. We generally begin our idestiibn of potential other-thatemporary impairments by reviewing ¢
security with a fair value that has declined framariginal or adjusted cost basis by 25% or moresix or more consecuti
months. We then evaluate the individual securityelaon the previously identified factors to detaerthe amount of the write-
down, if any. As a result of our review, we did metord any other-tharemporary impairment charge during the fourth cgr
of December 31, 2009. For the years ended Dece®iheR009, 2008 and 2007 we recorded charges of riiflion,
$2.4 million and $0.1 million, respectively, reldtéo the other-thatemporary impairment of certain publicly traded igg
securities, a fixed income bond fund, and defec@dpensation assets.

On September 15, 2009, we acquired all of the antkihg stock of Objectworld Communications Corpiora{Objectworld),
provider of unified communication solutions. Thergmse of this acquisition was to acquire unifiedmomunication
technologies. These technologies have been inahiato our NetVant& product line. The purchase price was approxim
$1.5 million in cash subject to certain post clgsatjustments, and was allocated to the individsakts and liabilities acquir
There was no goodwill determined in the final pash price allocation. Objectwordfinancial statements have been incl
in our consolidated statements of income and cashsffrom the date of the acquisition to Decembir 2009 and ol
consolidated balance sheet dated December 31, 2009.

Financing Activities

Fifty million dollars of the expansion of Phase dfi our corporate headquarters was approved fdicfgation in an incentiv
program offered by the Alabama State Industrial édeyment Authority (the Authority). Pursuant to tlpeogram, o
January 13, 1995, the Authority issued $20.0 mmillid its taxable revenue bonds and loaned the pdscéom the sale of t
bonds to ADTRAN. The bonds were originally purctthdy AmSouth Bank of Alabama, Birmingham, Alabarttee (Bank)
Wachovia Bank, N.A., Nashville, Tennessee (formdtigst Union National Bank of Tennessee, Nashvillennessee) (tl
Bondholder), which was acquired by Wells Fargo &pany on December 31, 2008, purchased the origioadls from th
Bank and made further advances to the Authoriipgimg the total amount outstanding to $50.0 milli@he incentive progra
enables participating companies to generate Alabeonporate income tax credits that can be usecdoae the amount
Alabama corporate income taxes that would othenbisepayable, in exchange for investing capital anghting jobs i
Alabama. We cannot be certain that the state obaitaa will continue to make these corporate incoaxectedits availabl
therefore, we may not realize the full benefit bége incentives. Through December 31, 2009, thdokity had issue
$50.0 million of its taxable revenue bonds pursuarthe incentive program and loaned the proceexns the sale of the bor
to ADTRAN. We are required to make payments toAk¢hority in the amounts necessary to pay the gadoof, and intere
on, the Authoritys Taxable Revenue Bond, Series 1995, as amendedntty outstanding in the aggregate principal antad
$48.3 million. The bond matures on January 1, 2@2@ bears interest at the rate of 5% per annuaiuded in longterr
investments at December 31, 2009 is $48.3 millibrestricted funds, which is a collateral depogiiast the principal amot
of this bond. We have the right to s¥f-the balance of the Bond with the collateral @&pin order to reduce the balance of
indebtedness. In conjunction with this program,ase eligible to receive certain economic incentifrem the state of Alabar
that reduce the amount of payroll withholdings that are required to remit to the state for thos@leyment positions th
qualify under the program.

Due to continued positive cash flow from operataagvities, we made a business decision to begieaaly partial redemptic
of the Bond. It is our intent to make annual pnxatipayments in addition to the interest amounss &éne due. In connecti
with this decision, $0.5 million of the bond delatshbeen reclassified to a current liability in @ensolidated Balance Sheet
December 31, 2009 and 2008.

The following table shows dividends paid in eachrtgr of 2009, 2008 and 2007. During 2009, 20082064V, ADTRAN pai
dividends totaling $22.5 million, $22.9 million a®@4.6 million, respectively. The Board of Direcdqresently anticipates tl
it will declare a regular quarterly dividend so dpas the present tax treatment of dividends eaistsadequate levels of liquid
are maintained.

Dividends per Common Share

2009 2008 2007
First Quarte! $ 0.0¢ $ 0.0¢ $ 0.0¢
Second Quarte $ 0.0¢ $ 0.0¢ $ 0.0¢
Third Quartel $ 0.0¢ $ 0.0¢ $ 0.0¢
Fourth Quarte $ 0.0¢ $ 0.0¢ $ 0.0¢
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Stock Repurchase Program

Since 1997, our Board of Directors has approvedtipiel share repurchase programs that have autldoidpen marki
repurchase transactions. As of December 31, 20@9,Bbard of Directors has authorized cumulativeureipases of up
30 million shares of our common stock. We curretiywe the authority to purchase an additional 2lifom shares of ot
common stock under the plan approved by the Bohidirectors on April 14, 2008. For the years 200008 and 2007, v
repurchased 0.8 million shares, 3.1 million shams 5.8 million shares, respectively, for a cos$D5.9 million, $63.6 millio
and $138.6 million, respectively, at an averageepof $21.05, $20.65 and $24.08 per share, respbcti

To accommodate employee stock option exercisedssued 0.9 million shares of treasury stock for.$18illion during thi
year ended December 31, 2009, 0.3 million shargeeabury stock for $3.7 million during the yeaded December 31, 20(
and 1.2 million shares of treasury stock for $Iilion during the year ended December 31, 2007.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements and Contractualdgakibns

We have various contractual obligations and comiakeoommitments. The following table sets forth,nmillions, the annu:
payments we are required to make under contracasdl obligations and other commercial commitmenBeaember 31, 200

Contractual Obligations

(In millions) Total 2010 2011 2012 2013 After 2013
Long-term deb $ 48: 3 —  $ — % — 3 — % 48.<
Interest on lon-term debt 24.1 2.4 2.4 2.4 2.4 14.t
Investment commitmen 0.t 0.2 — 0.3 — —
Operating lease obligatiol 2.3 1.3 0.7 0.2 — —
Purchase obligatior 44.1 43.C 0.8 0.2 — —
Totals $ 119. $ 46.< $ 4.C $ 3.2 $ 2.4 $ 62.¢

We are required to make payments necessary tohmaynterest on the Taxable Revenue Bond, Serie§, 189 amende
currently outstanding in the aggregate principabant of $48.3 million. The bond matures on Jandar020, and bee
interest at the rate of 5% per annum. Includediyterm investments are $48.3 million of restrictedds, which is a collatet
deposit against the principal amount of this bond.

We have committed to invest up to an aggregate 709 fillion in two private equity funds, and we lkacontribute
$7.9 million as of December 31, 2009, of which $mitlion has been applied to these commitments. I$ete 3 of Notes |
Consolidated Financial Statements for additionfarimation.

We also have obligations related to uncertain inedax positions that have not been included intétde above due to t
uncertainty of when the related expense will beogaized. See Note 7 of Notes to Consolidated Fiahr8tatements fi
additional information.

We do not have ofbalance sheet financing arrangements and havengaged in any related party transactions or arraegé
with unconsolidated entities or other persons #rat reasonably likely to materially affect liquidior the availability of ¢
requirements for capital resources. See Notes 6La&raf Notes to Consolidated Financial Statememt&dditional informatio
on our revenue bond and operating lease obligatiespectively.

We intend to finance our operations with cash fliwem operations. We have used, and expect to aomtio use, the ca
generated from operations for working capital, pases of treasury stock, dividend payments, andraibkneral corpore
purposes, including (i) product development ad#sgitto enhance our existing products and develop peoducts an
(i) expansion of sales and marketing activitiee Wélieve our cash and cash equivalents, invessnaart cash generated fr
operations to be adequate to meet our operatingapithl needs.

Effect of Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In January 2010, the Financial Accounting Stand&ulsrd (FASB) issued Update No. 2006; which amends the Fair Va
Measurements and Disclosures topic of the FASB Arting Standards Codification (Codification). Thmendments in th
update require new disclosures about transferadnoait of Levels 1 and 2 fair value measurementsthe activity in Level
fair value measurements and, in addition, clarikysting disclosures required for levels of disaggtton and inputs al
valuation techniques. These amendments will betffe for interim and annual reporting periods loegig after December 1
2009, except for the disclosures about activityéwel 3 fair value measurements, which is effecfivefiscal years beginnir
after December 15, 2010, and for interim periodhiwithose fiscal years. We plan to adopt this adnent and provide a
additional disclosures required for the period egd¥larch 31, 2010.
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In October 2009, the FASB issued Update No. 20B9which amends the Revenue Recognition topit®fQodification. Thi
update provides amendments to the criteria in Subt605-25 of the Codification for separating colesation in multiple-
deliverable arrangements. As a result of those dments, multipledeliverable arrangements will be separated in
circumstances than under existing U.S. GAAP. Theradments establish a selling price hierarchy faemeining the sellin
price of a deliverable and will replace the ternn f@lue in the revenue allocation guidance wittirsg price to clarify that th
allocation of revenue is based on ensipecific assumptions rather than assumptions ofasketplace participant. T
amendments will also eliminate the residual metbbdllocation and require that arrangement conatitar be allocated at t
inception of the arrangement to all deliverableisgishe relative selling price method and will requthat a vendor determi
its best estimate of selling price in a manner thatonsistent with that used to determine theepticsell the deliverable or
standalone basis. These amendments will be eféeptiospectively for revenue arrangements entetedinmaterially modifie
in fiscal years beginning on or after June 15, 204ih early adoption permitted. We do not expdwt aadoption of th
amendment will have a material impact on our cadatgd results of operations or financial condition

In October 2009, the FASB issued Update No. 20809which amends the Software topic of the Codiiica The amendmer
in this update change the accounting model formegearrangements that include both tangible predamctl software elemer
Tangible products containing software components rmansoftware components that function together to @elithe tangibl
product’s essential functionality is no longer \irttthe scope of the software revenue guidance istdpic 985605 of thi
Codification. In addition, the amendments in thjdate require that hardware components of a tamgibbduct containir
software components always be excluded from thigvaoé revenue guidance. In that regard, the amentnpeovide addition
guidance on how to determine which software, if,arlating to the tangible product also would beladed from the scope
the software revenue guidance. The amendments @mtedade guidance on how a vendor should allocat@ngemer
consideration to deliverables in an arrangemerttititdudes both tangible products and software. dimendments also prov
further guidance on how to allocate arrangemensidenation when an arrangement includes delivesabtgh included ar
excluded from the scope of the software revenuelaguwe. These amendments will be effective prosgsgtifor revenu
arrangements entered into or materially modifiedfigcal years beginning on or after June 15, 204ih early adoptio
permitted. We do not expect the adoption of thissadment will have a material impact on our consaéd results «
operations or financial condition.

During 2009, we adopted the following accountingdgnce, none of which had a material effect onaumrsolidated results
operations or financial condition:

In December 2007, the FASB revised the authorigatjuidance for business combinations, which estaddi principles al
requirements for how an acquirer recognizes andsorea in its financial statements the identifisddsets acquired, liabiliti
assumed, and any noncontrolling interest in theuiaegq in a business combination. The guidance ksials principle
stipulating how goodwill acquired in a business bamation or a gain from a bargain purchase showddrognized ar
measured. The guidance also expands the disclasgugrements related to the nature and financiglaich of busine:
combinations. We adopted this guidance as of Jgriya&2009. We have applied this guidance to thénless combination th
occurred in the third quarter of 2009.

In June 2009, the FASB established the FASB Catiific as the source of authoritative U.S. generatiyepted accounti
principles (GAAP) recognized by the FASB to be #&apko nongovernmental entities and rules and pnétive releases of t
SEC as authoritative GAAP for SEC registrants. Tlodification supersedes all the existing r&a€ accounting and report
standards upon its effective date and subsequenéy;ASB will not issue new standards in the fefnStatements, FASB St
Positions or Emerging Issues Task Force Abstrddis guidance is effective for interim periods emgiafter September
2009. We adopted this guidance for the period enBlegtember 30, 2009, with no effect on our conatdid results «
operations and financial condition for the thred amelve months ended December 31, 2009.

In December 2007, the FASB revised the authorigatjuidance for consolidation, which establishesanting and reportir
standards for the noncontrolling interest in a &libsy and for the deconsolidation of a subsididfye guidance clarifies tha
noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary is an ovehdp interest in the consolidated entity that stidaé reported as equity in

consolidated financial statements. The guidance ralguires consolidated net income to be reportesnaunts that include t
amounts attributable to both the parent and theamnolling interest. It also requires disclosure,the face of the consolida
statement of income, of the amounts of consolidagtdincome attributable to the parent and to threcontrolling interest.

also provides guidance when a subsidiary is dediola¢ed and requires expanded disclosures in tmsatimlated financii
statements that clearly identify and distinguistwaen the interests of the parent and the intemddtse noncontrolling owne
of a subsidiary. We adopted this guidance as afalgnl, 2009. The adoption of this guidance haéffect on our consolidat
results of operations and financial condition fog three and twelve months ended December 31, 2009.
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In June 2008, the FASB revised the authoritativielance for earnings per share, which establishasuhvested sharfease:
payment awards that contain nfmwfeitable rights to dividends or dividend equismals are participating securities and sha
included in the computation of earnings per shamsymnt to the twalass method. In contrast, the right to receivédainds ¢
dividend equivalents that the holder will forfeitthe award does not vest does not constitute ticfation right and such |
award does not meet the definition of a particigaBecurity in its current form (that is, priorthe requisite service having by
rendered for the award). We adopted this guidascefa@anuary 1, 2009. The adoption of this guidadmae no effect on o
consolidated results of operations and financiabdition for the three and twelve months ended D31, 2009.

In April 2009, the FASB revised the authoritativeidance for financial instruments. The guidanceunes disclosures abc
fair value of financial instruments in interim fingial statements as well as in annual financiaestants. This guidance
effective for interim periods ending after June 2809. We adopted this guidance in the second euaft2009, and ha
provided the disclosures required for the periodirsgn December 31, 2009.

In April 2009, the FASB revised the authoritativeidance for fair value measurements and disclostargsovide addition:i
guidance in determining whether a market for arfaial asset is not active and a transaction isdisitessed for fair val
measurement purposes. This guidance is effectiverferim periods ending after June 15, 2009. Wepéet this guidance f
the period ending June 30, 2009. The adoption isf ghnidance had no effect on our consolidated tesafl operations ai
financial condition for the three and twelve mongimsled December 31, 2009.

In April 2009, the FASB revised the authoritativéidance for investments in debt and equity seewitdo provide guidance
determining whether impairments in debt securities other-thatemporary, and modifies the presentation and disck
surrounding such instruments. This guidance iscéffe for interim periods ending after June 15, 208Ve adopted tt
provisions of this guidance for the period endinge)30, 2009. The adoption of this guidance hadffext on our consolidat
results of operations and financial condition toe three and twelve months ended December 31, 2009.

In May 2009, the FASB revised the authoritative dgumice for subsequent events, which establishesrajesindards
accounting for and disclosure of events that oedtar the balance sheet date but before finanta@émments are issued or
available to be issued. This guidance is effedivdinancial statements issued for interim anduaimeporting periods endi
after June 15, 2009. We adopted this guidancehtoperiod ended June 30, 2009, and have provigedisislosures required
the period ending December 31, 2009.

Subsequent Events

On January 19, 2010, the Board declared a quarted dividend of $0.09 per common share to be fagtockholders «
record at the close of business on February 4, 20h@ quarterly dividend payment was $5.6 milliomdavas paid c
February 18, 2010.

During the first quarter of 2010 and as of Februz6y 2010, ADTRAN repurchased 0.5 million sharedt®fcommon stoc
through open market purchases at an average co$2h62 per share and has the authority to repseclam addition
2.2 million shares under the plan approved by thar8 of Directors on April 14, 2008.

We have evaluated all subsequent events througlu&gh?26, 2010, the date the financial statemeet®ussued.
ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Details regarding the fair value of our availabde-$ale investments as of December 31, 2009 are disdiuis Note 3 of Not
to Consolidated Financial Statements included isirdport.

We are exposed to financial market risks, includihgnges in interest rates and prices of marketdpéty and fixedncome
securities. The primary objective of our investmautivities is to preserve principal while at than® time achievir
appropriate yields without significantly increasirigk. To achieve this objective, a majority of auarketable securities
investment grade, municipal fixedte bonds, municipal variable rate demand notéesnaumicipal money market instrume
denominated in United States dollars. At Decemier2®09, 98% of our municipal variable rate demantes had a cre:
rating of VMIG-1 or A-1+ while the remaining 2% hadrating of A-1. Approximately 49% of our municigied-rate bond
had a credit rating of AAA, 45% had a credit ratofgAA, and the remaining 6% had a credit ratingdofWe also held $20
million of corporate bonds that are guaranteed Hey Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) msded by variot
banks. At December 31, 2009, all of our corporateds had a credit rating of AAA.
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We maintain depository investments with certairaficial institutions. Although these depository isiveents may exce
government insured depository limits, we have ea&@d the credit worthiness of these applicablenfira institutions, an
determined the risk of material financial loss dai@xposure of such credit risk to be minimal. A®ecember 31, 2009, $2:
million of our cash and cash equivalents, primacigytain domestic money market funds and foreigroditgory accounts, we
in excess of government provided insured depositorigs. The Temporary Liquidity Guarantee Progradopted during 20(
by the FDIC provided full coverage of our domest&pository accounts through December 2009. Althahghprogram we
extended through June 30, 2010, the banks wheraairtain our depository accounts opted out of pigiition in this progra
after December 31, 2009.

As of December 31, 2009, approximately $264.1 millof our cash and investments may be directlyctdte by changes
interest rates. We have performed a hypothetigaigeity analysis assuming market interest ratesdase or decrease by
basis points (bps), 100 bps and 150 bps for thieeeygar, while all other variables remain const&ttDecember 31, 2009, \
held $110.3 million of money market instruments amdhicipal variable rate demand notes. Hypothetabps, 100 bps a
150 bps declines in interest rates as of DecemheRB09 would reduce annualized interest incomeo@nmoney mark
instruments and municipal variable rate demandsioyeapproximately $0.6 million, $1.1 million andl.$ million, respectivel
In addition, we held a combined $153.8 million ofefl+ate municipal bonds and corporate bonds guararigetie FDI(
whose fair value may be directly affected by a geam interest rates. Hypothetical 50 bps, 100 dm$ 150 bps increases
interest rates as of December 31, 2009 would rethecéir value of our bonds by approximately $®i8ion, $1.6 million ani
$2.3 million, respectively.

As of December 31, 2008, interest income on apprately $208.2 million of our cash and investmenss wubject to bei
directly affected by changes in interest rates. pggormed a hypothetical sensitivity analysis asagnmarket interest rat
increase or decrease by 50 bps, 100 bps and 15bffwe entire year, while all other variables eémconstant. Hypothetic
50 bps, 100 bps and 150 bps declines in interéss ws of December 31, 2008 would have reducedatined interest incon
on our money market instruments, municipal variabte demand notes and municipal auction rate sesuby approximate
$0.4 million, $0.9 million and $1.3 million, resgeely. In addition, hypothetical 50 bps, 100 bpslal50 bps increases
interest rates as of December 31, 2008 would hestaced the fair value of our municipal fixemte bonds by approximat:
$0.6 million, $1.1 million and $1.7 million, respiaely.

We are directly exposed to changes in foreign aggreexchange rates to the extent that such chaitges our revenue deriv
from international customers, expenses relateditdfareign sales offices, and our foreign assetslabilities. We attempt -
manage these risks by primarily denominating cetiiel and other foreign arrangements in U.S. dall@ur primary exposu
in regard to our foreign assets and liabilitiesigh our Australian subsidiary whose functionalreuncy is the Australian doll:
We are indirectly exposed to changes in foreignrenay exchange rates to the extent of our use digo contrac
manufacturers and foreign raw material supplierewlwve pay in U.S. dollars. As a result, changeblénlocal currency rates
these vendors in relation to the U.S. dollar caadse an increase in the price of products thaiwehase.
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The following consolidated financial statements@gtained in this report.
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MANAGEMENT’'S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANC IAL REPORTING

Management of ADTRAN, Inc. is responsible for eB&liing and maintaining adequate internal contr@rdinancial reportin
as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) untderSecurities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.FMN's internal contrc
over financial reporting is designed to providesm@ble assurance regarding the reliability ofrfaia reporting and tt
preparation of financial statements for externatppses in accordance with generally accepted atiogurprinciples
ADTRAN's internal control over financial reportingcludes those policies and procedures that:

e pertain to the maintenance of records that, inaeaisle detail, accurately and fairly reflect thangactions ar
dispositions of the assets of ADTRA

e provide reasonable assurance that transaction®eveded as necessary to permit preparation offiahstatemen
in accordance with generally accepted accountimgimles, and that receipts and expenditures of RBIN are bein
made only in accordance with authorizations of nganzent and directors of ADTRAN; a

»  provide reasonable assurance regarding preventitimely detection of unauthorized acquisition, wsedispositio
of ADTRAN'’s assets that could have a material effect onitla@dial statement:

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtover financial reporting may not prevent or @étmisstatements. Als
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness utufe periods are subject to the risk that contro&y become inadequ.
because of changes in conditions, or that the degfreompliance with the policies or procedures meteriorate.

Management assessed the effectiveness of ADTRAMErnal control over financial reporting as oédember 31, 2009.
making this assessment, management used theastrforth by the Committee of Sponsoring Orgditra of the Treadw:
Commission (COSO) imternal Control-Integrated Framework.

Based on our assessment and those criteria, maeagéas concluded that ADTRAN maintained effectiternal control ove
financial reporting as of December 31, 2009.

The effectiveness of our internal control over fioial reporting has been audited by Pricewaterh@aspers LLP, &
independent registered public accounting firm,tated in their report which appears herein.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm
To Board of Directors and Stockholders of ADTRANG

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetadisted in the accompanying index present fairyall material respects, tl
financial position of ADTRAN, Inc. and its subsidizs at December 31, 2009 and December 31, 20@8thenresults of the
operations and their cash flows for each of thedhyears in the period ended December 31, 2008nfomity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United Stafe&Smerica. In addition, in our opinion, the finaalkcstatement schedule list
in the accompanying index presents fairly, in aditemial respects, the information set forth therghen read in conjunctic
with the related consolidated financial statemeAtiso in our opinion, the Company maintained, ih rakterial respect:
effective internal control over financial reportiag of December 31, 2009, based on criteria estadali ininternal Control —
Integrated Frameworlissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatiohshe Treadway Commission (COSO). 1
Companys management is responsible for these financitdrstents and financial statement schedule, for raiminy effective
internal control over financial reporting and fts assessment of the effectiveness of internalr@oaver financial reporting
included in the accompanyindanagement’s Report On Internal Control Over Finahdreporting.Our responsibility is tt
express opinions on these financial statementsheffinancial statement schedule, and on the Cowgipanternal control ove
financial reporting based on our integrated audi® conducted our audits in accordance with thadstals of the Publi
Company Accounting Oversight Board (United Stat@fpse standards require that we plan and perfogratidits to obtai
reasonable assurance about whether the finanei@nsénts are free of material misstatement andhghedffective interne
control over financial reporting was maintained d@lt material respects. Our audits of the finandtdtements include
examining, on a test basis, evidence supportingutheunts and disclosures in the financial statesp@stsessing the account
principles used and significant estimates made Agagement, and evaluating the overall financidaéstant presentation. O
audit of internal control over financial reportingeluded obtaining an understanding of internaltadrover financial reporting
assessing the risk that a material weakness egistsfesting and evaluating the design and operatifectiveness of intern
control based on the assessed risk. Our auditdradbaled performing such other procedures as wsidered necessary in t
circumstances. We believe that our audits provitdEagonable basis for our opinions.

As discussed in Note 7 to the consolidated findmsti@ements, the Company changed the manner inhwhiaccounts fo
uncertain tax positions in fiscal 2007.

A companys internal control over financial reporting is aopess designed to provide reasonable assuranceliregdhe
reliability of financial reporting and the prepacat of financial statements for external purposesdécordance with genera
accepted accounting principles. A companiyternal control over financial reporting inclgsdose policies and procedures 1
(i) pertain to the maintenance of records thateimsonable detail, accurately and fairly refleet tfansactions and dispositic
of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reastmabsurance that transactions are recorded assaggdo permit preparatic
of financial statements in accordance with gengradicepted accounting principles, and that receipts expenditures of t
company are being made only in accordance withoaiztitions of management and directors of the cawpand (i) provide
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or tidetlction of unauthorized acquisition, use, opakstion of the compang’
assets that could have a material effect on tteméial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtover financial reporting may not prevent or a¢teisstatements. Als
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness titufe periods are subject to the risk that contrtsy become inadeque
because of changes in conditions, or that the degfreompliance with the policies or procedures metgeriorate.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers L

Birmingham, Alabami
February 26, 201
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Financial Statements

ADTRAN, INC.
Consolidated Balance Sheets (In thousands, exceptghare amounts)
December 31, 2009 and 201

2009 2008
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalel $ 24,13 $  41,90¢
Shor-term investment 172,46¢ 96,271
Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtfgoants of $138 and $38 at Decemb
31, 2009 and 2008, respectivi 68,04« 52,74¢
Other receivable 4,097 2,89¢
Inventory 45,67 47,40¢
Prepaid expenst 2,79 2,97¢
Deferred tax assets, r 8,60: 8,65:
Total current assets 325,81 252,86
Property, plant, and equipment, | 74,30¢ 75,48
Deferred tax assets, r — 3,92(
Other asset 2,16¢ 10z
Long-term investment 162,16¢ 141,24:
Total assets $ 564,46: $ 473,61
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities
Accounts payabl $ 25,78 $ 20,31
Unearned revent 7,13¢ 6,141
Accrued expense 4,20z 3,53¢
Accrued wages and benef 7,63¢ 9,86¢
Income tax payable, n 3,017 26€
Total current liabilities 47,77: 40,12¢
Deferred tax liabilities, ne 5,03t —
Other nor-current liabilities 11,39( 9,42:
Bonds payabl 47,75( 48,25(
Total liabilities 111,94t 97,79¢
Commitments and contingencies (see Note
Stockholders' equity
Common stock, par value $0.01 per share; 200,08 slauthorized; 79,652 issued in
2009 and 200 797 797
Additional paic-in capital 181,24( 172,70«
Accumulated other comprehensive income (li 17,85: (1,009
Retained earning 649,25¢ 603,60(
Less treasury stock at cost: 17,392 shares at OssreBd, 2009 and 17,493 shares at
December 31, 20C (396,63) (400,279
Total stockholders’ equity 452 51! 375,81¢
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 564,46 $ 473,61

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofél@msolidated financial statements.
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ADTRAN, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Income (In thousands;ept per share amounts)
Years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007

2009 2008 2007

Sales $ 484,18! $ 500,67t $ 476,77
Cost of sale: 197,22; 201,77: 193,79.

Gross profit 286,96: 298,90! 282,98t
Selling, general, and administrative exper 99,44¢ 103,28t 103,32¢
Research and development exper 83,28¢ 81,81¢ 75,36

Operating income 104,23: 113,80( 104,29(
Interest and dividend incon 6,93: 8,70¢ 11,521
Interest expens (2,430 (2,519 (2,502
Net realized investment gain (los (1,299 (2,409 49¢
Other income, ne 131 68¢ 764
Life insurance proceec — — 1,00(C

Income before provision for income taxes 107,56¢ 118,27: 115,57:
Provision for income taxe 33,341 39,69: 39,23¢

Net income $ 74,22 $ 78,58 $ 76,33t
Weighted average shares outstan— basic 62,45¢ 63,54¢ 67,84¢
Weighted average shares outstan— diluted (1) 63,35¢ 64,40¢ 69,21:
Earnings per common shé— basic $ 1.1¢ $ 1.2¢ $ 1.1z
Earnings per common she— diluted (1) $ 1.17 $ 1.22 $ 1.1C

(1) Assumes exercise of dilutive stock options cal@adatinder the treasury method. See Notes 1 and ifieoNotes t
Consolidated Financial Statemer

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofélmmsolidated financial statements.
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ADTRAN, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockhold&guity and Comprehensive Income

(In thousands)
Years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007

Accumulated

Additional Other Total
Common Common Paid-In Retained Treasury Comprehensive Stockholders’
Shares Stock Capital Earnings  Stock Income (Loss) Equity
Balance, December 31, 20C 79,65. $ 797 $ 152,16: $513,51! $(233,21) $ 2,696 $ 435,95¢
Net income 76,33t 76,33t
Net change in unrealized gains/loss
related to
Marketable securities (net of
deferred tax of $1,40¢ 2,37¢ 2,37t
Impaired marketable securities (r
of deferred tax of $31 52 52
Foreign currency translation
adjustmen 581 581
Comprehensive incorr 79,34
Dividend payment (24,600 (24,600
Adoption of FIN 48 (1,190 (2,190
Stock options exercised: Various prit
per share (12,29¢) 27,58¢ 15,28¢
Purchase of treasury stock: 5,756 sh. (138,589 (138,589
Income tax benefit from exercise of stock
options 4,40¢ 4,40¢
Stock-based compensation expel 7,81 7,81F
Balance, December 31, 20C 79,65: $ 797 $ 164,38! $551,76: $(344,21) $ 570 $ 378,43:
Net income 78,58 78,58:
Net change in unrealized gains/losses
related to
Marketable securities (net of
deferred tax of $3,63¢ (6,127) (6,127
Impaired marketable securities (net
of deferred tax of $74( 1,23¢ 1,23¢
Foreign currency translation
adjustmen (1,824 (1,829
Comprehensive incorr 71,86¢
Dividend payment (22,919 (22,919
Dividends accrued for unvested restricted
stock units 2 2
Stock options exercised: Various price:
per share (3,829 7,51¢ 3,691
Purchase of treasury stock: 3,078 sh. (63,569) (63,569
Income tax benefit from exercise of stc
options 981 981
Stock-based compensation expel 7,33¢ 7,33¢
Balance, December 31, 20C 79,65. $ 797 $ 172,70 $603,60( $(400,27) $ (1,009 $ 375,81¢
Net income 74,22: 74,22
Net change in unrealized gains/loss
related to
Marketable securities (net
deferred tax of $9,21¢ 15,38¢ 15,38«
Impaired marketable securities (r
of deferred tax of $617 1,01(C 1,01(
Foreign currency translation
adjustmen 2,46¢ 2,46¢
Comprehensive incorr 93,08:
Dividend payment (22,48¢) (22,48¢)
Dividends accrued for unvested restric
stock units a2 12
Stock options exercised: Various prices
per share (6,067) 19,53¢ 13,47
Purchase of treasury stock: 755 shi (15,89¢) (15,89¢)
Income tax benefit from exercise of stock
options 1,54¢ 1,54¢
Stocl-based compensation expel 6,987 6,987
Balance, December 31, 20C 79,65: $ 797 $ 181,24( $649,25t $(396,63) $ 17,85 $ 452,51!




ADTRAN issued 856 shares, 325 shares and 1,19¢slddrtreasury stock to accommodate employee siptikn exercise
during 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively. Durin@&@nd 2007, ADTRAN received 9 shares and 2 shaespectively
previously held by employees for at least six merah payment of the exercise price for employeekstptions. None of tt
transactions with respect to these shares were imatthe open market. The average price paid pereshih respect to the
transactions was based on the closing price ofctmmon stock on the NASDAQ Global Select Markettloa date of th
transaction. There were no such transactions d209§.

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofél@msolidated financial statements
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ADTRAN, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (In thousands
Years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007

Cash flows from operating activities
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net caskigeal by operating
activities:
Depreciation and amortizatic
Amortization of net premium on availa-for-sale investment
Net realized loss (gain) on lo-term investment
Loss (gain) on disposal of property, plant, andigment
Stocl-based compensation expel
Deferred income taxe
Tax benefit from stock option exercis
Excess tax benefits from stc-based compensation arrangeme
Change in operating assets and liabilit
Accounts receivable, n
Other receivable
Income tax receivable, n
Inventory
Prepaid expenses and other as
Accounts payabl
Accrued expenses and other liabilit
Income taxes payable, r
Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of property, plant, and equipn
Proceeds from sales and maturities of avai-for-sale investmeni
Purchases of availal-for-sale investment
Acquisition of business, net of cash acqui
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from stock option exerci:
Purchases of treasury stc
Dividend payment
Payments on lor-term debt
Excess tax benefits from stc-based compensation arrangeme
Net cash used in financing activitie:
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis
Effect of exchange rate chang
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of ye:
Cash and cash equivalents, end of yei

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow informal
Cash paid during the year for inter
Cash paid during the year for income ta

2009 2008 2007
$ 74222 $ 7858 $ 76,33t
10,08¢ 9,891 10,69:
3,68¢ 2,101 2,09¢
1,297 2,40¢ (49¢)
(31) 83 65
6,981 7,33¢ 7,81¢
(1,022) (909) (2,990
1,54¢ 981 4,40¢
(99¢) (61¢) (3,249
(15,149 17,91¢ (13,899
(1,195) 18¢ 4,39¢
— — 1,44¢

1,73¢ 1,14( 4,571
(48¢) (549) 59€
5,44; (1,887 (7,939
1,01C 93 3,517
3,02 (951) 1,507
90,15¢ 115,81! 88,87
(8,740) (9,497) (6,53%)
186,19: 248,68t 253,33
(262,06) (242,79) (217,31
(1,370) — —
(85,989 (3,595 29,48¢
13,47: 3,691 15,28¢
(15,89¢) (63,569 (138,58¢)
(22,48¢) (22,919 (24,600)
(500) (250) (500)
99¢ 61¢ 3,24¢
(24,415 (82,42%) (145,15:)
(20,24%) 29,79: (26,787
2,46¢ (1,822 581
41,90¢ 13,94: 40,14
$ 2413t $  41,90¢ $ 13,94
$ 243 $ 2447 $  2,46¢
$ 3086¢ $ 42267 $ 35,00

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofélemsolidated financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statemel
Note 1 — Nature of Business and Summary of Signiimt Accounting Policies

ADTRAN, Inc. designs, manufactures, markets andises network access solutions for communicatioasvarks. Ou
solutions are widely deployed by providers of cominations services (serviced by our Carrier Netwdpkvision), and sme
and midsized businesses (SMBs) and enterprises (servicedibEnterprise Networks Division), and enableceoidata, vide
and Internet communications across wireline anéless networks. Many of these solutions are cuyrémuse by every maj
United States service provider and many global oasswell as by many public, private and govern@lentganizatior
worldwide.

Principles of Consolidation

Our consolidated financial statements include ADTRANd its wholly owned subsidiaries. All significaimter-compan'
accounts and transactions have been eliminateohisotidation.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents represent demand depuositey market funds, and shtetim investments classified as availi
for sale with original maturities of three monthsless. We maintain depository investments withaierfinancial institution:
Although these depository investments may exceedergment insured depository limits, we have evadathe cred
worthiness of these applicable financial institn§pand determined the risk of material finanasisl due to exposure of s
credit risk to be minimal. As of December 31, 20$23.1 million of our cash and cash equivalentsnarily certain domest
money market funds and foreign depository accoumése in excess of government provided insured siggg limits. The
Temporary Liquidity Guarantee Program adopted @u@008 by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporgbiavided ful
coverage of our domestic depository accounts thrddgcember 2009. Although this program was exteridesigh June 3
2010, the banks where we maintain our depositocg@ats opted out of participation in the prograterabecember 31, 2009.

Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts reported in the consolidatathrite sheets for cash and cash equivalents, ascoegeivable, ar
accounts payable approximate fair value due tontimeediate or shorterm maturity of these financial instruments. Therginc
amount reported for bonds payable was $48.3 miliompared to an estimated fair value of $45.8 arllibased on a d¢
security with a comparable interest rate and migtarid a Standard & Poor’s credit rating of A+.

Investments with maturities beyond one year, sichua variable rate demand notes, may be classiieshorterm based ¢
their highly liquid nature and because such malitetaecurities represent the investment of cashishavailable for curre
operations. At December 31, 2009, 98% of our véiabte demand notes had a credit rating of VMIGFIA-1+ with the
remaining 2% rated A-1 and all contained put omi@i seven days. Thus, despite the lterga nature of their stat
contractual maturities, we believe that we have dbdity to quickly liquidate these securities. Oimvestments in the
securities are recorded at fair value, and theésterates reset every seven days. We have theydbilsell our variable ra
demand notes to the remarketing agent, tender agernigsuer at par value plus accrued interesh@ dvent we decide
liquidate our investment in a particular variabdgerdemand note. Approximately 22% of our variabke demand notes
supported by letters of credit from banks that weelve to be in good financial condition. The renirag 78% of our variab
rate demand notes are supported by standby purelgasements. As a result of all of these factoeshad no cumulative grc
unrealized holding gains (losses) or gross realigaiths (losses) from these investments at DeceBihe?009. All incom
generated from these investments was recordedie®sh income. We have not been required to reaoydlosses relating
municipal variable rate demand notes or auctioa sacurities, and we have held no auction raterisiesusince February
2008.

Long-term investments represent a restricted amatd of deposit, municipal fixedite bonds, FDIC guaranteed corpc
bonds, a fixed income bond fund, marketable egsityurities, and other equity investments. Marketagjuity securities &
reported at fair value as determined by the mastntly traded price of the securities at the badastteet date, although
securities may not beeadily marketable due to the size of the availabérket. Unrealized gains and losses, net of te
reported as a separate component of stockholdgsty. Realized gains and losses on sales of iiesteire computed under
specific identification method and are included darrent income. We periodically review our investigortfolio foi
investments considered to have sustained an dihertemporary decline in value. Impairment chafgesther-thantemporar
declines in value are recorded as realized losst#ei accompanying consolidated statements of iecdh of our investmen
at December 31, 2009 and 2008 are classified amblafor-sale (see Note 3).
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Accounts Receivable

We record accounts receivable at net realizablgevdbrior to issuing payment terms to a new custpme perform a detail¢
credit review of the customer. Credit limits areabtished for each new customer based on the sestilthis credit reviev
Payment terms are established for each new custamercollection experience is reviewed periodjcadlorder to determine
the customer’s payment terms and credit limits rtedak revised.

We maintain an allowance for doubtful accounts lfsses resulting from the inability of our customéo make require
payments. We regularly review the allowance forkdful accounts and consider factors such as theohgecounts receivat
balances, the current economic conditions that affgct a customer’'s ability to pay, significant eimee events and o
historical experience. If the financial conditioha customer deteriorates, resulting in an impaiad their ability to mak
payments, we may be required to make additionahalhces. If circumstances change with regard tovichaal receivabl
balances that have previously been determined tonkellectible (and for which a specific reserves limeen established)
reduction in our allowance for doubtful accountsyrba required. Our allowance for doubtful accoumts $138 thousand
December 31, 2009 and $38 thousand at Decemb@0B8,

Other Receivables

Other receivables are comprised primarily of amsuwiute from subcontract manufacturers for produstmment transfers a
accrued interest on a restricted certificate ofodép

Inventory

Inventory is carried at the lower of cost or markeith cost being determined using the first-instfiout method. Standard ca
for material, labor and manufacturing overhead @sed to value inventory. Standard costs are updattddast quarterl
therefore, inventory costs approximate actual castthe end of each reporting period. We estabisierves for estimat
excess, obsolete or unmarketable inventory equiietdifference between the cost of the inventony the estimated fair val
of the inventory based upon assumptions aboutduemand and market conditions. When we disposxadss and obsol
inventories, the related write-downs are chargedneg the inventory reserve.

Property, Plant, and Equipment

Property, plant, and equipment, which are statewsit, are depreciated using straitiie- depreciation over the estimated us
lives of the assets. We depreciate building and larprovements from five to 39 years, office maejnand equipment fro
three to seven years, engineering machinery anipregunt from three to seven years and computer soévirom three to fiv
years. Expenditures for repairs and maintenancetarged to expense as incurred. Betterments thggrially prolong the live
of the assets are capitalized. The cost of asséited or otherwise disposed of and the relatedimotated depreciation ¢
removed from the accounts, and the gain or lossumh disposition is included in other income, methe accompanyir
consolidated statements of income.

Liability for Warranty

Our products generally include warranties of ondeto years for product defects. We accrue for wdyraeturns at the tin
revenue is recognized based on our estimate otdbketo repair or replace the defective products. &ligage in extensi
product quality programs and processes, includitiyely monitoring and evaluating the quality ofrazomponent suppliel
Our products continue to become more complex it lsate and functionality as many of our producenffgs migrate frol
line card applications to systems products. Thesigmging complexity of our products will cause watyaincidences, when th
arise, to be more costly. Our estimates regardimgré warranty obligations may change due to prothilure rates, materi
usage, and other rework costs incurred in corrgdiproduct failure. In addition, from time to tingpecific warranty accru:
may be recorded if unforeseen problems arise. Shmui actual experience relative to these factera/tirse than our estimat
we will be required to record additional warranggpense. Alternatively, if we provide for more reses than we require, \
will reverse a portion of such provisions in futuperiods. The liability for warranty obligationstated $2.8 million ¢
December 31, 2009 and 2008. These liabilities actuded in accrued expenses in the accompanyingotidated balant
sheets.
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A summary of warranty expense and write-off acyivdr the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2088 fisllows:

Year Ended December 31

(In thousands) 2009 2008
Balance at beginning of peri $ 2,81z $ 2,94¢
Plus: amounts acquired or charged to cost and egg 2,66t 2,261
Less: deduction (2,644) (2,397

Balance at end of period $ 2,83t $ 2,817

Stock-Based Compensation

We have two Board and stockholder approved stotiomplans from which stock options and other awame available fi
grant to employees and directors. All employee dinelctor stock options granted under our stockawpgilans have an exerc
price equal to the fair market value of the awaddefined in the plan, of the underlying commamison the grant date. Th
are currently no vesting provisions tied to perfante or market conditions for any option awardsting for all outstandir
option grants is based only on continued servicaraemployee or director of ADTRAN. All of our otdaading stock optic
awards are classified as equity awards.

Under the provisions of our approved plans, we ngadats of performancieased restricted stock units to five of our exe
officers in 2009 and 2008. The restricted stocksuare subject to a market condition based on afaive total sharehold
return of ADTRAN against a peer group of compargad vest at the end of a thrgear performance period. The restric
stock units are converted into shares of commockstipon vesting. Depending on the relative totalrsholder return over t
performance period, the executive officers may ém 0% to 150% of the number of restricted staoks granted. The f¢
value of the award is based on the market pricguofcommon stock on the date of grant, adjustedhierexpected outcome
the impact of market conditions using a Monte C&imulation valuation method. The recipients of thstricted stock uni
also earn dividend credits during the performareog, which will be paid in cash upon the issuaoteommon stock for tt
restricted stock units.

Stockbased compensation expense recognized under tlok Smmpensation Topic of the Financial Accountingrdard
Board Accounting Standards Codification (FASB ASER009, 2008 and 2007 was approximately $7.0 omi/li$7.3 millior
and $7.8 million, respectively. As of December 2009, total compensation cost related to mested stock options a
restricted stock units not yet recognized was apprately $16.1 million, which is expected to beagnized over an avers
remaining recognition period of 2.9 years. See Noté Notes to Consolidated Financial Statementsdiditional information.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

We review longhved assets for impairment under the guidanceqpitesd by the Property, Plant, and Equipment Tapithe
FASB ASC. We evaluate lonljred assets used in operations for impairment whien events or changes in circumsta
indicate that the carrying amount of an asset nwybe recoverable and the undiscounted cash fletismated to be genera
by the asset are less than the assedrrying value. An impairment loss would be retpgd in the amount by which 1
recorded value of the asset exceeds the fair \@itlee asset, measured by the quoted market pfiem asset or an estim
based on the best information available in theucirstances. There were no such impairment lossegmeed during 200
2008 and 2007.

Research and Development Costs

Research and development costs include compenstifoengineers and support personnel, outside aocter service
depreciation and material costs associated with pr@duct development, the enhancement of currexttymts, and product ct
reductions. We continually evaluate new productoospmities and engage in intensive research andustodevelopme
efforts. Research and development costs totaleB$8ilion, $81.8 million and $75.4 million for theears ended December
2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

Comprehensive Income

Comprehensive income consists of all changes itye¢net assets) during a period from n@mner sources. Items includec
comprehensive income include net income, changesrealized gains and losses on marketable sexsyrétnd foreign curren
translation adjustments. Comprehensive incomedsgnted in the Consolidated Statements of ChangewckholdersEquity
and Comprehensive Income.
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The components of accumulated comprehensive in¢sg) are as follows:

Change in
Unrealized Gains Foreign Accumulated
and (Losses) on Currency Other
Marketable Translation Comprehensive
(In thousands) Securities, Net of Ta: Adjustment Income (Loss)
Balance at December 31, 20C $ 2,21¢ $ 477 $ 2,69¢
Activity in 2007 2,427 581 3,00¢
Balance at December 31, 20C 4,64¢ 1,05¢ 5,704
Activity in 2008 (4,889 (1,829 (6,713
Balance at December 31, 2008 (243) (76€) (2,009
Activity in 2009 16,39« 2,46¢ 18,86:
Balance at December 31, 20C $ 16,15. $ 1,702 $ 17,85

Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes has been determiisaty the asset and liability approach of accognfiim income taxes. Und
this approach, deferred taxes represent the flitreonsequences expected to occur when the relpanteunts of assets ¢
liabilities are recovered or paid. The provision ifttome taxes represents income taxes paid otpmyjer the current year pl
the change in deferred taxes during the year. Derfetaxes result from the difference between fir@rand tax bases of ¢
assets and liabilities and are adjusted for chaimgts rates and tax laws when such changes actezh Valuation allowanc
are recorded to reduce deferred tax assets wiemibre likely than not that a tax benefit will rim realized.

Foreign Currency

We record transactions denominated in foreign awies on a monthly basis using exchange rates fhwoughout the yee
Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign cocies are translated at the balance sheet dateg tl® closing rates
exchange between those foreign currencies and tle dbllar with any transaction gains or lossesorga in income
Adjustments from translating financial statementsnternational subsidiaries are recorded as a corpt of accumulat:
comprehensive income (loss).

Revenue Recognition

Revenue is generally recognized upon shipment efpitoduct to the customer in accordance with tmmgeof the sale
agreement, generally FOB shipping point. In thescalsconsigned inventory, revenue is recognizednaie end custom
assumes ownership of the product. When contracttaitomultiple elements, contract interpretatiorsésnetimes required
determine the appropriate accounting, including tiwaethe deliverables specified in a multiple elameontract should |
treated as separate units of accounting for revesxmgnition purposes, and, if so, how the priceusthbe allocated among !
elements and when to recognize the revenue for elachent. We record revenue associated with iasi@atl services when t
installation and all contractual obligations aremptete. When contracts include both installatiord groduct sales, tl
installation is considered as a separate deliverébim. Either the purchaser, ADTRAN, or a thirdtpacan perform th
installation of our products. Shipping fees areorded as revenue and the related cost is includedst of sales. Revenue¢
recorded net of discounts. Also, revenue is reabrgleen the product price is fixed or determinabfalection of the resultir
receivable is probable, and product returns arsorebly estimable. Sales returns are accrued hmasdibtorical sales retu
experience, which we believe provides a reasoredilmate of future returns.

A portion of Enterprise Networks products are saldhe United States through a nexrelusive distribution network of ma
technology distributors. These large organizatittven distribute to an extensive network of vahakeled resellers and syst
integrators. Valuedded resellers and system integrators may béatdfil with us as a channel partner, or they maghas
from the distributor in an unaffiliated fashion. ditionally, with certain limitations our distribut® may return unused &
unopened product for stodlalancing purposes when such returns are accontphyieffsetting orders for products of eque
greater value.

We patrticipate in cooperative advertising and madexvelopment programs with certain customers. 8&ethese programs
reimburse customers for certain forms of advergisand in general, to allow our customers credit$cua specified percente
of their net purchases. Our costs associated wiglset programs are estimated and included in magketkpenses in o
consolidated statements of income. We also paatiei;m rebate programs to provide sales incenfiwesertain products. O
costs associated with these programs are estimatbdccrued at the time of sale, and are recorsledr@duction of sales in «
consolidated statements of income.
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Unearned Revenue

Unearned revenue primarily represents customendplon our maintenance service programs and @efeevenues relating
multiple element contracts where we still have cactual obligations to our customers. We curremtffer maintenanc
contracts ranging from one to five years, primaoity Enterprise Networks Division products sold thgio distribution channe
Revenue attributable to maintenance contractscisgrized on a straighifie basis over the related contract term. In aaia),
we provide software maintenance and a variety adyare maintenance services to Carrier Network diwi customers unc
contracts with terms up to ten years. Non-curremtamned revenue is included in other monrent liabilities in th
accompanying consolidated balance sheets. At Dese8ih 2009 and 2008, unearned revenue was as/follo

(In thousands) 2009 2008

Current unearned reven $ 7,13¢ $ 6,141
Non-current unearned reven 3,91°F 3,23
Total $ 11,05: $ 9,37¢

Other Income, net

Other income, net, is comprised primarily of mitmetous income and expense, gains and losses ergrfocurrenc
transactions, investment account management feeks,gains or losses on the disposal of propertyntpland equipme
occurring in the normal course of business.

Earnings Per Share

Earnings per common share, and earnings per constmane assuming dilution, are based on the weightedage number
common shares and, when dilutive, common equivaleates outstanding during the year (see Note 11).

Dividends

The Board of Directors presently anticipates thatill declare a regular quarterly dividend so laagthe current tax treatm
of dividends exists and adequate levels of liquidite maintained. During the years ended Decenthe2(®9, 2008 and 20(
ADTRAN paid $22.5 million, $22.9 million and $24ngillion, respectively, in dividend payments. On Jdary 19, 2010, tt
Board of Directors declared a quarterly cash diwief $0.09 per common share to be paid to holderscord at the close
business on February 4, 2010. Thedaxdend date was February 2, 2010 and the paymiatet was February 18, 2010. -
quarterly dividend payment was $5.6 million.

Business Combinations

On September 15, 2009, we acquired all of the antéhg stock of Objectworld Communications Corpiora{Objectworld),

provider of unified communication solutions. Thergmse of this acquisition was to acquire unifiedmamunication
technologies. These technologies have been ineyiato our NetVant® product line. The purchase price was approxim
$1.5 million in cash subject to certain post clgsadjustments, and was allocated to the individsakts and liabilities acquir
There was no goodwill determined in the final pash price allocation. Objectworfdfinancial statements have been incl
in our consolidated statements of income and cashsffrom the date of the acquisition to Decembir 3009 and ol
consolidated balance sheet dated December 31, 2009.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conftymvith accounting principles generally acceptedthe United States
America requires management to make estimates ssurgtions that affect the reported amounts oftass®l liabilities, th
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilitieshat date of the financial statements, and the tegamounts of revenue ¢
expense during the reporting period. ADTRANMore significant estimates include the allowafae doubtful account
obsolete and excess inventory reserves, warraggrves, customer rebates, allowance for salesnsetdetermination of tl
deferred revenue components of multiple elememrissafjreements, estimated income tax contingenbe$air value of stock-
based compensation, and the evaluation of othexttraporary declines in the value of investments.uActmounts cou
differ significantly from these estimates.
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Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In January 2010, the Financial Accounting Stand&ulard (FASB) issued Update No. 20Q6; which amends the Fair Va
Measurements and Disclosures topic of the FASB Arting Standards Codification (Codification). Thmendments in th
update require new disclosures about transferadnoait of Levels 1 and 2 fair value measurementsthe activity in Level
fair value measurements and, in addition, clarikysting disclosures required for levels of disaggtton and inputs al
valuation techniques. These amendments will betffe for interim and annual reporting periods loegig after December 1
2009, except for the disclosures about activity éwel 3 fair value measurements, which is effecfivefiscal years beginnir
after December 15, 2010, and for interim periodhiwithose fiscal years. We plan to adopt this adnent and provide a
additional disclosures required for the period egd¥larch 31, 2010.

In October 2009, the FASB issued Update No. 20B9which amends the Revenue Recognition topib@fQodification. Thi
update provides amendments to the criteria in $udt605-25 of the Codification for separating caolesation in multiple-
deliverable arrangements. As a result of those dments, multipledeliverable arrangements will be separated in
circumstances than under existing U.S. GAAP. Theradments establish a selling price hierarchy faemeining the sellin
price of a deliverable and will replace the ternn f@lue in the revenue allocation guidance withirsg price to clarify that th
allocation of revenue is based on enspecific assumptions rather than assumptions ofagketplace participant. T
amendments will also eliminate the residual metbbdllocation and require that arrangement conatiter be allocated at t
inception of the arrangement to all deliverableisgishe relative selling price method and will requthat a vendor determi
its best estimate of selling price in a manner thaionsistent with that used to determine theepricsell the deliverable or
standalone basis. These amendments will be eféeptiospectively for revenue arrangements entetecommaterially modifie
in fiscal years beginning on or after June 15, 204ith early adoption permitted. We do not expdwt aadoption of th
amendment will have a material impact on our cadatgd results of operations or financial condition

In October 2009, the FASB issued Update No. 20809which amends the Software topic of the Codiiica The amendmer
in this update change the accounting model formegearrangements that include both tangible predamctl software elemer
Tangible products containing software components mamsoftware components that function together to éelthe tangibl
product’s essential functionality is no longer wittihe scope of the software revenue guidance istdpic 985605 of thi
Codification. In addition, the amendments in thjdate require that hardware components of a tamgibbduct containir
software components always be excluded from thievaoé revenue guidance. In that regard, the amentinpeovide addition
guidance on how to determine which software, if,arlating to the tangible product also would belested from the scope
the software revenue guidance. The amendments @dde guidance on how a vendor should allocat@ngemer
consideration to deliverables in an arrangemeritititdudes both tangible products and software. dimendments also prov
further guidance on how to allocate arrangemensidenation when an arrangement includes delivesabtgh included ar
excluded from the scope of the software revenuelagge. These amendments will be effective prospalgtifor revenu
arrangements entered into or materially modifiedfigtal years beginning on or after June 15, 204ith early adoptio
permitted. We do not expect the adoption of thissadment will have a material impact on our constéd results «
operations or financial condition.

During 2009, we adopted the following accountingdgnce, none of which had a material effect onanmsolidated results
operations or financial condition:

In December 2007, the FASB revised the authorgaguidance for business combinations, which estaddi principles ai
requirements for how an acquirer recognizes andsorea in its financial statements the identifisddsets acquired, liabiliti
assumed, and any noncontrolling interest in theuiaeg in a business combination. The guidance kstials principle
stipulating how goodwill acquired in a business bamtion or a gain from a bargain purchase sho@ddrognized ar
measured. The guidance also expands the disclasgugrements related to the nature and financiglaich of busine:
combinations. We adopted this guidance as of Jariy&2009. We have applied this guidance to thénlegs combination th
occurred in the third quarter of 2009.

In June 2009, the FASB established the FASB Catifio as the source of authoritative U.S. generatigepted accounti
principles (GAAP) recognized by the FASB to be &iplto nongovernmental entities and rules and jpinétive releases of t
SEC as authoritative GAAP for SEC registrants. Tloglification supersedes all the existing ®BE accounting and report
standards upon its effective date and subsequénéyrASB will not issue new standards in the fefnStatements, FASB St
Positions or Emerging Issues Task Force Abstrddis guidance is effective for interim periods emlafter September
2009. We adopted this guidance for the period enSleptember 30, 2009, with no effect on our conatéid results «
operations and financial condition for the thred amelve months ended December 31, 2009.

In December 2007, the FASB revised the authorigaguidance for consolidation, which establishesacting and reportir
standards for the noncontrolling interest in a &lihsy and for the deconsolidation of a subsididfge guidance clarifies tha
noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary is an ovehdp interest in the consolidated entity that stidaé reported as equity in
consolidated financial statements. The guidanae r@guires consolidated net income to be reportednaunts that include t
amounts attributable to both the parent and theamnolling interest. It also requires discloswre,the face of the consolida
statement of income, of the amounts of consolidagtdincome attributable to the parent and to threcontrolling interest.
also provides guidance when a subsidiary is dediolated and requires expanded disclosures in tmsatimlated financii



statements that clearly identify and distinguishwaen the interests of the parent and the intetddtse noncontrolling owne
of a subsidiary. We adopted this guidance as afalgnl, 2009. The adoption of this guidance haéffect on our consolidat
results of operations and financial condition fog three and twelve months ended December 31, 2009.

53




Table of Contents

In June 2008, the FASB revised the authoritativielance for earnings per share, which establishasuhvested sharfease:
payment awards that contain nfmwfeitable rights to dividends or dividend equismals are participating securities and sha
included in the computation of earnings per shamsymnt to the twalass method. In contrast, the right to receivédainds ¢
dividend equivalents that the holder will forfeitthe award does not vest does not constitute ticfation right and such |
award does not meet the definition of a particigaBecurity in its current form (that is, priorthe requisite service having by
rendered for the award). We adopted this guidascefa@anuary 1, 2009. The adoption of this guidadmae no effect on o
consolidated results of operations and financiabdition for the three and twelve months ended D31, 2009.

In April 2009, the FASB revised the authoritativeidance for financial instruments. The guidanceunes disclosures abc
fair value of financial instruments in interim fingial statements as well as in annual financiaestants. This guidance
effective for interim periods ending after June 2809. We adopted this guidance in the second euaft2009, and ha
provided the disclosures required for the periodirsgn December 31, 2009.

In April 2009, the FASB revised the authoritativeidance for fair value measurements and disclostargsovide addition:i
guidance in determining whether a market for arfaial asset is not active and a transaction isdisitessed for fair val
measurement purposes. This guidance is effectiverferim periods ending after June 15, 2009. Wepéet this guidance f
the period ending June 30, 2009. The adoption isf ghnidance had no effect on our consolidated tesafl operations ai
financial condition for the three and twelve mongimsled December 31, 2009.

In April 2009, the FASB revised the authoritativéidance for investments in debt and equity seewitdo provide guidance
determining whether impairments in debt securities other-thatemporary, and modifies the presentation and disck
surrounding such instruments. This guidance iscéffe for interim periods ending after June 15, 208Ve adopted tt
provisions of this guidance for the period endinge)30, 2009. The adoption of this guidance hadffext on our consolidat
results of operations and financial condition toe three and twelve months ended December 31, 2009.

In May 2009, the FASB revised the authoritative dgumice for subsequent events, which establishesrajesindards
accounting for and disclosure of events that oedtar the balance sheet date but before finanta@émments are issued or
available to be issued. This guidance is effedivdinancial statements issued for interim anduaimeporting periods endi
after June 15, 2009. We adopted this guidancehtoperiod ended June 30, 2009, and have provigedisislosures required
the period ending December 31, 2009.

Note 2 — Stock Incentive Plans
Stock Incentive Program Descriptions

Our Board of Directors adopted the 1996 Employammtive Stock Option Plan (1996 Plan) effective reaby 14, 1996, :
amended, under which 17.0 million shares of commsimek were authorized for issuance to certain eygg@s and office
through incentive stock options and ngqualified stock options. Options granted under 11896 Plan typically becor
exercisable beginning after one year of continuegbleyment, normally pursuant to a four or fiyear vesting schedt
beginning on the first anniversary of the grantedaind have a teyear contractual term. The 1996 Plan expired Feprid
2006, and expiration dates of options outstandirigegember 31, 2009 under the 1996 Plan range 2@i0 to 2016.

On January 23, 2006, the Board of Directors adofited2006 Employee Stock Incentive Plan (2006 Phajch authorize
13.0 million shares of common stock for issuanceddain employees and officers through incentieels options and non-
qualified stock options, stock appreciation rightsstricted stock and restricted stock units. Th862Plan was adopted
stockholder approval at our annual meeting of dtolders held on May 9, 2006. Options granted utliei2006 Plan typical
become exercisable beginning after one year ofimoa employment, normally pursuant to a fgeer vesting schedt
beginning on the first anniversary of the granedand have a teyear contractual term. Expiration dates of optiontstandin
at December 31, 2009 under the 2006 Plan range Zfi#6 to 2019.

Our stockholders approved the 2005 Directors Stopkon Plan (Directors Plan) on May 18, 2005, unaéich 0.4 millior
shares of common stock have been reserved. ThetbisePlan is a formula plan to provide optionsoto nonemploye:
directors. Options granted under the Directors Rlzimally become exercisable in full on the firshiaversary of the grant da
and have a tegear contractual term. We currently also have otioutstanding under the 1995 Directors Stock @g®ilan, a
amended, which expired October 31, 2005. Expiradiates of options outstanding under both planseagebber 31, 2009 rar
from 2010 to 2019.
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The following table is a summary of our stock opficoutstanding as of December 31, 2008 and 200%tendhanges th
occurred during 2009:

Weighted Avg.
Weighted Remaining
Number of Average Contractual Life Aggregate

(In thousands, except per share amoun Options  Exercise Price in Years Intrinsic Value
Options outstanding, December 31, 20C 6,82¢ $ 19.4: 57¢ $ 6,88¢

Options grante: 99€ $ 23.3¢

Options cancelled/forfeite (50) $ 23.31

Options exercise (856) $ 15.7¢
Options outstanding, December 31, 2009 6,91¢ $ 20.42 6.0 $ 25,71¢
Options exercisable, December 31, 2009 459 $ 20.1¢ 461 $ 20,67:

The following table further describes our stockioms outstanding as of December 31, 2009:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Options Weighted Avg. Weighted Options Weighted
Outstanding at Remaining Average Exercisable al Average
Range of 12/31/09 Contractual Life Exercise 12/31/09 Exercise

Exercise Prices (In thousands) in Years Price (In thousands) Price
$8.69- $10.65 89¢ 24C $ 10.1¢ 89¢ $  10.1¢
$10.66- $18.02 1,71¢ 56( $ 14.2¢ 1,026 $  13.6(
$18.03- $22.52 567 5,04 $§  21.8¢ 551 $ 21.9¢
$22.53- $30.04 3,221 7.8z $ 244 161 $  25.57
$30.05- $37.18 50¢ 381 $& 32.3i 506 $  32.3%

6,91¢€ 4,59¢

All of the options above were issued at exerciseeprthat approximate fair market value at the daigrant. At December 3
2009, 9.7 million options were available for granter the shareholder approved plans.

The aggregate intrinsic values in the table abepeesent the total pre-tax intrinsic value (thdéedénce between ADTRAN’
closing stock price on the last trading day of 2666 the exercise price, multiplied by the numbdendhe-money options) th
would have been received by the option holders dadption holders exercised their options on Delsen81, 2009. Tt
amount of aggregate intrinsic value will changeeolasn the fair market value of ADTRAN's stock.

The total preax intrinsic value of options exercised during 202008 and 2007 was $5.3 million, $3.7 million
$14.5 million, respectively. The fair value of apts fully vesting during 2009, 2008 and 2007 wad $illion, $7.4 millior
and $11.2 million, respectively.

Restricted Stock Program Descripti

On November 6, 2008, the Compensation CommittetnefBoard of Directors approved the PerformancereéshAgreemel
under the 2006 Plan which sets forth the termscamdlitions of awards of performanbased restricted stock units (RSUs)
the 13.0 million shares of common stock authorifmrdissuance under the 2006 Plan, ADTRAN may gtanto 5.0 millior
shares of common stock for issuance to certain @epk and officers for awards other than stoclkoaptiwhich would incluc
RSUs. Under a proposal approved by the Board oédbirs, which is subject to shareholder approvahat2010 annu
meeting, the number of shares available for awatdsr than stock options under all stock plans béllreduced to 3.3 millio
For the grants made in 2008 and 2009, the numbshafes of common stock earned by a recipient patsio the RSUs
subject to a market condition based on ADTRAN'stigk total shareholder return against a peer gaiupe end of a three-
year performance period. Depending on the reldtted shareholder return over the performance petlee recipient may ez
from 0% to 150% of the shares underlying the RSuith the shares earned distributed upon the vestiipe RSUs at the e
of the threeyear performance period. The fair value of the awsibased on the market price of our common stocthe dat
of grant, adjusted for the expected outcome ofithgact of market conditions using a Monte Carlo @ation valuatio
method. A portion of the granted RSUs also vestthrdinderlying shares become deliverable upoxéa¢h or disability of tt
recipient or upon a change of control of ADTRAN,defined by the 2006 Plan. The recipients of th&JR&ceive divider
credits based on the shares of common stock undgitige RSUs. The dividend credits are vested,eshamd distributed in tl
same manner as the RSUs. The Compensation Commitiaeed 26 thousand RSUs on November 7, 2009 awveriber €
2008, all of which remained outstanding at Decen®ier2009, with a fair value at the date of gran$26.65 and $17.05
unit, respectively, to certain executive officelss of December 31, 2009, there was approximately $ollion of tota
unamortized compensation cost related to the nstedeportion of this grant which will be recognized a straightine basi:
over the remainder of the three-year performanciege
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Valuation and Expense Information

ADTRAN uses the Black-Scholes option pricing mofdhck-Scholes Model) for the purpose of determining tstineated fai
value of stock option awards on the date of grahe BlackScholes Model requires the input of certain assionpttha
involve judgment. Because our stock options havaradteristics significantly different from those whded options, ai
because changes in the input assumptions can alptexffect the fair value estimate, existing madelay not provide reliak
measures of fair value of our stock options. ADTRAMNes the Monte Carlo Simulation valuation methodvalue it:
performancésased RSUs. We will continue to assess the assomspénd methodologies used to calculate the egtihiaf
value of stockbased compensation. If circumstances change, atitiomél data becomes available over time, we naang:
our assumptions and methodologies, which may nadleimpact our fair value determination.

The following table summarizes stobksed compensation expense related to stock op#ndsRSUs under the St
Compensation Topic of the FASB ASC for the yeardeginDecember 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, which wasgnized a

follows:
(In thousands) 2009 2008 2007
Stock-based compensation expense included in co$sales $ 26¢ $ 253 $ 26¢
Selling, general and administrative expe 3,03¢ 3,26: 3,49¢
Research and development expe 3,68( 3,822 4,052
Stock-based compensation expense included in opérag expenses 6,71¢ 7,08t 7,547
Total stock-based compensation expens 6,981 7,33¢ 7,81¢
Tax benefit for expense associated with-qualified options (634) (669) (680)
Total stock-based compensation expense, net of t $ 6,35¢ $ 6,66¢ $ 7,13

At December 31, 2009, total compensation cost edladb nonvested stock options and RSUs not yet recognizes
approximately $16.1 million, which is expected recognized over an average remaining recognitoiod of 2.9 years.

The stock option pricing model requires the useeaferal significant assumptions that impact the falue estimate. The
variables include, but are not limited to, the Wity of our stock price and employee exercise &gbrs. The assumptions ¢
variables used for the current period grants wenekbped based on guidance in the Stock Compensatipic of the FASI
ASC. There were no material changes made durin§ gDthe methodology used to determine our assomgti

The weightedaverage estimated fair value of stock options g@mbd employees and directors during the twelvethzoande
December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 was $8.11 pee,sbé96 per share and $8.76 per share, respgctivith the following
weighted-average assumptions:

2009 2008 2007
Expected volatility 41.86% 41.7(% 43.4%
Risk-free interest rat 2.2% 2.4%% 4.02%
Expected dividend yiel 1.55% 2.32% 1.56%
Expected life (in years 5.1C 4.97 4.9¢

We based our estimate of expected volatility far fi? months ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and @0QHe sequenti
historical daily trading data of our common stook & period equal to the expected life of the oxgtigranted. The selection
the historical volatility method was based on afgi data indicating our historical volatility is @&qually representative
ADTRAN' s future stock price trends as is implied volatilfve have no reason to believe the future vatgtilf our stock pric
is likely to differ from its past volatility.

The risk-free interest rate assumption is based upplied yields of U.S. Treasury zecoupon bonds on the date of g
having a remaining term equal to the expecteddif¢he options granted. The dividend yield is basedour historical ar
expected dividend payouts.

The expected life of our stock options is basednubistorical exercise and cancellation activityooir previous stockase!
grants with a ten-year contractual term.
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The RSU pricing model also requires the use ofredsignificant assumptions that impact the faiueaestimate. The estima
fair value of the RSUs granted to employees on Ntheax 7, 2009 and November 6, 2008 was $26.65 and$1respectivel
with the following assumptions:

2009 2008
Expected volatility 41.41% 38.61%
Risk-free interest rat 1.4(% 1.62%
Expected dividend yiel 1.52% 2.35%
Fair value of future dividend paymel $ 1.0¢€ $ 1.0¢€

Stockbased compensation expense recognized in our Goaeal Statements of Income for the 12 months eBbegmber 3.
2009, 2008 and 2007 is based on RSUs and optitinsately expected to vest, and has been reduceestonated forfeiture
Estimates for forfeiture rates are based upon higstioexperience and are evaluated quarterly. Weeetxour forfeiture rate f
stock option awards to be approximately 5% annuslilg estimated a 0% forfeiture rate for our RSUs tduthe limited numb
of recipients and lack of historical experiencetfase awards.

Note 3 — Investments

We classify our investments as availablegate. At December 31, 2009, we held the followieguwsities and investmer
recorded at either fair value or cost.

Gross Unrealized Fair Value /
(In thousands) Amortized Cost Gains Losses Carrying Value
Deferred compensation plan ass $ 290 $ 528 §$ B8 % 3,42¢
Corporate bonds (FDIC guarante: 20,127 287 — 20,41«
Municipal fixec-rate bond: 140,27¢ 1,00¢ 2 141,28!
Municipal variable rate demand no 84,35¢ — — 84,35¢
Fixed income bond fun 867 29¢€ — 1,16
Marketable equity securitie 9,80¢ 23,927 (197) 33,53¢
Available-for-sale securities held at fair value $ 258,34 $ 26,047 $ (207 $ 284,18(
Restricted investment held at cos 48,25(
Other investments held at cos 2,20¢
Total carrying value of available-for-sale
investments $ 334,63t

At December 31, 2008, we held the following sedesitind investments, recorded at either fair vatumst.

Gross Unrealized Fair Value /
(In thousands) Amortized Cost Gains Losses Carrying Value
Deferred compensation plan ass $ 3131 % — 3 (680) $ 2,451
Government agency secur 1,99¢ 4 — 1,99¢
Municipal fixec-rate bond: 115,79. 1,152 (@D} 116,94:
Municipal variable rate demand no 52,63 — — 52,63
Fixed income bond fun 1,27¢ — (395) 884
Marketable equity securitie 12,01« 1,74( (2,110 11,64«
Available-for-sale securities held at fair value $ 186,85( $ 2,89¢ $ (3,18¢ $ 186,56(
Restricted investment held at cost 48,75(
Other investments held at cos 2,20¢
Total carrying value of available-for-sale
investments $ 237,51t

At December 31, 2009 and 2008, we held $3.4 milkod $2.5 million, respectively, of deferred comgmtion plan asse
carried at fair value.
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At December 31, 2009, we held $20.4 million of aygie bonds issued by various banks that are gy the Fede
Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC). These bonds @dassified as available-feale and had an average duratio
2.19 years at December 31, 2009. All of these biwadisa credit rating of AAA at December 31, 2009.

At December 31, 2009 and 2008, we held $141.3onilind $116.9 million of municipal fixedite bonds. At December
2009, approximately 49% of our municipal fixeate bond portfolio had a credit rating of AAA, 43%d a credit rating of A,
and the remaining 6% had a credit rating of A. Bhiesnds are classified as availabledale investments and had an ave
duration of 1.04 years at December 31, 2009. Becausbond portfolio has a high quality rating @odtractual maturities of
short duration, we are able to obtain prices feséhbonds derived from observable market input®raimilar securities trad
in an active market, on a daily basis. As of Decen@i, 2009, municipal fixethte bonds had the following contrac
maturities:

(In thousands)

Less than one ye: $ 88,11(
One year to three yes 53,17¢
Total $ 141,28!

At December 31, 2009 and 2008, we held $84.4 miliad $52.6 million of municipal variable rate demanotes, all of whic
were classified as available-for-sale shertn investments. At December 31, 2009, 98% ofrounicipal variable rate dems
notes had a credit rating of VMIG-1 or A-1+ witrethemaining 2% rated A-and all contained put options of seven days. ;
despite the longerm nature of their stated contractual maturitigs, believe we have the ability to quickly liquidathes
securities. Our investments in these securitiegeserded at fair value, and the interest ratestregery seven days. We h
the ability to sell our variable rate demand natethe remarketing agent, tender agent or issugaratalue plus accrued intel
in the event we decide to liquidate our investmera particular variable rate demand note. Apprataty 22% of our variab
rate demand notes are supported by letters oftdredn banks that we believe to be in good finahctadition. The remainir
78% of our variable rate demand notes are supptestandby purchase agreements. As a result sétfaetors, we had

cumulative gross unrealized holding gains (loseegj)oss realized gains (losses) from these invastsn All income generat
from these investments was recorded as interestriac We have not been required to record any lasdatsng to municipi
variable rate demand notes or municipal auctioa satcurities, and we have held no municipal auat&e securities sin
February 7, 2008.

At December 31, 2009 and 2008, we held $1.2 milbow $0.9 million of a fixed income bond fund. Tiiisnd fund ha
unrealized gains of $0.3 million at December 3)2and unrealized losses of $0.4 million at Decartie 2008.

At December 31, 2009, we held $33.5 million of nedble equity securities, including a single seguof which we hel
2.1 million shares, carried at a fair value of #2aiillion. We sold 470 thousand shares of this ggcduring the 12 montt
ended December 31, 2009. The sales resulted ie@dsoof $1.7 million and a realized gain of $1.8iom. This single securit
traded approximately 395 thousand shares per d&0@9, in an active market on a European stock angd. This sing
security carried $21.7 million of the gross unreadi gains included in the fair value of our markktaequity securities
December 31, 2009. The remaining $2.2 million obsgr unrealized gains and $0.2 million of gross alimed losses

December 31, 2009 were spread amongst more thare@Ti8/ securities. At December 31, 2008, we held.& million o
marketable equity securities, including the sirsgeurity mentioned above, of which we held 2.5ioillshares, carried at a 1
value of $2.5 million. This single security carri&d.6 million of the gross unrealized gains incldide the fair value of o
marketable equity securities at December 31, 2008. remaining $0.1 million of unrealized gains &®i1 million of gros
unrealized losses at December 31, 2008 were spraadgst more than 350 equity securities.

At December 31, 2009 and 2008, we held a $48.3amiind $48.8 million, respectively, restrictedtifate of deposit, whic
is carried at cost. This investment serves as latechl deposit against the principal amount out$itey under loans made
ADTRAN pursuant to an Alabama State Industrial Depment Authority revenue bond (the Bond). At Debem31, 2009, tt
estimated fair value of the Bond was approxima$$.8 million, based on a debt security with a caraple interest rate a
maturity and a Standard & Poor’s credit rating of. AADTRAN has the right to setff the balance of the Bond with t
collateral deposit in order to reduce the balarfah® indebtedness. For more information on thed3@ee Note 6 of Notes
Consolidated Financial Statements.

At December 31, 2009 and 2008, we held $2.2 milibother investments carried at cost, consistinmterests in two priva
equity funds and an investment in a privately hedtcommunications equipment manufacturer. The ¥alue of thes
investments was estimated to be approximately $h@libn at December 31, 2009, based on unobsegvaiguts includin
information supplied by the company and the funchagers. We have committed to invest up to an agé¢eerf $7.9 million i
the two private equity funds, and we have contedu$7.9 million as of December 31, 2009, of whighddmillion has bee
applied toward these commitments. As of DecembeB@9 we have received distributions related as¢htwo private equi
funds of $6.3 million, of which $0.6 million wasaerded as a realized investment gain. These inesgsrare carried at cc
net of distributions, with distributions in excesfsour investment recorded as a realized investmaint The duration of each
these commitments is ten years with $0.2 milliopiexg in 2010 and $0.3 million expiring in 2012.éMave not been requil
to record any impairment losses related to thesestments during the years ended December 31, 2008, or 2007
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We review our investment portfolio for potentiattier-than-temporaryfieclines in value on an individual investment hadis
assess, on a quarterly basis, significant declinegalue which may be considered other-thamporary and, if necesse
recognize and record the appropriate charge t@watvn the carrying value of such investments. In imgkhis assessment,
take into consideration qualitative and quantitinformation, including but not limited to the lfmling: the magnitude al
duration of historical declines in market pricesgdit rating activity, assessments of liquidity,bpa filings, and statemer
made by the issuer. We generally begin our idestiibn of potential other-thatemporary impairments by reviewing ¢
security with a fair value that has declined framariginal or adjusted cost basis by 25% or moresix or more consecuti
months. We then evaluate the individual securityelaon the previously identified factors to detaerthe amount of the write-
down, if any. As a result of our review, we did metord any other-tharemporary impairment charge during the fourth cgr
of 2009. For each of the years ended December(®19,2008 and 2007 we recorded a charge of $2lbmi2.4 million an
$0.1 million, respectively, related to the othearthemporary impairment of certain publicly traded igsecurities, a fixe
income bond fund and deferred compensation assets.

Realized gains and losses on sales of securites@mputed under the specific identification meth®de following tabl
presents gross realized gains and losses relatad investments.

Year Ended December 31

(In thousands) 2009 2008 2007
Gross realized gair $ 1,97¢ $ 1,884 $ 1,07t
Gross realized loss: $ (3,279 % (4,299 % (577)

The following table presents the breakdown of itwests with unrealized losses at December 31, 2009.

Continuous Unrealized Continuous Unrealized
Loss Position for Less Loss Position for
than 12 Months 12 Months or Greater Total
Unrealized Unrealized Unrealized

(In thousands) Fair Value Losses Fair Value Losses Fair Value Losses
Deferred compensation plan ass  $ — 3 — 3 16C % 8 $ 16C $ (8)
Municipal fixec-rate bond: 1,481 2 — — 1,481 2
Marketable equity securitie 2,42¢ (92) 1,83¢ (10€) 4,26 (197)
Total $  3,90¢ $ 93) $ 1,99« $ (1149 $ 590 $ (207)

The decrease in unrealized losses during 200%flested in the table above, primarily occurred thughe improvements in t
credit markets and improved equity market cond#iokt December 31, 2009, a total of 145 of our ratakle equity securiti
were in an unrealized loss position.

The following table presents the breakdown of itwests with unrealized losses at December 31, 2008.

Continuous Unrealized Continuous Unrealized
Loss Position for Less Loss Position for
than 12 Months 12 Months or Greater Total
Unrealized Unrealized Unrealized

(In thousands) Fair Value Losses Fair Value Losses Fair Value Losses
Deferred compensation planass $ 2,43t $ (65¢) $ 22 $ 220 $ 2451 $ (680)
Municipal fixec-rate bond: 1,57 (1) — — 1,57 1)
Fixed income bond fun — — 884 (395) 884 (395)
Marketable equity securitie 5,62 (1,84%) 554 (262) 6,181 (2,110
Total $ 9,63t $ (250) $ 1,46C $ (679 $ 11,098 $ (3,186

The increase in unrealized losses during 2008efkscted in the table above, primarily occurredimgyithe fourth quarter
2008 due to the impact of strained credit markats deteriorating equity market conditions on thkig@af these investmen
At December 31, 2008, a total of 216 of our marlet&quity securities were in an unrealized lossitjum.
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In accordance with the Fair Value Measurements Bisglosures Topic of the FASB ASC, we have catematiour cas
equivalents held in money market funds and ourstments held at fair value into a thlegel fair value hierarchy based on
priority of the inputs to the valuation technique the cash equivalents and investments as follbegel 1 -Values based ¢
unadjusted quoted prices for identical assetsafiliies in an active market; Level 2 Malues based on quoted price:
markets that are not active or model inputs thatadaservable either directly or indirectly; Level3Values based on prices
valuation techniques that require inputs that arth lnnobservable and significant to the overall Y@alue measurement. Thi
inputs include information supplied by investees.

Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2009 Usil
Significant Other Significant

Quoted Prices in Active Observable Unobservable
Markets for Identical Inputs Inputs
(In thousands) Fair Value Assets (Level 1 (Level 2) (Level 3)
Cash equivalents
Money market fund $ 1837 $ 18,37C % — 3 —
Available-for-sale securities held at fai
value
Deferred compensation plan ass 3,42¢ 3,42¢ — —
Corporate bonds (FDIC guarante: 20,41 — 20,41 —
Municipal fixec-rate bond: 141,28! — 141,28! —
Municipal variable rate demand no 84,35¢ — 84,35¢ —
Fixed income bond fun 1,162 1,16 — —
Marketable equity securitie 33,53¢ 33,53t — —
Available-for-sale securities held at fair
value 284,18( 38,12: 246,05¢ —
Total $ 30255( $ 56,49: $ 246,05¢ $ =
Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2008 Using
Significant Other Significant
Quoted Prices in Active Observable Unobservable
Markets for Identical Inputs Inputs
(In thousands) Fair Value Assets (Level 1 (Level 2) (Level 3)
Cash equivalents
Money market fund $ 2538 $ 25,38¢ % —  $ —
Available-for-sale securities held at fai
value
Deferred compensation plan ass 2,457 2,457 — —
Government agency secur 1,99¢ — 1,99¢ —
Municipal fixec-rate bond: 116,94: — 116,94: —
Municipal variable rate demand no 52,63: — 52,63: —
Fixed income bond fun 884 884 —
Marketable equity securitie 11,64 11,64« — —
Available-for-sale securities held at fail
value 186,56( 14,98! 171,57! —
Total $ 21194 % 40,37  $ 171570  $ =

Note 4 — Inventory

At December 31, 2009 and 2008, inventory was casedrdf the following:

(In thousands) 2009 2008

Raw materials $  33,93( $ 32,59
Work in proces: 2,662 1,552
Finished good 16,83: 20,991
Inventory reservi (7,750 (7,72%)
Total $ 45,67« $ 47,40¢
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Note 5 — Property, Plant, and Equipment

At December 31, 2009 and 2008, property, plant,eandpment were comprised of the following:

(In thousands) 2009 2008

Land $ 4,26: $ 4,26:
Building and land improvemen 14,63¢ 13,50¢
Building 68,49t 68,49t
Furniture and fixture 15,74¢ 15,69(
Computer hardware and softwz 57,21¢ 55,12t
Engineering and other equipme 80,28¢ 74,86¢
Total Property, Plant, and Equipment 240,64¢ 231,94!
Less accumulated depreciati (166,340 (156,459
Total Property, Plant, and Equipment (net) $ 74,30¢ $ 75,48

Depreciation expense was $10.0 million, $9.9 millamd $10.7 million in 2009, 2008 and 2007, respelt
Note 6 — Alabama State Industrial Development Authoty Financing and Economic Incentives

In conjunction with an expansion of our Huntsvillklabama, facility, we were approved for participatin an incentiv
program offered by the State of Alabama Industbialvelopment Authority (the “Authority”)Pursuant to the program,
January 13, 1995, the Authority issued $20.0 mmillad its taxable revenue bonds and loaned the posc&om the sale of t
bonds to ADTRAN. The bonds were originally purcithby AmSouth Bank of Alabama, Birmingham, Alabartiee (“Bank”).
Wachovia Bank, N.A., Nashville, Tennessee (form&iilgt Union National Bank of Tennessee) (the “Buowider”), which wa:
acquired by Wells Fargo & Company on December 8082 purchased the original bonds from the Bank made furthe
advances to the Authority, bringing the total antoamtstanding to $50.0 million. An Amended and Resi Taxable Reven
Bond (“Amended and Restated Bondijas issued and the original financing agreement araended. The Amended
Restated Bond bears interest, payable monthly.iftkeest rate is 5%. The Amended and Restated Buatdres on January
2020. The estimated fair value of the bond at D81, 2009 was approximately $45.8 million, based debt security wi
a comparable interest rate and maturity and a &tdnfl Poors credit rating of A+. We are required to make pawta to th
Authority in amounts necessary to pay the princigfahnd interest on the Amended and Restated Boctlided in longternm
investments at December 31, 2009 is $48.3 millibictvis invested in a restricted certificate of d&iph These funds serve
collateral deposit against the principal of thismmépand ADTRAN has the right to seff the balance of the Bond with
collateral deposit in order to reduce the balarfad@ indebtedness. In conjunction with this prograve are eligible to recei
certain economic incentives from the state of Alabahat reduce the amount of payroll withholdingat twe are required
remit to the state for those employment positiomst tqualify under the program. We realized $1.3iomlin economi
incentives for the year ended December 31, 200%artimillion for each of the years ended Decen31e2008 and 2007.

Due to continued positive cash flow from operatagiivities, ADTRAN made a business decision to begin early partii
redemption of the bond as evidenced by a $0.5anilfirincipal payment in the fourth quarter of 208%0.2 million princip
payment in the third quarter of 2008, and a $0/aniprincipal payment in the third quarter of 200t is our intent to mal
annual principal payments in addition to the indé@mounts that are due. In connection with thigsiten, $0.5 million of th
bond debt has been reclassified to a current iigliil the Consolidated Balance Sheet at DecembgP309 and 2008.

Note 7 — Income Taxes

A summary of the components of the provision faoime taxes as of December 31, 2009, 2008 and 20#¥follows:

(In thousands) 2009 2008 2007
Current

Federal $  30,75¢ $ 37,24 $  38,95¢
State 3,61t 3,35( 3,27(
Total current 34,37 40,59t 42,22¢
Deferred tax benef (1,029 (903) (2,990
Total provision for income taxes $ 33,34 $ 39,69 $  39,23¢
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The effective income tax rate differs from the fedstatutory rate due to the following:

2009 2008 2007
Tax provision computed at the federal statutorg 35.0% 35.0(% 35.0(%
State income tax provision, net of federal ber 3.6¢ 2.9t 2.9t
Federal research cred (3.37) (1.86€) (1.69)
Tax-exempt incoms (1.05) (1.59) (2.4%)
State tax incentive (1.36) (1.15) (1.19)
Stocl-based compensatic 1.64 1.5¢ 1.71
Domestic production activity deductis (3.39) (1.62) (0.95)
Other, ne’ (0.27) 0.24 0.5(C
Effective tax rate 31.00% 33.5% 33.95%

Deferred income taxes on the balance sheet resuit femporary differences between the amount oétasand liabilitie
recognized for financial reporting and tax purpodé®e principal components of our current and norrent deferred taxes i

as follows:
(In thousands) 2009 2008
Current deferred tax asst
Accounts receivabl $ 46 $ 14
Inventory 4,682 4,65¢€
Accrued expense 3,87¢ 3,95¢
State tax and interest expel — 24
Total current deferred tax assets 8,60: 8,65:
Non-current deferred tax asst
Accrued expense 10z 55
Deferred compensatic 1,36¢ 1,24¢
Stocl-based compensatic 2,891 2,24¢
State tax and interest expel 1,00z 90C
Investment: — 2,22
Other — 107
Foreign loss and state credit ci-forwards 5,55¢ 1,581
Valuation allowanct (5,340 (1,587
Total non-current deferred tax assets 5,57¢ 6,77¢
Total deferred tax assets $ 14,18: $ 15,43:

2009 2008

Non-current deferred tax liabilitie

Accumulated depreciatic $ (3,809 % (2,859
Investment: (6,80%) —
Total non-current deferred tax liabilities $ (10619 $ (2,859
Net deferred tax assets $ 3,56¢ $ 12,57:

At December 31, 2009 and 2008, non-current defaaediabilities and norcurrent deferred tax assets, respectively, rele
investments reflect deferred taxes on unrealizadsgand losses on available-for-sale investment® fet change in non-
current deferred taxes associated with these imeds, a deferred tax provision of $9.8 million2609 and a deferred |
benefit of $2.9 million in 2008, is recorded as adjustment to other comprehensive income, presentéde Consolidate
Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity amoh@@ehensive Income.

We have foreign loss and state credit carry-forwastl$5.6 million which will expire between 2014da029. These carry-
forwards were caused by tax credits in excess ofaonual tax liabilities to an individual state wleave no longer gener:i
sufficient state income and net operating lossyefamwards acquired through the acquisition of a ifpmeentity. In accordan
with the Income Taxes Topic of the FASB ASC, weadad it is more likely than not that we will notateze the full benefits «
the deferred tax asset arising from these lossésadits, and accordingly, have provided a vatumatllowance against the
assets. We do not provide for U.S. income tax atigtributed earnings of our foreign operations, séearnings are intenc
to be permanently reinvested. For years ended Disee®1, 2009, 2008 and 2007, foreign profits befoceme taxes were r
material.

During 2009, 2008 and 2007, we recorded an incaxédeénefit of $1.5 million, $1.0 million and $4.4lkon, respectively, &
an adjustment to equity in accordance with the lS@ampensation Topic of the FASB ASC. This deduct®calculated on tl
difference between the exercise price of stockooptxercises and the market price of the underlgimgnmon stock upc
exercise. For the years ended December 31, 20@8 a0d 2007, approximately 62%, 64% and 52%, reéisede of the
income tax deduction related to disqualifying disiions of shares acquired upon exercise of ingergiock options and 38



36% and 48%, respectively, related to non-qualifieatk options.
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On January 1, 2007, ADTRAN adopted the revised arittitive guidance for income taxes, which requisesompany t
recognize the benefit of a tax position in its finel statements only if that position is “moreelik than not"of being sustaine
on an audit basis solely on the technical meritthaf position. The adoption of this guidance resulie a decrease
stockholders’equity of $1.2 million on January 1, 2007 for urrgoized tax expense, of which $0.5 million was teslatc
estimated interest and penalties. The change irutihecognized income tax benefits for 2009, 2008 2007 is reconcile

below:
2009 Gross 2008 Gross 2007 Gross
Unrecognizec  Unrecognizec  Unrecognizec
Income Tax Income Tax Income Tax
(In thousands) Benefit Benefit Benefit
Unrecognized income tax benefit as of January 1, 20, 2008 anc
2007, respectively $ 2,778 $ 2,64t $ 2,15
Increases for tax position related
Prior years 39C 15¢ 633
Current yea 61C 71¢ 411
Decreases for tax positions related
Prior years Q) (119 (50
Current yea — — —
Settlements with taxing authoriti (413 (49 (502
Expiration of applicable statute of limitatio (442) (579 —
Unrecognized income tax benefit as of December 32009, 2008 and
2007, respectively $ 2,91¢  $ 2,778 $ 2,64¢

As of December 31, 2009, 2008, and 2007, our t@hllity for unrecognized tax benefits was $2.9liomn, $2.8 million, an
$2.6 million, respectively, of which $2.3 millio§2.2 million, and $2.1 million, respectively, woulgduce our effective tax r:
if we were successful in upholding all of the unair positions and recognized the amounts recoidégclassify interest al
penalties recognized on the liability for unrecagu tax benefits as income tax expense. The baasfcaccrued interest a
penalties were $1.2 million as of December 31, 2809 2008, and $1.1 million as of December 31, 2007

We do not anticipate a single tax position genegaf significant increase or decrease in our ltgbfbr unrecognized te
benefits within 12 months of this reporting datee ¥We income tax returns in the U.S. federal andous state jurisdictions a
several foreign jurisdictions. We are currently endudit by the Internal Revenue Service for th@62@nd 2007 tax years ¢
have been audited by the State of Alabama throligl2®07 tax year. Generally, we are not subjechémges in income tar
by any taxing jurisdiction for the years prior t005.

Note 8 — Employee Benefit Plans
401(k) Savings Plan

We maintain the ADTRAN, Inc. 401(k) Retirement Pl@avings Plan) for the benefit of our eligible doyees. The Savin
Plan is intended to qualify under Sections 401¢a) 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986rasnded (Code), anc
intended to be a “safe harbo#01(k) plan under Code Section 401(k)(12). The &gviPlan allows employees to save
retirement by contributing part of their compensatio the plan on a tadeferred basis. The Savings Plan also requires
contribute a “safe harbor@mount each year. In 2007, we contributed an ameqgual to 3% of compensation for eligi
employees who had completed a year of service déetthl of the year. Beginning January 1, 2008, vemgéd our contributic
such that we matched up to 4% of employee contabsit(100% of an employeefirst 3% of contributions and 50% of tt
next 2% of contributions), beginning on the empkigeone year anniversary date. In calculating ourchiag contribution, w
only use compensation up to the statutory maximumtier the Code ($245 thousand for 2009). All contitns under tF
Savings Plan are 100% vested. Expenses recordetnfoloyer contributions and plan administrationteder the Savings Pl
amounted to approximately $4.2 million, $3.9 mitliand $3.1 million in 2009, 2008 and 2007, respebi
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Deferred Compensation Ple

We maintain the ADTRAN, Inc. Deferred Compensatielan (Deferred Compensation Plan). This plan iereff as

supplement to our tagualified 401(k) plan and is available to our masragnt and highly compensated employees who
been designated by our Board of Directors. Therdedecompensation plan allows participants to defleor a portion of certa
specified bonuses and up to 25% of remaining cashpensation, and permits us to make matching dartions on

discretionary basis, without the limitations thpply to the 401(k) plan. To date, we have not maue matching contributiol
under this plan. We have set aside the plan agsetsrabbi trust (Trust) and all contributions aredited to bookkeepil
accounts for the participants. The Trust assetsabgect to the claims of our creditors in the éwerbankruptcy or insolvenc
The assets of the Trust are deemed to be investguelapproved mutual funds as directed by each partitjpand th
participants bookkeeping account is credited with the earnarys losses attributable to those investments. Ndrke Trus
assets are invested in shares of ADTRAN commonkstBenefits are usually distributed six months mtErmination ¢
employment in a single lump sum cash payment. Wiwatt for the deferred compensation plan in accuréawith thi
Compensation Topic of the FASB ASC.

Assets of the Trust are deemed invested in mutwadd that cover an investment spectrum ranging feguities to mone
market instruments. These mutual funds are pubticigted and reported at fair value. We accounttese investments
accordance with the Investments in Debt and Edbégurities Topic of the FASB ASC. The fair valuetlod assets held by
Trust and the amounts payable to the plan partitspare as follows:

(In thousands) 2009 2008
Fair Value of Plan Assets

Shor-term Investment $ — $ —
Long-term Investment 3,424 2,451
Total Fair Value of Plan Assets $ 3,42¢ $ 2,457

Amounts Payable to Plan Participants

Current Liabilities $ — $ —
Non-current Liabilities 3,424 2,457
Total Amounts Payable to Plan Participants $ 3,42¢ $ 2,451

In accordance with the Compensation Topic of th&BMASC, changes in the fair value of the plan asiseld by the Trust ha
been included as other income in the accompanyi®@9 2and 2008 Consolidated Statements of Income iandthe
comprehensive income in the accompanying 2009 @98 Zonsolidated Balance Sheets. Changes in thesdhie of th
deferred compensation liability are included atirggl general and administrative expense in thempanying 2009, 2008 a
2007 Consolidated Statements of Income. Basedenlthnges in the total fair value of the TraistSsets, we recorded defe
compensation adjustments in 2009, 2008 and 2080.6fmillion, $(0.9) million and $0.3 million, resgtively.

Retiree Medical Coverac

We provide medical, dental and prescription drugecage to one retired former officer and his spptmehis life, on the san
terms as provided to our active officers, and ®tpouse of a former deceased officer for up tgez0ds. This liability totale
$0.2 million at December 31, 2009 and 2008.

Note 9 — Segment Information and Major Customers

ADTRAN operates two reportable segments: (1) theri€@aNetworks Division and (2) the Enterprise Netls Division. Th
accounting policies of the segments are the santbase described in theNature of Business and Summary of Signifi
Accounting Policies” ¢ee Note 1) to the extent that such policies affieetreported segment information. We evaluat
performance of our segments based on gross ptiodéitefore, selling, general and administrative espe as well as resea
and development expenses, interest income/expeasegalized investment gains/loss, other inconpsiage and provision 1
taxes are reported on an entity-wide basis onlgrd@lare no inter-segment revenues.

The following table presents information about teported sales and gross profit of our reportabtgrents for each of t
years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007. isahation by reportable segment is not reporsaace ADTRAN doe
not produce such information internally.

Sales and Gross Profit by Market Segment

2009 2008 2007
(In thousands) Sales Gross Profit Sales Gross Profit Sales Gross Profit
Carrier Networks $371,34¢ $ 219,68: $392,21¢ $ 236,16( $358,02 $ 212,81t
Enterprise Network 112,83t 67,28: 108,45’ 62,731 118,75! 70,16¢

$484,18" $ 286,96: $500,67¢ $ 298,90 $476,77¢ $ 282,98t
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Sales by Product
Our three major product categories are Carriere®yst Business Networking and Loop Access.

Carrier Systems products are used by communications service provitteprovide last mile access in support of datéce
and video services to consumers and enterprises. Gdrrier Systems category includes our broadbamesa produc
comprised of Total Acces55000 multi-service access and aggregation platfmoducts, Total Access 1100/1200 Series Fiber-
To-TheNode (FTTN) products, and Digital Subscriber LinecAss Multiplexer (DSLAM) products. Our broadbarutes
products are used by service providers to delivgi-bpeed Internet access, Voice over Internet ProidaP), IP Televisio
(IPTV), and/or Ethernet services from the centféite or remote terminal locations to customer piggrs. The Carrier Syste
category also includes our optical access prodiitisse products consist of optical access multgreincluding our family «
OPTI products. Optical access products are usatkliver higher bandwidth services, or to aggredatge numbers of lo
bandwidth services for transportation across filpgtic infrastructure. Total Access 1500 product3 8oncentrator produc
M13 multiplexer products, and mobile backhaul pidware also included in the Carrier Systems proctegory

Business Networkingproducts provide access to telecommunication sesyi@cilitating the delivery of converged servieeg
Unified Communications to the SMB and Enterpriserkats. The Business Networking category includasriretworking
products, Optical Network Terminals (ONTSs), andefitated Access Devices (IADs). Internetworking pigid consist of ol
Total Access IP Business Gateways and NetVantauptdéhes. NetVanta products include mudérvice routers, manag
Ethernet switches, IP Private Branch Exchange (RB&jlucts, IP phone products, Unified Communicatisolutions, ar
Carrier Ethernet Network Terminating Equipment.

Loop Accessproducts are used by carrier and enterprise custofoe access to coppbased telecommunications netwo
The Loop Access category includes products suctDagtal Data Service (DDS) and Integrated Servigagital Network
(Total Reach) products, High bite Digital Subscriber Line (HDSL) products indlugl Total Access 3000 HDSL and Ti
Division Multiplexed-Symmetrical HDSL (TDMBHDSL) products, T1/E1/T3, Channel Service UnitséD@&ervice Units, ar
TRACER fixed wireless products.

The table below presents sales information by prbdategory for the years ended December 31, Z¥8 and 2007:

(In thousands) 2009 2008 2007

Carrier System $ 215,71 $ 206,22 $ 179,76¢
Business Networkin 100,45: 89,57% 88,32¢
Loop Acces: 168,01¢ 204,87- 208,68(
Total $ 484,18! $ 500,67t $ 476,77

In addition, we identify sulcategories of product revenues, which we divide gtowth products, representing our prin
growth areas, and traditional products. Our groprdducts consist of Broadband Access and Opticakse products (includ
in Carrier Systems) and Internetworking produatsl(ided in Business Networking) and our traditiomaducts include HDS
products (included in Loop Access) and other pregluc

The table below presents subcategory revenuebdoydars ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007:

(In thousands) 2009 2008 2007
Growth Products
Broadband Access (included in Carrier Syste $ 111,47 $ 102,33 $ 83,95!
Optical Access (included in Carrier Systet 60,59¢ 53,84« 43,10¢
Internetworking (NetVant& & Multi- service Access Gateways) (incluc
in Business Networking 79,97¢ 65,79 53,38!
Total $ 252,04 $ 221,97 $ 180,44:
Traditional Products
HDSL (does not include T1) (included in Loop Acge 150,27t 179,81« 173,55(
Other products (excluding HDS 81,86¢ 98,89: 122,78
Total $ 232,14 $ 278,70t $ 296,33
Total $ 484,18! $ 500,67t $ 476,77
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Sales by Geographic Region

The following is sales information by geographiearfor the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008@@d. Internation
sales correlate to shipments with a non-U.S. datsbin.

(In thousands) 2009 2008 2007

United State: $ 456,40: $ 470,56 $ 437,15¢
International 27,78¢ 30,11 39,61¢
Total $ 484,18! $ 500,67¢ $ 476,77¢

Single customers comprising more than 10% of owemge in 2009 include AT&T Inc. at 22%, Qwest Conmication:
International, Inc. at 19%, and Verizon Communimadi, Inc. at 11%. Single customers comprising nmban 10% of ot
revenue in 2008 include AT&T Inc. at 24%, Qwest @aumications International, Inc. at 16%, Verizon Goumications, Inc.
12%, and Embarg Corporation (formerly Sprint Cogpimn) at 10%. Single customers comprising moren th@% of ou
revenue in 2007 included AT&T Inc. at 23%, Qwesir@aunications International, Inc. at 13%, Embarqp@aation at 12%
and Verizon Communications, Inc. at 12%. No othestemer accounted for 10% or more of our sale®©d922008 or 2007.

Sales to domestic incumbent local exchange car(leESCs) amounted to approximately 57%, 62% and 6@f%otal sale
during the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008@8d, respectively. In addition, a significant jpamtof our products a
sold directly to distributors and certain valagded resellers, which accounted for approxima®@is, 26% and 26% of ¢
revenue for each of the years ended December 89, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

As of December 31, 2009, loiged assets, net totaled $74.3 million, which udgs $73.9 million held in the United States
$0.4 million held outside the United States. AsDdcember 31, 2008, lorliyed assets, net, totaled $75.5 million, wt
includes $75.3 million held in the United Stated 0.2 million held outside the United States.

Note 10 — Commitments and Contingencies

In the ordinary course of business, we may be stiigevarious legal proceedings and claims, inclgdémployment dispute
patent claims, disputes over contract agreememtotoer commercial disputes. In some cases, clasrsmek damages or ot
relief, such as royalty payments related to patenmtsich, if granted, could require significant erpéures. Although tt
outcome of any claim or litigation can never betaier, it is our opinion that the outcome of all tingencies of which we a
currently aware will not materially affect our bnsss, operations, financial condition or cash flows

We lease office space and equipment under operkgasgs which expire at various dates through 28%3f December 3

2009, future minimum rental payments under ganeelable operating leases with original matwitiégreater than 12 mon
are approximately as follows:

(In thousands)

2010 $ 1,33¢
2011 664
2012 304
2013 18
Total $ 2,321

Rental expense was approximately $1.5 million fzteof the years ended December 31, 2009, 20020
Note 11 — Earnings Per Share

A summary of the calculation of basic and dilutednings per share (EPS) for the years ended Dece3itb009, 2008 al
2007 is as follows:

Year Ended
(In thousands, except for per share amoun 2009 2008 2007
Numerator
Net Income $ 74,22 $ 78,58 $ 76,33t
Denominator
Weighted average number of sha— basic 62,45¢ 63,54¢ 67,84¢
Effect of dilutive securitie— stock options 897 85¢ 1,36/
Weighted average number of she— diluted 63,35¢ 64,40¢ 69,212
Net income per sha— basic $ 1.1¢ $ 1.2¢ $ 1.1z
Net income per sha— diluted $ 1.17 $ 1.22 $ 1.1¢
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For each of the years ended December 31, 2009, 26682007, 3.5 million stock options were outstagdbut were ne
included in the computation of that year’s diluteldS because the optioretercise prices were greater than the average t
price of the common shares, therefore making thetirddutive under the treasury stock method.

Note 12 — Summarized Quarterly Financial Data (Unadited)

The following table presents unaudited quarterlgrafing results for each of our last eight fisaadudgers. This information h
been prepared on a basis consistent with our alfiitancial statements and includes all adjustmemssisting only of norm
recurring adjustments, considered necessary fair @fesentation of the data.

Unaudited Quarterly Operating Results

(In thousands, except for per share amounts)

Three Months Ended March 31, 200¢ June 30, 200 September 30, 20C December 31, 20C
Net sales $ 110,36: $ 121,52¢ $ 128,06: $ 124,23:
Gross profit $ 67,46( $ 71,69( $ 74,457 $ 73,35¢
Operating incom $ 22,90: $ 26,13t $ 28,95¢ $ 26,23¢
Net income $ 15,18 $ 18,83¢ $ 21,58: $ 18,61¢
Earnings per common shg $ 0.2¢ % 0.3C $ 03¢ % 0.3C
Earnings per common share assuming dilutior $ 0.2¢ % 0.3C $ 03¢ % 0.2¢
Three Months Ended March 31, 200¢ June 30, 200 September 30, 20C December 31, 20C
Net sales $ 119,88' $ 131,18 $ 137,19' $ 112,412
Gross profit $ 70,24( $ 79,39¢ $ 81,68: $ 67,58¢
Operating incom $ 25,14( $ 33,47( $ 33,67¢ $ 21,51:
Net income $ 17,047 $ 22,41« $ 22,41: % 16,70¢
Earnings per common she $ 0.2¢ $ 0.3t $ 03¢ $ 0.27
Earnings per common share assuming dilutior $ 0.2¢ $ 034 % 03t $ 0.27

(1) Assumes exercise of dilutive stock options cal@adatnder the treasury stock meth
Note 13 — Related Party Transactions

We employ the law firm of our director emeritus fegal services. All bills for services renderedthis firm are reviewed al
approved by our chief financial officer. We belietheat the fees for such services are reasonablecamparable to tho
charged by other firms for services rendered toWs.paid $0.1 million during each of the years eh@=cember 31, 20C
2008 and 2007 for these legal services.

Note 14 — Subsequent Events

On January 19, 2010, the Board declared a quarted dividend of $0.09 per common share to be fmagtockholders «
record at the close of business on February 4, 20h@ quarterly dividend payment was $5.6 milliomdavas paid c
February 18, 2010. In July 2003, our Board of Divex elected to begin declaring quarterly dividendsour common sto
considering the tax treatment of dividends and adeglevels of Company liquidity.

During the first quarter of 2010 and as of Februz6y 2010, ADTRAN repurchased 0.5 million sharedt®fcommon stoc
through open market purchases at an average co$2h62 per share and has the authority to repseclam addition
2.2 million shares under the plan approved by thar8 of Directors on April 14, 2008.

We have evaluated subsequent events through Fgt#6a2010, the date the financial statements vested.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACOUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE

None.
ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURE!

(a) Internal control over financial reportingSection 404 of the Sarban@sdey Act of 2002 requires management to incluc
this Annual Report on Form 10-K a report on manag@ia assessment of the effectiveness of our inteordta over financie
reporting, as well as a report from our independegistered public accounting firm on the effeatigss of internal control oy
financial reporting. Managemestteport on internal control over financial repagtiand the related report from our indepen
registered public accounting firm are located @mit8. “Financial Statements and Supplementary Dat#iis report.

(b) Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedur®sir chief executive officer and chief financialioér are responsible 1
establishing and maintaining “disclosure contrald procedures” (as defined in the Securities Exghakct of 1934 Rules 13a-
15(e) and 15d:5(e)) for the company. Our chief executive offiaad chief financial officer, after evaluating #igectiveness «
our disclosure controls and procedures as of tlte aérnthe period covered by this annual report, hewecluded that o
disclosure controls and procedures are effective.

(c) Changes in internal control over financial repodinThere were no changes in our internal control dwemcial reportin
that occurred during our most recent fiscal quédttat have materially affected, or are reasonakéfyl to materially affect, o
internal control over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
None.
PART llI

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNACE

Information relating to nominees for director of ARAN and compliance with Section 16(a) of the S#ims Exchange Act
1934 is set forth under the captions “Proposal €cidn of Directors,” Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Repor
Compliance” and “Corporate Governancegspectively, in the Proxy Statement for the AnrMdakting of Stockholders to
held on May 5, 2010. Such information is incorpedaherein by reference. The definitive Proxy Statietwill be filed with th
Securities and Exchange Commission no later thanda®s after December 31, 2009. Information refptim the executi
officers of ADTRAN, pursuant to Instruction 3 o&ih 401(b) of Regulation S-K and General Instruct®{) of Form 10K, is
set forth at Partl, Item 4A of this report undée tcaption “Executive Officers of the Registranthis information i
incorporated herein by reference.

Code of Ethics

We have adopted the ADTRAN, Inc. Code of Businessidiict and Ethics, which applies to all employeafficers ani
directors of ADTRAN. The Code of Business Conduad &thics meets the requirements of a “code otcsthis defined b
Item 406 of Regulation &; and applies to our Chief Executive Officer, Ghi@nancial Officer (who is both our princij
financial and principal accounting officer), as na$ all other employees, as indicated above. Toee@®f Business Condi
and Ethics also meets the requirements of a coderafuct under Nasdaq listing standards. The Cé@usiness Conduct a
Ethics is posted on our website at www.adtran.cowheu the links “Investor Relations — Corporate Goaemce —ADTRAN
Code of Business Conduct and Ethidd/g intend to disclose any amendments to the CodRusiness Conduct and Ethics
well as any waivers for executive officers or diogs, on our website at www.adtran.com.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Information required by this Item 11 relating toeeutive compensation and other matters is set fonidher the captiol
“Executive Compensation,” “Director Compensationida“Corporate Governanceh the Proxy Statement referred tc
Item 10. This information is incorporated hereinrbference.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS ANDMANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Information relating to ownership of common stodk ADTRAN by certain persons is set forth under taption ‘Shart
Ownership of Principal Stockholders and Managementfie Proxy Statement referred to in Item 10 ab&teh information
incorporated herein by reference. Information rdupay securities authorized for issuance under gquompensation plans
ADTRAN is set forth under the caption “Equity Comation Plan Informationih the Proxy Statement referred to in Item
This information is incorporated herein by referr
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ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS ANCDIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE
Information relating to existing or proposed redaships or transactions between ADTRAN and anyiat#i of ADTRAN is se
forth under the captions “Certain Relationships Redhted Transactions” and “Corporate Governamtehe Proxy Stateme
referred to in Item 10. This information is incorpted herein by reference.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

Information relating to ADTRAN'’s principal accoumtizs fees and services is set forth under the eap#rincipal Accountai
Fees and Services” in the Proxy Statement reféar@ultem 10. This information is incorporated éierby reference.

PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
Documents Filed as Part of This Report.
1. Consolidated Financial Stateme

The consolidated financial statements of ADTRAN #mglreport of independent registered public
accounting firm thereon are set forth under Paitéim 8 of this repor

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 200200¢
Consolidated Statements of Income for the yearseimecember 31, 2009, 2008 and 2

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockhol&&psity and Other Comprehensive Income for the
years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the yeradled December 31, 2009, 2008 and z
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statem
2. Consolidated Financial Statement Sche
Schedule I— Valuation and Qualifying Accoun
3. Exhibits
The following exhibits are filed with or incorpoedat by reference in this report. Where such filisgnade by incorporation
reference to a previously filed registration stataimor report, such registration statement or tejsadentified in parenthes:

We will furnish any exhibit upon request to: ADTRANhc., Attn: Investor Relations, P.O. Box 14001 Explore
Boulevard, Huntsville, Alabama 35806. There is argk of $0.50 per page to cover expenses for cgmyid mailing.
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Exhibit
Number Description

3.1 Certificate of Incorporation, as amended (Exhiblt ® ADTRAN’s Registration Statement on Form b, 33-
81062 (the*Form -1 Registration Stateme”)).

3.2 Bylaws, as amended (Exhibit 3.1 to ADTR’s Current Report on Forn-K filed October 16, 2007

10.1 Documents relative to the $50,000,000 Taxable Rex@&ond, Series 1995 (ADTRAN, Inc. Project) isshgdhe
Alabama State Industrial Development Authority, sisting of the following

(a) First Amended and Restated Financing Agreementdspel 25, 1997, among the State Industrial
Development Authority, a public corporation orgadainder the laws of the State of Alabama (the
“Authority”), ADTRAN and First Union National Ban&f Tennessee, a national banking corporation (the
“Bondholder”) (Exhibit 10.1(a) to ADTRAN'’s QuartgrReport on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended Marth 3
1997 (the"1997 Form 1-Q")).

(b) First Amended and Restated Loan Agreement dateill 25r1997, between the Authority and ADTRAN
(Exhibit 10.1(b) to the 1997 Form -Q).

(c) First Amended and Restated Specimen Taxable Re\&one, Series 1995 (ADTRAN, Inc. Project)
(Exhibit 10.1(c) to the 1997 Form -Q).

(d) First Amended and Restated Specimen Note from ADNR#Athe Bondholder, dated April 25, 1997
(Exhibit 10.1(d) to the 1997 Form -Q).

(e) Amended and Restated Investment Agreement datecda8, 2002 between ADTRAN and First Union
National Bank (success-in-interest to First Union National Bank of Tenses (the “Successor Bondholder”))
(Exhibit 10.1(e) to ADTRAN’s Annual Report on Fortf-K for the year ended December 31, 2002 (#6892
Form 1(-K")).

() Resolution of the Authority authorizing the amendinaf certain documents, dated April 25, 1997, the¢ato
the $50,000,000 Taxable Revenue Bond, Series TWOSRAN, Inc. Project) (Exhibit 10.1(f) to the 1997
Form 1(-Q).

(g) Resolution of ADTRAN authorizing the First Amendaod Restated Financing Agreement, the First Amended
and Restated Loan Agreement, the First Amendedrasthted Note, and the Investment Agreement
(Exhibit 10.1(g) to the 1997 Form -Q).

(h) Amendment to First Amended and Restated Financomg@ément and First Amended and Restated Loan
Agreement dated January 3, 2002 between ADTRANtl@a&uccessor Bondholder (Exhibit 10.1(h) to the
2002 Form 1-K).

10.z Tax Indemnification Agreement dated July 1, 1994hbyg among ADTRAN and the stockholders of ADTRAINbf
to ADTRAN's initial public offering of Common Stock (Exhildi0.5 to the 1994 Form -K).
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Exhibit
Number Description
10.2 Management Contracts and Compensation P
(a) Amended and Restated 1996 Employees Incentive 8ptikn Plan, as amended by the First, Second and
Third Amendments thereto (Exhibit 10.3(a) to th@26orm 1-K).
(b) Amended and Restated 1995 Directors Stock Optian,Rls amended by the First and Second Amendments
thereto (Exhibit 10.3(b) to the 2002 Forir-K).
(c) Third Amendment to the Amended and Restated 198&chirs Stock Option Plan (Exhibit 10.3(c) to
ADTRAN'’s Annual Report on Form -K for the year ended December 31, 2003 “2003 Form 1-K")).
(d) ADTRAN, Inc. Deferred Compensation Plan, as ameradetrestated as of January 1, 200
(e) ADTRAN, Inc. Management Incentive Bonus Plan (Eihil®.1 to ADTRAN'’s Form 8-K on February 3,
2006).
() ADTRAN, Inc. 2006 Employee Stock Incentive Plan ifibit 4.1 to ADTRAN'’s Registration Statement on
Form &8 (File No. 33-133927) filed on May 9, 2006
(g) First Amendment to the ADTRAN, Inc. 2006 Employdeck Incentive Plan (Exhibit 10.3(h) to ADTRAN's
Annual Report on Form -K for the year ended December 31, 2007 “2007 Form 1-K")).
(h) Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement under 2006 Employee Stock Incentive Plan (Exhibit 16.1
ADTRAN'’s Form K filed June 8, 2006
(i) Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement under2B886 Employee Stock Incentive Plan (Exhibit 10.2 to
ADTRAN'’s Form K filed June 8, 2006
() ADTRAN, Inc. 2005 Directors Stock Option Plan (Exiil0.1 to ADTRAN’s Form 8-K filed on May 20,
2005).
(k) First Amendment to the ADTRAN, Inc. 2005 Direct@®wck Option Plan (Exhibit 10.3(l) to the 2007
Form 1(-K).
()  Summary of Non-Employee Director Compensation (BitHi0.3(k) to ADTRAN's Form 10-K filed on
February 28, 2007
(m) Form of Performance Shares Agreement under the AAN;Rnc. 2006 Employee Stock Incentive Plan
(Exhibit 10.1 to ADTRANs Form &K filed on November 6, 2008
*21 Subsidiaries of ADTRAN
*23 Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers L
*24 Powers of Attorney
*31 Rule 13i-14(a)/15¢-14(a) Certifications
*32 Section 1350 Certification

* Filed herewitr
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 16fdhe Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Regidthas duly caused t
report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigtieereunto duly authorized on February 26, 2010.

ADTRAN, Inc.
(Registrant)

By: /s/ James E. Matthew:
James E. Matthew
Senior Vice President — Finance,
Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer, Secretary arig:Eiol
(Principal Accounting Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpthe following persor
on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacitid&cated on February 26, 2010.

Signature Title

/sl Thomas R. Stantc Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Bo
Thomas R. Stanta

/sl James E. Matthev Senior Vice Preside-Finance.

James E. Matthew Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer, Secretary aneat€ior
/s/ Balan Nair* Director

Balan Nair

/s/ William L. Marks* Director

William L. Marks

/s/ Ray J. Nichols® Director
Roy J. Nichols
/s/ H. Fenwick Huss Director

H. Fenwick Hus:

/s/ Ross K. Ireland Director
Ross K. Irelanc

*By: /s/ James E. Matthev
James E. Matthews as Attorney in F

72




Table of Contents

ADTRAN, INC.
SCHEDULE I
VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
Column A Column B Column C Column D Column E Column F
Balance at Assumed Charged to Balance at
Beginning on Costs & End of
(In thousands) of Period Acquisition Expenses Deductions Period

Year ended December 31, 2009

Allowance for Doubtful Account $ 38 3 102 5 $ 13€
Inventory Reserv $ 7,72¢ — 1,681 1,65¢ $ 7,75C
Warranty Liability $ 2,81: — 2,66¢ 2,644 $ 2,83:¢
Deferred Tax Asset Valuation

Allowance $ 1,581 3,54¢ 251 41 $ 5,34(
Year ended December 31, 2008
Allowance for Doubtful Account $ 10¢ — (18) 53 $ 38
Inventory Reserv $ 6,424 — 2,261 957 $ 7,72¢
Warranty Liability $ 2,94/ — 2,261 2,39¢ $ 2,812
Deferred Tax Asset Valuation

Allowance $ 1,23¢ — 34k& — $ 1,581
Year ended December 31, 2007
Allowance for Doubtful Account $ 21C — 10¢€ 20¢ $ 10¢
Inventory Reserv $ 7,04z — 93¢ 1,557 $ 6,424
Warranty Liability $ 3,04t — 1,822 1,92: $ 2,944
Deferred Tax Asset Valuation

Allowance $ 1,187 — 49 — $ 1,23¢
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Exhibit
Number

ADTRAN, INC.
INDEX OF EXHIBITS

Description

3.1

3.2

10.1

10.2

Certificate of Incorporation, as amended (Exhiblt ® ADTRAN's Registration Statement on Form b, 33-
81062 (the*Form -1 Registration Stateme”)).

Bylaws, as amended (Exhibit 3.1 to ADTR’s Current Report on Forn-K filed October 16, 2007

Documents relative to the $50,000,000 Taxable Rex@&ond, Series 1995 (ADTRAN, Inc. Project) isshgdhe
Alabama State Industrial Development Authority, sisting of the following

(@)

(b)

(©

()

()

(f)

(@)

(h)

First Amended and Restated Financing Agreementdspel 25, 1997, among the State Industrial
Development Authority, a public corporation orgadainder the laws of the State of Alabama (the
“Authority”), ADTRAN and First Union National Ban&f Tennessee, a national banking corporation (the
“Bondholder”) (Exhibit 10.1(a) to ADTRAN'’s QuartgrReport on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended Marth 3
1997 (the*1997 Form 1-Q")).

First Amended and Restated Loan Agreement dateill 25r1997, between the Authority and ADTRAN
(Exhibit 10.1(b) to the 1997 Form -Q).

First Amended and Restated Specimen Taxable Re\&ong, Series 1995 (ADTRAN, Inc. Project)
(Exhibit 10.1(c) to the 1997 Form -Q).

First Amended and Restated Specimen Note from ADNR#Athe Bondholder, dated April 25, 1997
(Exhibit 10.1(d) to the 1997 Form -Q).

Amended and Restated Investment Agreement dateddaB, 2002 between ADTRAN and First Union
National Bank (success-in-interest to First Union National Bank of Tenses (the “Successor Bondholder”))
(Exhibit 10.1(e) to ADTRAN’s Annual Report on Fortf-K for the year ended December 31, 2002 (#6892
Form 1(-K")).

Resolution of the Authority authorizing the amendin@f certain documents, dated April 25, 1997, the¢ato
the $50,000,000 Taxable Revenue Bond, Series JOSRAN, Inc. Project) (Exhibit 10.1(f) to the 1997
Form 1(-Q).

Resolution of ADTRAN authorizing the First Amendaod Restated Financing Agreement, the First Amended
and Restated Loan Agreement, the First Amendedrasthted Note, and the Investment Agreement
(Exhibit 10.1(g) to the 1997 Form -Q).

Amendment to First Amended and Restated Financorgément and First Amended and Restated Loan
Agreement dated January 3, 2002 between ADTRANtl@a&uccessor Bondholder (Exhibit 10.1(h) to the
2002 Form 1-K).

Tax Indemnification Agreement dated July 1, 1994hbyg among ADTRAN and the stockholders of ADTRAINbf
to ADTRAN's initial public offering of Common Stock (Exhildi0.5 to the 1994 Form -K).
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Exhibit
Number

Description

10.c

*21

*23

*24

*31

*32

Management Contracts and Compensation P

(@)

(b)

(©

©)
()

(f)

(@)

(h)

0

(k)

0

Amended and Restated 1996 Employees Incentive 8ptkn Plan, as amended by the First, Second and
Third Amendments thereto (Exhibit 10.3(a) to th@26orm 1-K).

Amended and Restated 1995 Directors Stock Optian,Ris amended by the First and Second Amendments
thereto (Exhibit 10.3(b) to the 2002 Forir-K).

Third Amendment to the Amended and Restated 198&cirs Stock Option Plan (Exhibit 10.3(c) to
ADTRAN'’s Annual Report on Form -K for the year ended December 31, 2003 “2003 Form 1-K")).

ADTRAN, Inc. Deferred Compensation Plan, as ameratetrestated as of January 1, 200

ADTRAN, Inc. Management Incentive Bonus Plan (Exhill®.1 to ADTRAN's Form 8-K on February 3,
2006).

ADTRAN, Inc. 2006 Employee Stock Incentive Plan(fibit 4.1 to ADTRAN'’s Registration Statement on
Form &8 (File No. 33-133927) filed on May 9, 2006

First Amendment to the ADTRAN Inc. 2006 Employeecktincentive Plan (Exhibit 10.3(h) to ADTRAN'’s
Annual Report on Form -K for the year ended December 31, 2007 “2007 Form 1-K")).

Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement under 2006 Employee Stock Incentive Plan (Exhibit 16.1
ADTRAN'’s Form K filed June 8, 2006

Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement under2i@6 Employee Stock Incentive Plan (Exhibit 10.2 to
ADTRAN'’s Form K filed June 8, 2006

ADTRAN, Inc. 2005 Directors Stock Option Plan (Esitil0.1 to ADTRAN’s Form 8-K filed on May 20,
2005).

First Amendment to the ADTRAN, Inc. 2005 Direct@tck Option Plan (Exhibit 10.3(l) to the 2007
Form 1(-K).

Summary of Non-Employee Director Compensation (kitHi0.3(k) to ADTRAN’s Form 10-K filed on
February 28, 2007

(m) Form of Performance Shares Agreement under the AAN;Rnc. 2006 Employee Stock Incentive Plan

(Exhibit 10.1 to ADTRANs Form &K filed on November 6, 2008

Subsidiaries of ADTRAN

Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers L

Powers of Attorney

Rule 13i-14(a)/15¢-14(a) Certifications

Section 1350 Certification

* Filed herewitr
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Exhibit 21
SUBSIDIARIES OF ADTRAN, INC.
December 31, 2009

Name of Subsidiary Country or State of Incorporation
ADTRAN Networks, Pty. Ltd Australia

ADTRAN Asia-Pacific, Inc. Delaware

ADTRAN Networks Hong Kong Limite: Hong Kong

ADTRAN Europe Limited United Kingdom

ADTRAN Canada, Inc Canads

ADTRAN Networks Canada, In Canads

ADTRAN Networks S.A. de C.V Mexico

ADTRAN Singapore Pte. Ltc Singapore



Exhibit 23

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTINGRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by referémt¢kee Registration Statements on Form S-8 (N83:1333927, 333:26734
333-66000, 333-41458, 333-78417, 333-30375, 333298334808) of ADTRAN, Inc. of our report dated Febru2g; 201(

relating to the financial statements, financiatesteent schedule and the effectiveness of inteatral over financial reportin
which appears in this Form 10-K.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers L
PricewaterhouseCoopers LI
Birmingham, Alabami
February 26, 201




Exhibit 24
POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that the undersigned constitutes and appoints ThdRaétanton and James
Matthews, and each of them, his true and lawfdratys-infact and agents, with full power of substitutioor him and in hi
name, place and stead, in any and all capacitesigh the Annual Report on Form KOef ADTRAN, Inc. for the fiscal ye:
ended December 31, 2009 and any and all amendrtteareto, and other documents in connection thenewiitd to file th
same, with all exhibits thereto and other documentnnection therewith, with the Securities angttange Commission a
the Nasdaq Global Select Market, Inc., grantingousaid attorneys-ifiact and agents, and each of them, full power
authority to do and perform each and every actthimdj requisite or necessary to be done, as fallgitintents and purposes
he might or could do in person, hereby ratifyingl @onfirming all that said attorneys-faet and agents or any of them, or t
or his substitute or substitutes, may lawfully daause to be done by virtue hereof.

This 26thday of February 2010.

/s/ Balan Nair
Balan Nair
Director

/s/ H. Fenwick Huss
H. Fenwick Huss
Director

/s/ William L. Marks
William L. Marks
Director

/s/ Roy J. Nichols
Roy J. Nichols
Director

/s Ross K. Ireland
Ross K. Ireland
Director




EXHIBIT 31
CERTIFICATIONS
I, Thomas R. Stanton, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 18flADTRAN, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorany untrue statement of a material fact or dmitate a materi
fact necessary to make the statements made, it difjthe circumstances under which such statemest® made, n
misleading with respect to the period covered liy tbport;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemamd,other financial information included in théport, fairly present
all material respects the financial condition, Hssof operations and cash flows of the registr@stof, and for, the perio
presented in this report;

4. The registrang other certifying officer(s) and | are responsite establishing and maintaining disclosure cdstemnc
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 18a}Hnd 15dt5(e)) and internal control over financial repagtifas define
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))tfar registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduwe caused such disclosure controls and procsdiaredt
designed under our supervision, to ensure thatriahiaformation relating to the registrant, incing its consolidate
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others withose entities, particularly during the period ihieh this report is beir
prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financegarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting t
be designed under our supervision, to provide mese assurance regarding the reliability of finaheporting and tt
preparation of financial statements for externappses in accordance with generally accepted aticguprinciples;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registeadtsclosure controls and procedures and presémtéails report oL
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disctosontrols and procedures, as of the end of thegeovered by th
report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thestgnts internal control over financial reporting thatomed durin
the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (thgisteants fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annupbm® that ha
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to srélly affect, the registrant’s internal contrafes financial reporting; and

5. The registran$ other certifying officer and | have disclosedsdxon our most recent evaluation of internal cdmtve!
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditoraldhe audit committee of the registrant’'s Boar@®wéctors:

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cbmiver financia
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversaffiect the registrand’ ability to record, process, summarize and r
financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that in@dvmanagement or other employees who have a samifrole il
the registrant’s internal control over financigbogting.

Date: February 26, 2010

/s/ Thomas R. Stantor
Thomas R. Stantol
Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Bo




I, James E. Matthews, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 18flADTRAN, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorany untrue statement of a material fact or dmitate a materi
fact necessary to make the statements made, it difjthe circumstances under which such statemest® made, n
misleading with respect to the period covered ligy tbport;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemeamd,other financial information included in théport, fairly present
all material respects the financial condition, Hssof operations and cash flows of the regist@stof, and for, the perio
presented in this report;

4. The registrang other certifying officer(s) and | are responsitde establishing and maintaining disclosure cdstemnc
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 18a}Hnd 15dt5(e)) and internal control over financial repagti@as define
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))tfar registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedwe caused such disclosure controls and procsdiaredt
designed under our supervision, to ensure thatriahiaformation relating to the registrant, incing its consolidate
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others withose entities, particularly during the period ihieh this report is beir
prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financegarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting t
be designed under our supervision, to provide rese assurance regarding the reliability of finaheporting and tt
preparation of financial statements for externappses in accordance with generally accepted aticguprinciples;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registeadtsclosure controls and procedures and presémtéails report oL
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disctosontrols and procedures, as of the end of thegeovered by th
report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thestgnts internal control over financial reporting thatomed durin
the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (thgisteants fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annupbm® that ha
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to srélly affect, the registrant’s internal contrafes financial reporting; and

5. The registran$ other certifying officer and | have disclosedsdxon our most recent evaluation of internal cdmtve!
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditoralahe audit committee of the registrant’s Boar@wéctors:

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cbmiver financia
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversaffiect the registrand’ ability to record, process, summarize and r
financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that in@dvmanagement or other employees who have a samifrole il
the registrant’s internal control over financigbogting.

Date: February 26, 2010

/s James E. Matthew:

James E. Matthew

Senior Vice President — Finance,
Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer,
Secretary and Directa




EXHIBIT 32

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of ADTRAN, In¢the “Company”) on Form 18- for the period ende
December 31, 2009 as filed with the Securities Brdhange Commission on the date hereof (the “R8®pdrtThomas F
Stanton, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman & Board of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18.0.8 1350, as adopt
pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2, to the best of my knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requiremeotsSection 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExaeAct of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report faipgesents, in all material respects, the finanadeldition and results
operations of the Company.

/s/ Thomas R. Stantc
Thomas R. Stanto

Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Bc
Date: February 26, 2010




CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of ADTRAN, In¢the “Company”) on Form 18- for the period ende
December 31, 2009 as filed with the Securities Brdhange Commission on the date hereof (the “R&pdrt James E
Matthews, Senior Vice President Finance and Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer,r8@ey and Director of the Compa
certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adoptadyant to § 906 of the Sarbar@sley Act of 2002, that, to the best of
knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requiremeotsSection 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExaeAct of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report faipgesents, in all material respects, the finanadeldition and results
operations of the Company.

/sl James E. Matthev

James E. Matthew

Senior Vice Presidel— Finance
Chief Financial Officer, Treasure
Secretary and Directt

Date: February 26, 201




